## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

3-7-2017 12:00 AM

## Rapid Regulatory and Effector Immune Responses in Toxic Shock Syndrome

Peter Anthony Szabo The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. S. M. Mansour Haeryfar *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Microbiology and Immunology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Peter Anthony Szabo 2017

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Immunology of Infectious Disease Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Szabo, Peter Anthony, "Rapid Regulatory and Effector Immune Responses in Toxic Shock Syndrome" (2017). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4450. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4450

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract

Toxic shock syndrome (TSS) is an acute, potentially fatal condition characterized by high-grade fever, hypotensive shock and systemic inflammation. It is caused by exposure to staphylococcal and streptococcal superantigens (SAgs), which can activate up to 50% of T cells resulting in a hyperinflammatory 'cytokine storm' within hours. This inflammatory cascade progresses to a life-threatening illness with alarming rapidity, and SAg-exposed individuals can develop multi-organ failure within hours of onset of symptoms. However, there are currently no available treatments that efficiently mitigate the cytokine storm, which drives TSS immunopathology. Therefore, identifying and understanding the critical components underlying this process should hold the key to designing effective therapeutics to reduce TSS severity. In this thesis, I have utilized a clinically relevant humanized HLA-DR4 transgenic (DR4tg) mouse model of TSS to reveal the previously unrecognized roles of three rapid host responses in the initiation or control of the cytokine storm. First, genetic and antibody-mediated depletion of invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells in DR4tg mice show that iNKT cells are pathogenic in TSS and contribute to the cytokine storm. Targeting iNKT cell responses with the T helper type-2 (Th2)-polarizing glycolipid agonist OCH also reduces TSS morbidity and mortality. Second, I found that granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are rapidly recruited to the liver of DR4tg mice during TSS. These hepatic MDSCs potently suppress SAg-induced T cell responses and may therefore mitigate tissue injury in TSS. Lastly, I define the rapid production of interleukin-17A (IL-17A) by effector memory T cells as a novel mechanism promoting immunopathology in TSS. Blockade of IL-17A signaling in human blood mononuclear cells reduces the expression of multiple

inflammatory mediators of TSS, suggesting that IL-17A contributes to the cytokine storm. Importantly, the treatment of DR4tg mice with an IL-17A-neutralizing antibody attenuates TSS-induced tissue damage, morbidity and mortality. Collectively, the results presented in this thesis delineate the novel contributions of *i*NKT cells, MDSCs and IL-17A to the early phase of TSS pathogenesis. Furthermore, my findings suggest that therapeutic approaches targeting *i*NKT cells or IL-17A responses may be effective in reducing TSS mortality.

## Keywords

Toxic shock syndrome, superantigen, cytokine storm, invariant natural killer T cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, interleukin-17A, effector memory T cells, transgenic mice.

## **Co-Authorship Statement**

The investigations presented in this thesis were predominantly carried out by Peter Szabo under the supervision of Dr. S. M. Mansour Haeryfar. Details regarding authorship contributions are listed below:

## Chapter 1: Szabo, P. A.\*, Anantha, R. V.\*, Shaler, C. R., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2015. CD1d- and MR1-Restricted T Cells in Sepsis. *Front. Immunol.* 6: 401.

Szabo P. wrote a first draft of sections relating to *i*NKT cells (a version of which appears in Chapter 1) and animal models of sepsis. Anantha, R., listed as co-primary author, wrote a first draft of sections relating to sepsis. Shaler, C., wrote a draft of sections relating to mucosa-associated invariant T cells. Haeryfar, S.M.M. wrote the final version of the manuscript text.

# Chapter 3: Szabo, P. A., Rudak, P. T., Choi, J., Xu, S. X., Schaub, R., Singh, B., McCormick, J. K., Haeryfar, S. M. M. 2016. Invariant NKT Cells are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted To Reduce Morbidity. *J. Infect. Dis.* Ahead of print.

Szabo, P. designed and performed experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. Rudak, P., Choi, J., and Xu, S. aided in performing experiments. Schaub, R. provided the NKT14 reagent. Singh, B., and McCormick, J. provided intellectual and material support. Haeryfar, S.M.M. conceived the project, supervised all aspects of research and wrote the final version of the manuscript text.

Chapter 4: Szabo, P. A.\*, Goswami, A.\*, Memarnejadian, A., Mallett C. L., Foster P. J., McCormick J. K., and Haeryfar S.M.M. 2016. Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* 213: 1990-1995.

Szabo, P. designed and performed experiments, analyzed data and prepared the manuscript. Goswami, A., who is listed as a co-primary author on this manuscript, aided in experimental design, performed experiments and analyzed data. Memarnejadian, A. and Mallett, C. aided in performing experiments. Foster, P. provided intellectual and material support. Haeryfar, S.M.M. conceived the project, supervised all aspects of research and wrote the final version of the manuscript text.

Chapter 5: Szabo P. A., Goswami A., Mazzuca D. M., Kim K., O'Gorman D. B., Hess D. A., Welch I. D., Young H. A., Singh B., McCormick J. K., Haeryfar S. M. M. 2017. Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrome Immunopathology. *J. Immunol.* 198: 2805-2818.

Szabo, P. designed and performed experiments, analyzed data and wrote the manuscript.

Goswami, A., Mazzuca, D., and Kim, K. aided in performing experiments. Hess, D. provided material and intellectual support. Welch, I., performed histological scoring. Young, H. provided intellectual support. Singh, B., and McCormick, J. provided intellectual and/or material support. Haeryfar, S.M.M. conceived the project, supervised all aspects of research and edited the manuscript text for its final submission.

### Acknowledgments

With sincere thanks to my supervisor and mentor Dr. S. M. Mansour Haeryfar, whose unending support and guidance made this work possible. I credit his tremendous insight and motivation for igniting my passion for research and the stimulating training environment fostered in his lab for the countless techniques and skills I have learned throughout my studies.

I would also like to thank my advisory committee, Drs. John McCormick and Bhagi Singh for their continued intellectual and material support throughout my research and for feedback on the writing of the manuscripts. A special thanks to Dr. John McCormick for his critical feedback on the writing of this thesis.

I am extremely grateful for all the current and past members of the Haeryfar lab, whose friendship and assistance was instrumental in the completion of this work. I am also indebted to Delfina and Jin for their advice and patience in guiding me through the technical aspects of research at the beginning of this endeavor.

Finally, a special thank you to both my father and my partner, Steph, for their unwavering support and encouragement.

Abstract	i
Keywords	iii
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Acknowledgments	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
List of Abbreviations	XV
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
1.1 Preamble	2
1.2 Toxic Shock Syndrome	4
1.2.1 Epidemiology	6
1.2.2 Streptococcal TSS	7
1.2.3 Therapeutic Strategies	7
1.2.4 Superantigens	9
1.2.5 Superantigen Structure and Binding Properties	
1.2.6 Superantigen-mediated T cell activation	
1.2.7 Cytokine Storm	14
1.2.8 SAg-Induced Immunosuppression	
1.2.9 Animal Models of TSS	
1.3 Invariant Natural Killer T Cells	
1.3.1 Modes of Activation	
1.3.2 Effector Functions	

## Table of Contents

1.3.3 Experimental Models to Study <i>i</i> NKT Cell Functions
1.4 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells
1.4.1 Definition
1.4.2 Mechanisms of Immunosuppression
1.4.3 Origin, Expansion and Functions
1.5 Interleukin-17A
1.5.1 The IL-17 Family
1.5.2 Sources of IL-17A 46
1.5.3 Signaling Pathway
1.5.4 Inflammation
1.6 References
Chapter 2
Rationale and Specific Aims
2.1 Rationale
2.2 Specific Aims
2.2.1 Aim 1: To delineate the role of invariant natural killer T cells in TSS immunopathogenesis
2.2.2 Aim 2: To determine the identity and function of a suddenly prominent population of hepatic myeloid cells in a humanized mouse model of TSS 96
2.2.3 Aim 3: To define the contribution of interleukin-17 to TSS immunopathology
2.3 References
Chapter 3
Invariant NKT Cells are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted to Reduce Morbidity
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Ethics	
3.2.2 Mice	
3.2.3 Immunophenotyping	
3.2.4 <i>i</i> NKT cell depletion	
3.2.5 TSS induction and treatment	
3.2.6 Statistical analysis	
3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.4 References	
Chapter 4	
Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Supprin a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome	essor Cells
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and Methods	
4.2.1 Ethics	
4.2.2 Animals	
4.2.3 Mouse model of TSS	
4.2.3 Cytofluorimetric analyses	
4.2.4 In vitro generation of mouse BMDCs	
4.2.5 In vitro generation of human MDSCs	
4.2.6 T cell suppression assays	
4.2.7 Statistical analysis	
4.3 Results and Discussion	
4.4 References	
Chapter 5	

Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrom Immunopathology	or ie . 143
5.1 Introduction	. 144
5.2 Materials and Methods	. 147
5.2.1 Mice	. 147
5.2.2 Generation of bone marrow chimeras	. 149
5.2.3 Bacterial toxins	. 149
5.2.4 TSS mouse model and <i>in vivo</i> IL-17A neutralization	. 149
5.2.5 Human PBMC isolation and stimulation with SAgs	. 150
5.2.6 Human PBMC-dermal fibroblast co-culture	. 152
5.2.7 Isolation and cytofluorimetric analyses of mouse cells	. 153
5.2.8 Surface and intracellular staining of human cells and RNA flow cytometry.	. 154
5.2.9 Statistical analyses	. 156
5.3 Results	. 157
5.3.1 IL-17A is rapidly produced by $CD4^+$ T <sub>EM</sub> cells in a humanized mouse mode of TSS	el . 157
5.3.2 SAgs induce a rapid IL-17A response by human PBMCs in vitro	. 164
5.3.3 SAg-exposed human CD4 <sup>+</sup> $T_{EM}$ cells are rapid and potent producers of IL 17A	 . 168
5.3.4 IL-17RA blockade reduces inflammatory gene expression in SEB-expose human PBMCs and secondarily activated dermal fibroblasts	d . 172
5.3.5 IL-17A is pathogenic in an <i>in vivo</i> model of TSS	. 179
5.4 Discussion	. 183
5.5 References	. 191
Chapter 6	. 200
General Discussion and Conclusions	. 200

6.1 Discussion	201
6.1.1 <i>i</i> NKT cells are pathogenic in TSS	201
6.1.2 MDSCs rapidly accumulate in the liver during TSS	204
6.1.3 IL-17A is pathogenic in TSS	206
6.2 Conclusions and Implications For Future Studies	209
6.3 References	212
Appendices	216
Appendix A: Copyright approval	216
Appendix B: Human Ethics Approval	220
Appendix C: Animal Ethics Approval	221

## List of Tables

Table 1.1: Clinical criteria for toxic shock syndrome
Table 1.2: Common animal models of TSS    20
Table 3.1: PCR probes/primers used for genotyping and gene expression 104
Table 3.2: Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies/tetramers used for <i>i</i> NKT cell studies. 106
Table 4.1: Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies used for MDSC studies    127
Table 5.1: PCR primers/probes used in IL-17A studies. *Primer was designed to span the insertion site of the HLA-DR4 transgenes in the mouse genome, thus enabling discrimination between homozygous and heterozygous transgenic mice
Table 5.2: Antibodies/tetramers used in IL-17A studies    155
Table 5.3: Fold changes in gene expression of SEB-stimulated human PBMCs relative to medium control.      176

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1: SAgs bypass conventional modes of antigen processing and presentation to activate a larger number of T cells
Figure 3.1: Genetic or antibody-mediated depletion of <i>i</i> NKT cells reduces morbidity and mortality in SEB-injected DR4tg mice
Figure 3.2: DJ mice lack <i>i</i> NKT cells but harbor other major immune cell subsets 111
Figure 3.3: TSS mortality is reduced in two separate models of <i>i</i> NKT cell deficiency. 114
Figure 3.4: <i>i</i> NKT cells are required for rapid inflammatory mediator production during TSS and their $T_H2$ -polarization reduces TSS severity
Figure 3.5: SEB-injected DJ mice exhibit a mild cytokine storm 117
Figure 4.1: CD11b <sup>+</sup> Gr-1 <sup>high</sup> Ly-6C <sup>+</sup> cells amass in the liver of DR4tg mice shortly after SEB injection. 132
Figure 4.2: G-MDSCs accumulate selectively in the liver following systemic exposure to SEB
Figure 4.3: Systemic exposure to SEB results in intrahepatic accumulation of CD11b <sup>+</sup> cells that concomitantly express Gr-1, Ly-6G and Ly-6C
Figure 4.4: Hepatic CD11b <sup>+</sup> Gr-1 <sup>high</sup> cells from SEB-treated DR4tg mice exhibit a ring- shaped nucleus
Figure 4.5: Mouse and human MDSCs suppress SEB-induced T cell proliferation 138
Figure 4.6: SEB administration does not elevate Ki-67 expression by CD11b <sup>+</sup> Gr-1 <sup>high</sup> cells in the liver but lowers their frequency in the bone marrow
Figure 5.1: Rapid IL-17A production by $CD4^+ T_{EM}$ cells in a humanized mouse model of TSS
Figure 5.2: SEB-primed D17 mice launch a rapid IL-17A response and harbor an enriched population of IL-17A-producing CD4+ $T_{EM}$ cells in their small intestine 163
Figure 5.3: SAgs induce rapid IL-17A synthesis by human PBMCs
Figure 5.4: CD4 <sup>+</sup> $T_{EM}$ cells are the major source of IL-17A in SAg-stimulated human PBMCs
Figure 5.5: SAg-stimulated IL-17A- and IFNγ-producing cells are two distinct populations

## List of Abbreviations

αGC	α-galactosylceramide
act-D	actinomycin-D
APC	antigen-presenting cell
Bcl2	B cell lymphoma 2
CARS	compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome
CCAC	Canadian Council on Animal Care
CDR	complementarity determining region
CEBP	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein
CFSE	carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
COX2	cyclooxygenase 2
D-gal	D-galactosamine
DC	dendritic cell
EGR2	early growth response 2
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FMO	fluorescence minus one
G-CSF	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GFP	green fluorescent protein
G-MDSC	granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cell
GAS	group A streptococcus
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor
H&E	haematoxylin and eosin
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IEL	intraepithelial lymphocyte

IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
IMC	immature myeloid cell
<i>i</i> NKT	invariant natural killer T
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
IVIG	intravenous immunoglobulin
i.p.	intraperitoneal
<i>i.v.</i>	intravenous
JAK-STAT	Janus kinase-signal transducers and activators of transcription
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
mAb	monoclonal antibody
M-CSF	macrophage-colony stimulating factor
M-MDSC	monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cell
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MDSC	myeloid-derived suppressor cells
MFI	mean fluorescence intensity
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MIP-2	macrophage inflammatory protein-2
NF-AT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NKT	natural killer T cells
NO	nitric oxide

PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PLC	phospholipase C
PLZF	promyelocytic leukaemia zinc finger protein
qPCR	quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
R	receptor
ROR	retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RPL13a	ribosomal protein L13a
SAg	superantigen
SE	staphylococcal enterotoxin
SEFIR	SEF/IL-17R
SEL	staphylococcal enterotoxin-like
SMEZ	streptococcal mitogenic exotoxin Z
SPE	streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin
STSS	streptococcal toxic shock syndrome
ТВР	TATA-binding protein
TCR	T cell receptor
T <sub>EM</sub>	T effector memory
Th1/2/17	T helper type-1/2/17
TIM3	T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing-3
TIR	Toll/IL-1R
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor

- TRAF tumor necrosis factor receptor associated factor
- TRAIL tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
- Treg T regulatory
- TSS toxic shock syndrome
- TSST-1 toxic shock syndrome toxin-1
- *v*NKT variant natural killer T
- WT wildtype

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Parts of this chapter have been adapted and published in:

Szabo, P. A., Anantha, R. V., Shaler, C. R., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2015. CD1d- and MR1-Restricted T Cells in Sepsis. *Front. Immunol.* **6**: 401.

Copyright Creative Commons 2015.

#### 1.1 Preamble

The immune system is an extraordinary protective entity capable of mounting rapid and effective responses against virtually every type of pathogenic microorganism that we encounter on a daily basis. Through an elaborate network of physical barriers, antimicrobial molecules, and a myriad of cell types (*e.g.*, neutrophils, natural killer cells, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells, basophils and eosinophils), the innate arm of the immune system provides a non-specific front-line defense against foreign invaders. Innate immune cells also help shape the nature of the highly specific adaptive arm of immunity, where T and B cell responses to antigens from virtually all encountered pathogens work together to limit or outright eliminate infection. This process then gives rise to immunological memory, which promotes an immune response that is both more rapid and greater in magnitude to pathogens that have been encountered previously.

Not to be outdone, pathogenic microbes engage in an evolutionary 'arms race' with the host immune system, developing sophisticated tactics for immune evasion to survive. Through numerous virulence factors, pathogens exploit opportunities to bypass immune defenses and colonize host tissues. The most successful of these pathogenic microbes are typically known to be common causes of devastating disease in humans. The Grampositive coccus, *Staphylococcus aureus*, is among these pathogens and is currently the most common cause of skin and soft-tissue infections worldwide (1). Interestingly, around 20% of the human population appears to be persistently colonized by *S. aureus* with another 30% being intermittent carriers (2). Most often, *S. aureus* carriage is asymptomatic and considered 'harmless'. However, when afforded the opportunity, *S.* 

*aureus* causes severe, invasive and life-threatening infections including osteomyelitis, endocarditis, pneumonia, enterocolitis, sepsis and toxic shock syndrome (TSS) (3).

One family of virulence factors, the staphylococcal superantigens (SAgs), is known to be the direct causative agent of TSS (4). These potent exotoxins trigger the hyperactivation of the immune system resulting in an avalanche of inflammatory mediators that cause intense fever, hypotensive shock and organ damage. In essence, SAgs 'short-circuit' the immune system, amplifying the immune response to the point of catastrophic collateral damage to the host. Alarmingly, this process can progress to life-threatening disease extremely rapidly, whereby multi-organ failure can occur in as little as 8-12 hours after the onset of symptoms (5) and mortality rates can range as high as one-in-five (6).

Despite the high levels of morbidity and mortality in TSS, there is currently no treatment for the overwhelming inflammation induced by SAgs. Identifying the underlying immunological mechanisms that regulate or drive TSS pathogenesis may hold the key to developing therapeutics to reduce disease severity. Here, I identify and define the role of three previously unrecognized processes mediating TSS immunopathogenesis in its most early phases.

#### 1.2 Toxic Shock Syndrome

A syndrome of disorientation, high fever, and scarlatiniform rash with rapid progression to hypotensive shock and multi-organ dysfunction was first formally associated with *Staphyloccoccus aureus* infection in 1978 (7). It was then that Todd and colleagues coined the term 'toxic shock syndrome'. In the early 1980s, TSS rose to public consciousness following an outbreak in young females that was related to the usage of high absorbency tampons (8-10). Several cases in men and non-menstruating women were also reported during this time. A bacterial toxin from vaginal isolates of *Staphyloccoccus* in TSS patients was identified as the cause of TSS (11, 12). These toxins were later dubbed 'superantigens' due their ability to abnormally stimulate a large fraction of T cells (13). As a result, SAgs trigger a massive inflammatory response leading to the clinical symptoms of TSS (**Table 1.1**).

Cases of TSS are typically defined as either menstrual (14) or nonmenstrual (15) in origin. Menstrual TSS occurs within the first few days before or after the beginning of a woman's menstrual cycle and is strongly associated with tampon usage due, at least in part, to increases in oxygen levels in the normally anaerobic vaginal environment (16, 17). In the vast majority of menstrual TSS cases, vaginal colonization of *S. aureus* can be readily detected (18). Nearly all cases of this form of TSS are caused by *S. aureus* strains that produce the SAg toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1) (11, 12). Although the exact reason for this association is unclear, it has been proposed that it may be a result of the greater ability of TSST-1 to infiltrate mucosal surfaces compared to other SAgs (19, 20). A large proportion of mucosal *S. aureus* strains also more commonly produce TSST-1 relative to other SAgs, which may partly explain the association as well (21).

Clinical Criteria
1. Fever: temperature $\geq$ 38.9°C (102.0°F)
2. Rash: diffuse macular erythroderma
3. Desquamation: 1-2 weeks after onset of rash
4. Hypotension: systolic blood pressure $\geq 90$ mm Hg for adults or less than fifth percentile by age for children aged less than 16 years
5. Multisystem involvement (three or more of the following organ systems):
Gastrointestinal: vomiting or diarrhea at onset of illness
<ul> <li>Muscular: severe myalgia or creatine phosphokinase level at least twice the upper limit of normal</li> </ul>
Mucous membrane: vaginal, oropharyngeal, or conjunctival hyperemia
• Renal: blood urea nitrogen or creatinine at least twice the upper limit of normal for laboratory or urinary sediment with pyuria (greater than or equal to 5 leukocytes per high-power field) in the absence of urinary tract infection
• Hepatic: total bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) enzyme, or aspartate aminotransferase (AST) enzyme levels at least twice the upper limit of normal for laboratory
• Hematologic: platelets less than 100,000/mm <sup>3</sup>
• Central nervous system: disorientation or alterations in consciousness without focal neurologic signs when fever and hypotension are absent
Microbiological Laboratory Criteria
Negative results on the following tests, if obtained:
Blood or cerebrospinal fluid cultures (blood culture may be positive for <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> )
Negative serology for Rocky Mountain spotted fever, leptospirosis, or measles
Case Classification
<b>Probable</b> : A case which meets the laboratory criteria and in which four of the five
Confirmed A asso which meets the laboratory oritoric and in which all five of the
clinical criteria described above are present, including desquamation, unless the patient dies before desquamation occurs

Table 1.1: Clinical criteria for toxic shock syndrome.Adapted from (22).

In contrast to menstrual TSS, a nonmenstrual form can originate from any infection or colonization of SAg-producing strains of *S. aureus*. Non-menstrual TSS can occur in a variety of clinical settings including skin and soft-tissue infections (15, 23), surgical and post-partum wound infections (24, 25), after influenza infections (26) and burns (27-29). Additional categories also include recalcitrant erythematous desquamating syndrome (30), purpura fulminans (31), extreme pyrexia syndrome (32) and TSS-like staphylococcal enterocolitis (33), which are all associated with *S. aureus* SAgs. Approximately half of nonmenstrual TSS cases are caused by TSST-1, with the other half caused by the staphylococcal enterotoxins (SEs) A, B, and C (23, 34-36).

## 1.2.1 Epidemiology

At its peak in the early 1980s, the incidence of TSS was estimated to be as high as 13.7 cases per 100,000 (37). With the removal of high-absorbency tampons from the market and increased public awareness, these rates dropped to 0.5 per 100,000 by the late 1980s (24, 38). More recently, a population-based surveillance program between 2000 and 2006 indicated that the annual incidence of TSS remained stable at 0.52 per 100,000 and that approximately half of the reported cases were non-menstrual in origin (39). Notably, the investigators suggested that this might be an underrepresentation of the disease burden, likely due to both the strict CDC case definition (**Table 1.1**) and current advances in supportive therapy that prevent severe manifestations of the disease. Despite its relatively low incidence, TSS has an overall case fatality rate of 2-4% (23, 24, 39). Alarmingly, however, non-menstrual TSS mortality rates can reach as high as 12-22% in some studies (6, 23).

#### 1.2.2 Streptococcal TSS

A significant number of *Streptococcus pyogenes* or invasive group A *Streptococcus* (GAS) infections share clinical similarities to TSS, and were designated as 'toxic shock-like syndrome' or streptococcal TSS (STSS) in the late 1980s (40-42). STSS patients have invasive GAS infections that culminate in shock, multi-organ failure and progressive soft tissue destruction (42). Unlike staphylococcal TSS, which is typically secondary to a localized *S. aureus* infection, STSS is the result of an invasive GAS infection where the majority of patients are bacteremic (42, 43). Streptococcal M types 1 and 3 have been most associated with invasive GAS infections and the SAgs streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins (Spe) A and C are often detected in streptococcal isolates from STSS patients (40, 44, 45). Annual incidence rates of invasive GAS infections in Europe are 1.5-5.2 per 100,000 and approximately 5-14.4% of these patients developed STSS (46, 47). A study from 11 European countries (Strep-EURO) revealed an overall 7-day case fatality rate of 19% for GAS infections and 44% in patients that progressed to STSS (47).

## 1.2.3 Therapeutic Strategies

There are currently no specific therapeutics available for the treatment of TSS. The key to successful management of the disease is the rapid identification of the source of infection, appropriate and effective use of antibiotics, removal of tampon in menstrual TSS, and supportive care (48). In the early stages of the disease, similar therapeutic interventions as septic shock are applied, including haemodynamic support, vasopressors and/or inotropes, and intubation, if required (49).

Based on the finding that individuals lacking effective neutralizing antibodies to SAgs may be at increased risk of developing TSS (50-52), intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) has been proposed as an adjunctive therapy (48). IVIG is a combination of pooled human antibodies derived from hundreds to thousands of donors, which typically contain antibodies against both staphylococcal and streptococcal SAgs (53). The effectiveness of IVIG in improving clinical outcomes has been demonstrated in a number of studies involving STSS (54-57); however, evidence for its effectiveness in staphylococcal TSS is limited (48). It should also be noted that the mechanism of action for IVIG is unclear. IVIG preparations are able to neutralize both staphylococcal and streptococcal SAg activity in vitro, though SAgs from S. aureus require much higher doses of IVIG to be effectively inhibited (58). IVIG can also directly opsonize GAS, promoting bacterial clearance by enhancing phagocytosis (59). Lastly, IVIG has a general anti-inflammatory effect mediated by immunoglobulin Fc domains binding to Fc receptors on immune cells (60). While IVIG has been shown to suppress SEB-induced T cell activation, this effect is largely maintained after SEB-specific antibodies are depleted from the IVIG preparations, suggesting that a mechanism independent of toxin neutralization is in effect (61).

Several other strategies to attenuate TSS morbidity have been examined including the inhibition of SAg-receptor interactions, blockade of SAg signal transduction, and active vaccination against staphylococcal/streptococcal cell wall components or the various exotoxins themselves (62, 63). Although promising, these approaches are still in their infancy and are currently undergoing preclinical investigation. Despite the significant advances made towards understanding the immunopathogenesis of TSS, many questions

remain unanswered. A more complete understanding of the cellular interactions and biological effects of SAgs may aid in the quest for a therapeutic invention to reduce TSS severity.

#### 1.2.4 Superantigens

SAgs are a unique group of protein exotoxins secreted by the vast majority of *S. aureus* and GAS strains that are pathogenic to humans (64). *S. aureus* encodes a large number of SAgs including TSST-1 and the SEs A, B, C, D, E, G, H, I, R and T (65). SEs were originally defined by their emetic properties and ability to cause food poisoning when ingested by humans or when administered orally to monkeys (66). A group of SE-like (SEI) toxins that are structurally similar to SEs have also been defined, although these toxins either do not induce, or have not yet been shown to induce emesis (65). Interestingly, almost all staphylococcal SAgs are encoded on mobile genetic elements including pathogenicity islands, plasmids or phages, suggesting an exchange of genetic elements between different strains or even different bacterial species (4). GAS also produces numerous SAgs including SpeA, C, G-M, streptococcal superantigen (SSA) and streptococcal mitogenic exotoxin Z (SMEZ) (64). Similar to staphylococcal SAgs, most streptococcal SAgs are encoded on mobile genetic.

It is important to note that SAgs are not specifically limited to *S. aureus* and GAS, nor to bacteria in general. SAgs have also been documented in the human pathogens *Plasmodium falciparum* (67), *Clostridium perfringens* (68), *Toxoplasma gondii* (69), *Yesinia pesudotuberculosis* (70) and *Yesinia enterocolitica* (71) among others.

#### 1.2.5 Superantigen Structure and Binding Properties

SAgs are generated as pro-toxins that require cleavage of a secretion signal to be exported from the cell in a Sec-dependent manner and range in size from 22-29 kDa (65). Crystal structures of SAgs show that they are commonly made of two major protein domains, an N-terminal oligosaccharide/oligonucleotide binding fold with a  $\beta$  barrel motif and a C-terminal  $\beta$ -grasp motif, which are connected together by a central  $\alpha$ -helix (72).

SAgs are capable of bypassing conventional mechanisms of antigen presentation and directly cross-link T cell receptors (TCRs) on T cells with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in an unprocessed form (73, 74). SAgs interact with MHC class II outside the antigen-binding groove (75) and bind specific TCR  $\beta$ -chain variable domains (V $\beta$ ), inducing the activation and clonal expansion of T cells bearing the appropriate V $\beta$  segments (76). Each SAg has a unique pattern of V $\beta$  specificities resulting in a 'V $\beta$  T cell signature' that can be used to identify the SAg(s) a patient is exposed to (77). Several SAgs including TSST-1, SEA and SEB also bind the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 on T cells, which is required for maximal T cell activation (78).

Based on phylogenetic analyses and structural similarities, staphylococcal and streptococcal SAgs can be classified into 5 evolutionary groups (65, 79). Group I consists of TSST-1 as an evolutionarily distinct SAg, which has a unique primary amino acid sequence compared to other SAgs. TSST-1 lacks a cysteine loop associated with emetic activity (80), further distinguishing it from SEs. It also utilizes a low-affinity MHC class II  $\alpha$ -chain binding site and forms a TCR-MHC complex that is highly dependent on the

antigenic peptide present within the MHC class II molecule (81, 82). TSST-1 is also specific for V $\beta 2^+$  T cells in humans, as it recognizes specific amino acids within the complementarity-determining region (CDR) 2 and framework region 3 (83). Group II SAgs include SEB, SEC and SpeA. This group also uses a single low-affinity binding domain to the  $\alpha$ -chain of MHC class II; however, this binding appears to be entirely peripheral to the antigenic peptide (84, 85). Notably, group II SAgs bind the TCR V $\beta$  in a manner that is less dependent on specific amino acid side-chains, allowing for a wider range of V $\beta$  specificities (86-88). Group III SAgs include SEA, which, along with group II SAgs, are implicated in the majority of food poisoning cases (89). In addition to the low-affinity binding site on the MHC class II  $\alpha$ -chain used by groups I and II, group III SAgs contain a second high-affinity binding site that is zinc-dependent, which engages the MHC class II  $\beta$ -chain and extends over the bound peptide (90-94). It has been suggested that the additional presence of the high-affinity binding site may increase the efficiency of these SAgs to activate T cells and APCs at significantly lower concentrations. Group IV SAgs consist exclusively of streptococcal SAgs, including SPEC and SMEZ, which also bind MHC class II  $\alpha$ -chain and  $\beta$ -chain similar to group III SAgs (95, 96). Lastly, group V SAgs include SEI and the SEI toxins, which use similar binding targets as group III and group IV SAgs (97).

## 1.2.6 Superantigen-mediated T cell activation

The mode of TCR engagement by SAgs is in stark contrast with that of conventional antigens. Typically, T cell activation is initiated by the interaction between the TCR and its cognate antigenic peptide that is presented in the context of self-MHC, called the rule of MHC restriction (98). Given that T cell antigen specificity is the result of the

variability in TCRs generated by the stochastic joining of TCR  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -V(D)J segments, at most only 0.01% of naïve T cells can be activated by a specific antigen (99). However, SAgs 'hijack' the immunological synapse, and activate T cells in a TCR V $\beta$ -dependent manner, regardless of T cell antigen specificity. Since there are a limited number of TCR V $\beta$  regions expressed by T cells, approximately 50 in humans, SAgs can activate up to 20-50% of T cells (**Fig. 1.1**) (64, 65). Furthermore, SAgs do this in an exceptionally potent manner, where as low as femtogram (10<sup>-15</sup> g) quantities can stimulate human T cells *in vitro* (100).

Downstream of the TCR, T cell signaling by SAgs is relatively similar to that of conventional antigens, whereby the three canonical signals required for T cell activation are comparable for both SAgs and conventional antigens. Signal one is induced by SAg engagement of the TCR-CD3 complex, recruiting the Src family of protein tyrosine kinases including Lck (101). Activated Lck phosphorylates the CD3 immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs), recruits a variety of adaptor molecules, and facilitates a series of phosphorylation events mediated by phospholipase C (PLC)-y1 that culminate in the activation of protein kinase C and increased intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  (102). Together, these signaling pathways lead to activation and translocation of the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT) and the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) to the nucleus, facilitating the process of T cell activation and proliferation. For signal two, T cell co-stimulatory molecules (e.g. CD28) can either engage with their receptors (e.g. CD80/86) on APCs or be directly stimulated by SAgs (103). Co-stimulation is required for proper T cell activation and ensuing proliferation, cytokine production, and survival (104). The third signal is provided by the cytokine



Figure 1.1: SAgs bypass conventional modes of antigen processing and presentation to activate a larger number of T cells.

Conventional protein antigens are taken up, processed into peptide fragments, and presented to T cells in the peptide-binding groove of MHC class II by APCs. In contrast, SAgs bind the lateral surfaces of MHC class II and the V $\beta$ -domain of the TCR in unprocessed form. Whereas conventional antigens activate up to ~0.01% of T cells, SAgs may activate up to 50% of exposed T cells resulting in the overwhelming cytokine storm in TSS. Adapted from (105).

milieu present at the time of T cell activation and is essential for productive T cell responses and polarization of T cell differentiation into distinct effector subtypes (106).

In 2006, Bueno et al. found that SAg-mediated T cell signaling did not strictly require *Lck* activity and that a G $\alpha$ 11/PLC- $\beta$ -mediated phosphorylation cascade can initiate an *Lck*-independent signaling pathway (107). Interestingly, both *Lck*-dependent and – independent pathways can be utilized by SAgs, where either can lead to the activation of transcription factors that ultimately facilitate T cell activation (108). These findings shed light on how SAgs activate both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, despite only cross-linking MHC class II molecules. Since one function of the CD4/CD8 co-receptors is to recruit and activate *Lck*, an *Lck*-independent pathway would allow for T cell activation to occur in the absence of CD4/CD8 binding to MHC.

## 1.2.7 Cytokine Storm

The overwhelming immune activation caused by SAgs triggers a 'cytokine storm' – a rapid and uncontrolled production of cytokines and inflammatory mediators from many cell types including T cells, APCs, epithelial cells and endothelial cells. A variety of inflammatory cytokines are rapidly produced within hours of SAg exposure, including tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) (109, 110).

TNF $\alpha$  is a potent inducer of systemic inflammation and signals a range of cellular responses including apoptosis, differentiation, proliferation, migration and cytokine production (111, 112). TNF $\alpha$  signaling occurs through the TNF receptors (TNFR) 1 and 2, which utilize death domains (*i.e.* TNFR-associated death domain and Fas-associated

death domain) to activate the caspase 8, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways that mediate its pleiotropic effects. In endothelial cells, TNF $\alpha$  elicits vasodilation, vascular permeability, and expression of pro-coagulant proteins such as tissue factor to promote intravascular coagulation (113). Together with IL-1, TNF $\alpha$  is likely the main mediator of inflammation-driven activation of coagulatory cascades in the vasculature (114). The administration of TNF $\alpha$  alone causes septic shock-like state in animals (115) and induces a systemic inflammatory response syndrome in humans (116-118).

IL-1 can be subdivided into IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  that both signal through the IL-1 receptor (IL-1R)-1 and accessory protein (IL-1RAcP) complex (119). IL-1 has similar and often synergistic inflammatory effects with TNF $\alpha$  (120). IL-1 $\beta$  mediates pro-coagulant activity and tissue factor expression in human monocytes when stimulated with SAgs (121). IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  are often considered the two primary mediators of shock (122), where they act synergistically to induce sustained hypotension, pulmonary edema and hemorrhage (123). These overlapping functions may be due to the fact that both cytokines activate the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway, which plays critical role in the initiation and propagation of the inflammatory cascade in TSS and septic shock (122, 124). This pathway promotes: i) the expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines to recruit and activate neutrophils causing endothelial cell injury, vascular permeability, and tissue damage; ii) expression of tissue factor and other pro-coagulants initiating disseminated intravascular coagulation; iii) induction of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) pathways triggering vasodilator prostaglandins and nitric oxide, respectively, which cause systemic hypotension and vascular hyporeactivity; and iv) production of inflammatory cytokines (*e.g.* TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6 and IFN $\gamma$ ) thus amplifying and propagating the inflammatory response. The extent of NF- $\kappa$ B activation has been shown to correlate with mortality risk in several contexts, including septic shock (125).

IL-6 binds to the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) and has many different biological effects including the activation of T cells, initiation of the coagulation cascade, and neutrophil activation and trafficking (126). Along with  $TNF\alpha$  and IL-1, IL-6 is an endogenous pyrogen, that is, a group of fever-inducing molecules that stimulate prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) synthesis, which acts on the hypothalamus to increase the thermostatic set point (127). IL-6 is also a major mediator of the acute phase response, a systemic reaction to inflammation characterized by the rapid production of acute phase reactants, such as Creactive protein, from the liver. These proteins trigger complement activation, coagulatory cascades or promote leukocyte chemotaxis (128). Notably, serum IL-6 concentrations are markedly increased in TSS patients (129) and correlate with sepsis severity and mortality (130). In spite of these many pro-inflammatory characteristics, IL-6 can promote anti-inflammatory responses as well. While TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 synergistically induce IL-6 production, IL-6 can inhibit the release of TNFα and IL-1 and promote the expression of several anti-inflammatory mediators, like IL-10 (131, 132). IL-6 responses also appear to be protective in mouse models of endotoxemia (133) and streptococcal infections (134), likely due to a suppressive effect on  $TNF\alpha$ .

IFN $\gamma$  signals through the interferon gamma receptor (IFNGR), consisting of subunits IFNGR1 and IFNG2, and performs a wide variety of immunoregulatory roles including innate immune cell activation, leukocyte trafficking, augmenting MHC class I and II expression, activation of iNOS, and promoting T helper type 1 (Th1) responses (135).

IFN $\gamma$  induces the expression of the death receptor Fas, which triggers vascular cell apoptosis (136, 137). Together with TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$  also disrupts ion transport and barrier functions of epithelial cells leading to increased permeability (138). Indeed, IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  often have synergistic effects, where many IFN $\gamma$ -induced genes are also induced by TNF $\alpha$ , likely due to multiple avenues of cross-talk between signaling pathways (135).

A variety of chemokines are also rapidly produced in response to SAg stimulation (139, 140). TSST-1 can stimulate the production of chemokines directly from the human vaginal epithelium (141). These chemoattractants facilitate the recruitment of neutrophils, macrophages and T cells to the areas of inflammation and injury. In addition to increasing the accessibility for SAgs to activate T cells, recruited immune cells can also have direct tissue damaging effects. For example, cytokine-activated neutrophils produce cytotoxic molecules and matrix metalloproteases once in peripheral tissues (142). Recruited immune cells can also produce large amounts of inflammatory cytokines upon activation, thus amplifying the cytokine storm. SAgs activate many non-immune cells including fibroblasts, endothelial cells and epithelial cells (141, 143, 144) that produce other inflammatory molecules (*e.g.* adhesion proteins, tissue proteases and reactive oxygen species) in addition to cytokines, resulting in further tissue injury.

Overexpression of inflammatory cytokines in the cytokine storm results in widespread inflammation, fever, disseminated intravascular coagulation, leukocyte migration, vasodilation, capillary leak, shock, and tissue destruction. This process culminates in the dysfunction of multiple organ systems, which, if severe, can lead to death. Two distinct phases of multiple organ dysfunction have been proposed (145). In the early phase, the initial activation of immune cells triggers a wave of inflammatory cytokines that causes
endothelial cell damage, increased vascular permeability, swelling and extravasation. The later phase of organ dysfunction begins as the inflammatory cells reach the interstitial compartments of individual organs. Microvascular coagulopathy, dysregulated apoptosis and tissue hypoxia cause damage to parenchymal cells, thus impairing organ function (146). The reflux of inflammatory cytokines and other mediators back into circulation then creates a positive feedback loop, amplifying this process.

### 1.2.8 SAg-Induced Immunosuppression

Following the hyperactivation of T cells, SAgs induce a state of immune dysregulation in the body. Almost immediately after activation, surface TCR expression on SAg-reactive T cells is reduced by 50% due to receptor endocytosis (147). The activation and proliferation of SAg-reactive T cells is transient and the majority undergo apoptosis by activation-induced cell death within days (148, 149). This creates a functional 'hole' in the T cell repertoire and is sustained for a period of at least 4 weeks, when a 50% reduction of T cells bearing SAg-reactive V $\beta$  domains can still be observed (150). Neonatal exposure to SAgs in mice also deletes virtually all SAg-reactive mature thymocytes, in addition to the majority of immature thymocytes (73). Activated T cells that escape deletion become anergic, or functionally unresponsive to in vitro restimulation by SAgs (150, 151). However, whether this translates into anergy *in vivo* is unclear. Multiple studies have demonstrated functional cytokine responses upon SAg rechallenge, though SAg-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, to a lesser extent, show impairments in their proliferative capacity (152-154). Exposure to SAgs also generates immunosuppressive T regulatory cells (Tregs) (155-158), which may contribute to the induction of T cell anergy. Whether Tregs play a protective role in TSS is unclear, as

systemic inflammatory responses in TSS destabilize the Treg population, and their expansion or adoptive transfer in mice exposed to SAg fail to mitigate immunopathology (159).

In addition to causing T cell dysfunction, SAgs impair B cell-mediated humoral immunity (160-162). Low or negative antibody titres for TSST-1 are observed in greater than 90% of menstrual TSS patients, with the majority of patients failing to seroconvert within two months (50). Some patients even remain seronegative even after recurrent bouts of the disease. This is in contrast to a healthy population, where 85% of individuals show antibody titres to TSST-1 at a level thought to be at least partially protective (52). The failure to develop effective antibody-mediated immunity is likely due to impairment in the T cell compartment during TSS. T cells anergized by SAgs can no longer provide help for B cells to stimulate antibody production, thus impairing T cell-dependent B cell responses (161, 162). SAgs also induce T cell-dependent B cell apoptosis (163-165). Lastly, SAgs largely promote Th1-type cytokine responses. Therefore, the minimal Th2-type cytokines present may be insufficient to support optimal B cell proliferation and differentiation (124).

#### 1.2.9 Animal Models of TSS

Preclinical animal models that simulate SAg-mediated immunopathology in humans have greatly aided the characterization of molecular and cellular events in TSS. Despite our current understanding, however, there has yet to be an effective therapy translatable to the clinic. The careful and appropriate use of animal models of TSS (listed in **Table 1.2**) remains our most essential tool for the development of novel treatment modalities to reduce TSS severity and, hopefully, save human lives.

Animal	Model	SAgs	Defining Immunopathology	Reference
Mouse	Sensitizing agents (D-gal/act D)	SEA, SEB, TSST-1	TNFα-dependent lethal shock; severe hemorrhagic hepatitis	(166-170)
	SAg + LPS	SEA, SEB, SEC, TSST-1	Rapid cytokine storm; hypothermia; intestinal apoptosis; lethal shock	(169, 171- 175)
	HLA- transgenic	SEB SpeA	Rapid cytokine storm; multi-organ inflammation; impaired gut permeability; lethal shock	(170, 176- 178)
	Aerosol/ i.n	SEB	Rapid cytokine storm; pulmonary edema, hypothermia; liver neutrophil infiltration and necrosis; lethal shock	(179-184)
Rabbit	Mini-osmotic pump	SEA, SEB, TSST-1 SpeA SpeC	Rapid cytokine storm; fever; conjuctival hyperemia; anorexia, cachexia; lethal shock.	(185-189)
	SAg + LPS	TSST-1, SEH	TNFα production; hyperemia; diarrhea; lethal shock	(190, 191) (192, 193)
	i.v.	SEA, TSST1	IL-2, IFN, TNF production; fever; lethal shock (strain and sex dependent)	(191, 193- 195)
Primate	i.v.	SEB	Hypotension; cardiac output decline; decreased blood oxygen content; lethal shock	(196)
	Aerosol	SEB	IL-2, IL-6, IFNγ production; hypotension; fever; diarrhea; vomiting; pulmonary edema; lethal shock	(197-199)

D-gal, D-galactosamine; act D, actinomycin D; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; tg, transgenic; i.n., intranasal; i.v., intravenous.

Table 1.2: Common animal models of TSS

Mouse models are most often used to examine the underlying mechanisms of SAginduced morbidity, largely due to the variety of available immunological tools and reagents, well-defined V $\beta$  signatures, and relatively low cost of maintenance compared to other animals. Problematically, mice are considerably more resistant to SAgs when compared to humans as a result of a much lower binding affinity of SAgs to mouse MHC class II in some strains (200). Therefore, sensitizing compounds such as actinomycin D (167) or D- galacatosamine (D-gal) (166) must be used to amplify the effects of SAgs and induce mortality. The severity of TSS in models using sensitizing agents varies considerably and can skew inflammatory responses or disproportionately impact individual organs. One of the most widely utilized models involves priming mice with Dgal (166, 168, 169, 201, 202) followed by intraperitoneal administration of SAg to induce a cytokine storm and other hallmark features of TSS. D-gal induces transcriptional arrest in hepatocytes leading to extreme sensitivity to  $TNF\alpha$ -induced apoptosis (203). When used in combination with SAgs, D-gal induces severe TNF $\alpha$ -dependent hepatotoxicity (204), a pathology not typically seen in human TSS (205). Although TNF $\alpha$  responsible for the lethality in sensitized mice is derived, at least in part, from SAg-mediated T cell activation (166, 206), the dominant event leading to sudden death in this model is likely severe hepatitis. As expected, TNF $\alpha$  plays a key role in this model and anti-TNF $\alpha/\beta$ neutralizing antibodies confer protection from lethality (166, 207). Conclusions from these models must be drawn with full recognition that sensitizing agents cause cytokine responses that do not necessarily reflect human disease. This problem is illuminated by the notable failure of a TNFR fusion protein to prevent septic shock in humans, including those caused by S. aureus (208). Notably, in patients with Gram-positive infections, the

group receiving the highest-dose of the drug exhibited an increase in both disease severity and mortality.

Another common mouse model utilizes bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) as a potentiating agent following SAg exposure (169, 171-174, 209, 210). SAgs are known to substantially enhance LPS lethality due to a synergistic effect on the production of TNF $\alpha$ (192). There is some evidence to suggest this synergy occurs in human TSS, as patients with menstrual TSS show increased colonization of Gram-negative bacteria in the vaginal flora (211) and low levels of LPS can be detected in acute-phase sera of TSS patients (212). In mice, the injection of SAg followed by LPS results in rapid production of IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6, TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  within hours, which is not observed in SAg-only controls (171). Lethality in this model can be correlated to increased serum IL-6,  $TNF\alpha$ , macrophage inflammatory protein-2 (MIP-2) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) by 8 hours and IFNy and IL-2 by 21 hours after TSS induction (174). However, cytokine responses and TSS mortality are highly influenced by LPS dosage as opposed to SAg. Furthermore, exposure to SAg in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) strongly upregulates TLR4 expression and enhances production of inflammatory cytokines by LPS independent of T cells (210). Thus, the use of LPS as a potentiating agent may cause unnecessary confounding effects that are more reflective of endotoxicosis than TSS. As the role of LPS in human TSS is undefined, the utility of this mouse model and its relevance to TSS also remains to be determined.

In order to avoid potential pitfalls associated with sensitizing and potentiating agents in mouse models of TSS, mice expressing human MHC class II, known as HLA-transgenic mice, have been used (170, 176-178, 213-215). Due to the higher affinity binding of

SAgs to human leukocyte antigens (HLAs)-DQ and -DR, these transgenic mice respond to much lower doses of SAg (216-219). Accordingly, our lab has previously demonstrated robust cytokine responses in HLA-DR4tg mice injected with 50 µg of SEB (220). Similarly, a single 50 µg dose of SEB is sufficient to induce a rapid inflammatory cytokine response, inflammation in the liver, lungs, kidney, heart and small intestines, and lethal shock in HLA-DR3 transgenic mice (170, 177). Importantly, in comparison to D-gal sensitization where the disease is restricted to the liver, HLA-DR3 mice treated with SAg alone show multi-organ involvement, similar to humans (170). The inhibition of IFNy in this model attenuates the cytokine storm, prevents severe intestinal pathology, and protects against mortality (177). HLA transgenic mouse models have also been successfully applied to STSS. HLA-DQ8 transgenic mice expressing human CD4 are susceptible to SpeA-induced STSS that is characterized by rapid production of  $TNF\alpha$ , IFNy and IL-6, elevated liver enzymes and lethal shock within 72 hours (178). A potential limitation for using HLA-transgenic mice as disease models is that MHC class II genes are among the most polymorphic genes in the genome and these inbred mouse strains only mimic the responses of one specific haplotype. Furthermore, SAgs preferentially bind some MHC class II molecules over others; SEB and TSST-1 bind HLA-DR more efficiently than HLA-DQ for example (221), and thus care must be taken to select the most appropriate transgenic strain for a given SAg. Nevertheless, HLAtransgenic mice recapitulate many aspects of human TSS and therefore are one of the most useful mouse models of the syndrome.

Several other mouse models have been established to investigate different aspects of TSS pathogenesis by varying the SAg entry point. A model of SAg-induced airway

inflammation was developed involving a single or double dose of SAg introduced intranasally (179-184). TSS in this model culminates in severe lung inflammation, systemic release of cytokines, hypothermia and death within days. However, this may more accurately represent TSS resulting from the inhalation of aerosolized SEB in a bioterrorism setting (222) rather than natural *S. aureus* infection. Intravaginal exposure to SEB in HLA-transgenic mice causes a robust systemic inflammatory response and leukocyte infiltration in the liver and lungs (223). Although almost all human menstrual TSS cases are caused by TSST-1 and not SEB, further investigations in this model can be targeted to understand and/or inhibit the mechanisms by which SAgs can cross mucosal barriers and cause disease.

Historically, rabbits have been the 'gold standard' model for SAg-induced TSS as they mimic almost all symptoms of human TSS after administration of staphylococcal and streptococcal SAgs (185, 186, 191, 192, 194, 224, 225). Rabbits can also be implanted with mini-osmotic pumps that release SAg continuously over the course of 7 days, more accurately mimicking the mode of SAg exposure in a *S. aureus* infection (185-189). Several rabbit models that utilize chambers to localize SAg-producing *S. aureus* have been instrumental in identifying TSST-1 a causative agent of TSS (226-229). The susceptibility to SAg-induced TSS varies among rabbit strains and may require LPS sensitization to induce morbidity (191). Currently, the use of rabbits to model TSS is rare, likely due to the technical and ethical considerations that make larger animals unattractive to study. There are several drawbacks of using rabbits rather than mice, such as increased housing and animal care costs, less availability of immunological reagents and antibodies, and a greater difficulty for genetic manipulation.

In addition to mice and rabbits, several models of TSS utilizing larger animals have been described. Intradermal exposure to SEB in non-human primates elicits skin reactions, cutaneous mast cell degranulation and emesis (230). Non-human primates have also been used to investigate immune responses to aerosolized SEB (197-199) and evaluate the efficacy of vaccine candidates against lethal SEB challenge (231, 232). In the hopes of more closely simulating human TSS, a porcine model was developed where piglets were given SEB intravenously. Intoxicated piglets quickly developed vomiting, diarrhea, temperature spikes, hypotension and multi-organ dysfunction (233). Lastly, goats have been used to study the effects of both SEB and TSST-1-induced TSS, where intravenous injection yields tachycardia, fever and various hematological changes (234). Investigating TSS pathogenesis in larger animals is rare, due to both the high cost of animal maintenance and significant ethical concerns surrounding their use as disease models with high morbidity and mortality.

### 1.3 Invariant Natural Killer T Cells

Natural killer T (NKT) cells are a specialized group of innate-like T lymphocytes with remarkable immunomodulatory properties. Named for their co-expression of both NK cell markers (e.g. NK1.1 in mice and CD161 in humans) and αβ TCRs, NKT cells possess specific reactivity to glycolipid antigens presented by the MHC class I-like glycoprotein CD1d (235). CD1d is a member of the CD1 family of antigen-presenting molecules that present lipids, rather than peptides, to non-MHC restricted T lymphocytes. In humans, there are five members of CD1 molecules, CD1a-e, while mice only express CD1d (236). CD1d is widely expressed on cells of hematopoietic origin, including typical antigen-presenting cells like DCs, macrophages and B cells (237).

Two individual subsets of NKT cells can be defined based on the structural characteristics of their TCRs in addition to their reactivity to glycolipid antigens. Type I NKT cells, known as *i*nvariant NKT (*i*NKT) cells, express a canonical TCR composed of a unique  $\alpha$ -chain (V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ 18 in humans; V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 in mice) paired with a limited number of  $\beta$ -chains (V $\beta$ 11 in humans; V $\beta$ s 2, 7, or 8.2 in mice) (235). These cells exhibit highly conserved reactivity to  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ GC) (238) and the invention of  $\alpha$ GC-loaded CD1d tetramers has enabled their unambiguous identification by flow cytometry (239, 240). In mice, *i*NKT cells are either CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> or CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> (235), and an additional CD8<sup>+</sup> population exists in humans (241). *i*NKT cells also constitutively express the activation/memory markers CD25, CD44 and CD69 on their cell surface, consistent with a 'memory-like' phenotype. In contrast, type II NKT cells, known as variant NKT (*v*NKT) cells, express a diverse  $\alpha\beta$  TCR repertoire and although they are 'CD1d-restricted', they do not respond to  $\alpha$ GC (235). A large proportion of *v*NKT cells

can be activated by the self-lipid sulfatide (242). The understanding of *v*NKT cell responses in health and disease remains limited, largely due to a notable lack of robust reagents to specifically identify and characterize *v*NKT cell function.

*i*NKT cells are widely distributed throughout the body and can be found in the thymus, liver, bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes and intestinal tract (239). They express a range of chemokine receptors that mediate their homing to individual tissues and, unlike conventional T cells, show limited recirculation under homeostatic conditions (243). In mice, *i*NKT cells have been most commonly studied in the liver, where they represent up to 20-30% of lymphocytes (239, 240). However, they are less frequent in all other tissues, where they constitute  $\leq 1\%$  of T cells. In humans, *i*NKT cells are not highly enriched in the liver and are 10-fold less frequent in most locations (244), except the human omentum, where approximately 10% of T cells express the invariant V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ 18 TCR (245). On average, *i*NKT cells represent ~0.1% of T cells in the peripheral blood of humans, but this fraction can range from virtually undetectable to as high as 1% across individuals (246, 247). The reason for this extreme variation among individuals as well as the differences in abundance and tissue distribution between mice and humans is unknown.

### 1.3.1 Modes of Activation

*i*NKT cells are activated in response to exposure to a wide range of pathogens, from bacteria to viruses, protozoa and even fungi (248). Many of these microorganisms contain lipid antigens, which can directly stimulate the *i*NKT cell TCR through their presentation by CD1d on APCs. These exogenous antigens are usually glycerol-based lipids (e.g. common bacterial membrane phospholipids) or ceramide-based glycolipids (e.g.

glycolsphingolipids) and can be found in *Spingomonas* spp., *Ehrlichia* spp., *Borrelia burgdorferi*, *Aspergillus fumigatus*, and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (249-253). Additionally, other *i*NKT cell ligands include mycobacterial phosphatidylinositol mannoside (254), cholesteryl α-glucosides from *Helicobacter pylori* (255), and lipophosphoglycans from the protozoans *Leishmania donovani* (256) and *Entamoeba histolytica* (257).

The prototypical exogenous antigen for *i*NKT cells is the glycosphingolipid  $\alpha$ GC. Initially isolated from the extracts of the marine sponge Agelas mauritanius (238),  $\alpha$ GC is believed to have originated from microbes (possibly Sphingomonas spp.) engaged in a symbiotic relationship with the sponge.  $\alpha$ GC is composed of a lipid tail that is buried deep in the hydrophobic region of CD1d and galactose head that projects out of the CD1d molecule to be bound by the  $\alpha$ -chain of the *i*NKT cell TCR (258). The length of the sphingosine and acyl chains of the lipid tail controls the binding affinity of the TCRlipid-CD1d complex, which partially determines the strength of *i*NKT cell activation (259). Based on this observation,  $\alpha$ GC derivatives with altered sphingosine and/or acyl chains that skew iNKT cell responses have been generated. OCH, a sphingosinetruncated analog of  $\alpha GC$  promotes the production of Th2-type cytokines, exemplified by IL-4 (260). C20:2, which possesses a shorter acyl chain that contains two sites of unsaturation also potently stimulates the production of Th2-type cytokines (261), perhaps more effectively than OCH in human PBMC cultures (262). Conversely, a C-glycoside analog of  $\alpha$ GC is a Th1-skewing *i*NKT agonist that effectively induces IL-12 and IFN $\gamma$ production (263). In addition to the structure of the lipid agonist, several other factors influence the production of cytokines by *i*NKT cells including the location and kinetics of glycolipid loading onto CD1d and its association with lipid rafts (264), the type of APC involved (265) and the presence of co-stimulatory molecules on APCs (266).

In the absence of exogenous lipid antigens, *i*NKT cells can be activated by APCs that have been exposed to microbial products or danger signals, which engage pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) to induce cytokine secretion (267, 268). Interestingly, this mode of activation is dependent on IL-12 in addition to CD1d-lipid signaling, suggesting that the presentation of self-antigens can facilitate *i*NKT cell activation. This is supported by the fact that *i*NKT cells are activated in a variety of settings where exogenous lipids are absent, such as in viral infections, autoimmunity and cancer (269). There has been much debate around the nature of glycolipids involved in this process, in addition to the putative self-lipid responsible for the positive selection of *i*NKT cells in the thymus. Many candidates for self-lipids that mediate these processes have been proposed, including isoglobotrihexosylceramide (270), lysophosphatidylcholine (271),  $\beta$ -glucosylceramide (272), and the plasmogen lysophosphatidylethanolamine (273). A recent report by Teyton and colleagues demonstrates the presence of endogenous  $\alpha$ -anomeric glycolipids like  $\alpha$ GC in mammalian immune cells (274). However, the biological role of endogenous  $\alpha$ GC in humans remains to be confirmed.

As innate T lymphocytes, *i*NKT cells are highly responsive to cytokines for their activation and function. *i*NKT cells constitutively express several cytokine receptors, including the receptors for IL-12 (275), IL-18 (276), IL-23 (277) and IL-25 (278). IL-12 appears to play a critical role in the activation of *i*NKT cells both in the absence or presence of *i*NKT cell ligands. *i*NKT cell-mediated responses to *Salmonella* 

typhimurium, which lacks cognate iNKT cell antigens, is blocked by IL-12-neutralizing antibodies (267). The activation of iNKT cells by the S. typhimurium LPS is also IL-12dependent. Even in microorganisms for which iNKT cell lipid antigens have been identified, such as S. pneumoniae, effective iNKT cell responses also depend on IL-12, suggesting that these cytokine-driven signals may be the dominant pathway for *i*NKT cell activation (279). A recent study using reporter mice that detect TCR signaling showed that while some bacteria that produce *i*NKT cell antigens signaled through the TCR, others thought to require presentation of self-lipids (e.g. those derived from S. *typhimurium*) induced robust *i*NKT cell responses in the absence of antigenic stimulation (280). This pathway was likely mediated by IL-12 and IL-18, which are able to induce iNKT cell activation entirely independent of TCR stimulation (276). Based on these observations, a general model of *i*NKT cell activation has been proposed where: a) microbes that possess high-affinity cognate *i*NKT cell lipid antigens can activate *i*NKT cells predominantly through the TCR with little or no need for cytokine stimulation; or b) microbes possessing *i*NKT cell antigens or lacking cognate antigens entirely can activate T cells through innate cytokine-driven pathways that may or may not include the presentation of endogenous *i*NKT cell antigens by APCs (281).

Lastly, our group has recently demonstrated that group II bacterial SAgs can activate both mouse and human *i*NKT cells (220). This activation was independent of CD1d but required antigen-presenting cells expressing the human MHC class II molecule HLA-DR.

# 1.3.2 Effector Functions

As their name suggests, *i*NKT cells are armed with a variety of cytotoxic effector molecules including Fas ligand and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) that

are able to directly kill target cells (282, 283). However, they are best known for their ability to swiftly produce both pro- and/or anti-inflammatory cytokines upon activation. The rapidity of this response may be due, at least in part, to the constitutive expression of cytokine mRNAs (284). The sheer variety of cytokines produced by *i*NKT cells, including IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and GM-CSF, further underscores their ability to shape ensuring immune responses downstream of their activation (285-290).

Similar to conventional MHC-restricted CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, *i*NKT cells can be generally categorized into separate functional subsets based on their patterns of cytokine production. The fates of individual iNKT cells are therefore determined both by 'master regulator' transcription factors like promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein (PLZF) and early growth response 2 (EGR2) as well as 'cytokine-specific' transcriptional regulators like T-bet (Th1-like), GATA3 (Th2-like) and RORyT (Th17-like) (291). Th1like *i*NKT cells predominantly produce IFN $\gamma$  in response to  $\alpha$ GC or IL-12 stimulation and constitute the majority of *i*NKT cells in the mouse liver (292). They can be CD4<sup>+/-</sup> and NK1.1<sup>+/-</sup> but characteristically express the CD122 (IL-15R  $\beta$  chain) and require IL-15 for homeostasis. In contrast, Th2-like iNKT cells produce minimal IFNy and high amounts of IL-4, IL-9, IL-10 and IL-13 (292). Most of these cells express CD4 and IL-25R (IL-17RB), and are enriched in mouse lymph nodes and lungs. Interestingly, Th2like iNKT cells are up to 8-fold more abundant in Balb/c compared to C57BL/6 mice, which may partly explain the predominance of Th2 responses in Balb/c mice (293). Th17-like *i*NKT cells principally produce IL-17A and IL-22 in response to stimulation and are typically CD4<sup>-</sup> and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> (292). IL-17A-producing *i*NKT cells also express IL-

25R and are enriched in the lungs, skin and peripheral lymph nodes (292, 294). In addition to these three main *i*NKT cell subsets, other functional populations of *i*NKT cells have been defined, most notably NKT10 cells. Characteristically producing the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10, NKT10 cells are CD4<sup>+</sup>IL-25R<sup>+</sup> and enriched in adipose tissue (292). These cells are also a naturally occurring population in human peripheral blood (61).

Through the expression of such a wide variety of cytokines and surface molecules, *i*NKT cells transactivate many different downstream effector cells and can modulate their function. DCs constitutively express CD1d and are a major APC population responsible for mediating iNKT activation in vivo (265, 295). During this process, CD40-CD40L interactions trigger the maturation of DCs to secrete IL-12 (275), promote  $CD8^+$  T cell cross-priming (296) and enhance conventional  $CD4^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T cell responses to protein antigens (297, 298). iNKT-DC interactions trigger NK cell transactivation, yielding sustained IFN $\gamma$  production (299). *i*NKT cells can also provide cognate (300) and non-cognate (301) B cell help to promote antibody responses. Furthermore, iNKT cells can modulate myeloid-derived suppressor cell (MDSC) responses, though the nature of this interaction is unclear. During influenza infection, the absence of *i*NKT cells results in the expansion of MDSC populations in mice and *i*NKT cell adoptive transfer abrogates the immunosuppressive function of MDSCs (302). In contrast, the activation of iNKT cells by  $\alpha GC$  induces the expansion and immunosuppressive function of MDSCs in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (303).

# 1.3.3 Experimental Models to Study *i*NKT Cell Functions

There are several available mouse models for the studying *i*NKT cells in health and disease. Va14-Ja18 transgenic mice overexpress the invariant TCRa chain Va14-Ja18 of iNKT cells, significantly biasing T cell populations towards the iNKT cell lineage. Numerous mice with this phenotype have been developed to study the role of the invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain on the development of *i*NKT cells or to overcome the paucity of *i*NKT cells in wild-type mice (304, 305). In contrast, CD1d<sup>-/-</sup> mice are deficient in all NKT cells due to the absence of CD1d, preventing positive selection of all NKT cells in the thymus (306). As such, CD1d<sup>-/-</sup> mice are devoid of both *i*NKT and *v*NKT cells and therefore any phenotype using these mice cannot be ascribed to one cell subset over the other.  $J\alpha 18^{-1/2}$  mice have a targeted deletion of the J $\alpha 18$ -coding region specific for the *i*NKT cell TCR (307). Since these mice lack only *i*NKT cells many developmental and disease studies utilize both  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  and  $CD1d^{-/-}$  mice in combination to decipher the functions of *i*NKT and/or *v*NKT cells individually from one another. However, a recent report revealed that  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice demonstrate a significant reduction in TCR $\alpha$  repertoire diversity (308). The authors propose that, as a result of the insertion of a deletion cassette in the TRAJ18 region (coding for J $\alpha$ 18), all gene rearrangements upstream of TRAJ18 have been suppressed. Importantly, novel  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice that do not possess this defect have been recently generated (309, 310), but are not yet widely available.

Currently, no commercially available antibody for the selective depletion of *i*NKT cells exists. A recently generated *i*NKT cell-specific antibody called NKT14 was reported to effectively deplete *i*NKT cells *in vivo* for up to 3 weeks (311). Although extensive

characterization of NKT14-mediated *i*NKT cell depletion is lacking, this antibody holds significant future promise once commercially available.

# 1.4 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

As the immune system has evolved many different effector mechanisms to combat invading pathogens, it has also developed regulatory pathways to keep runaway inflammatory processes in check. MDSCs have recently emerged as key players in the regulation of immune responses in many different inflammatory diseases. Although the majority of research has focused on MDSC function and manipulation in cancer (312-314), further investigations have highlighted their importance in autoimmunity (315), transplantation (316), bacterial (317), viral (318) and parasitic infections (319) and more. Originally described as 'bone marrow suppressor cells' (320), these cells have the remarkable capacity to potently suppress T cell responses and secrete pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines to module both innate and adaptive immune responses. Due to these immunoregulatory qualities, MDSCs appear to resolve acute inflammation in some contexts and contribute to immunopathology in others.

### 1.4.1 Definition

MDSCs are a heterogeneous population of myeloid progenitor cells and immature myeloid cells (IMCs) (*i.e.* neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages and dendritic cells) defined by their ability to suppress T cell responses (312). Rather than a distinct subset of cells, MDSCs are a mix of myeloid populations that have been prevented from differentiating into mature cells and express surface markers indicating various stages of immaturity (321). MDSCs can be uniformly characterized in mice by their expression of the CD11b and Gr-1 surface markers. Gr-1 consists of the antigens Ly-6G, expressed on neutrophils, and Ly-6C, expressed on macrophages. Notably, anti-Gr-1 antibodies simultaneously bind both epitopes. Based on morphological and phenotypic differences,

two major subsets of MDSCs have been defined: granuolocyctic (or polymorphonuclear) MDSCs (G-MDSCs) and monocytic MDSCs (M-MDSCs) (322). In mice, G-MDSCs express a CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>hi</sup>Ly6G<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>lo</sup> phenotype and possess 'band-like' nuclei, more typical of neutrophils. M-MDSCs are CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>mid</sup>Ly6G<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> and are mononuclear in appearance, more typical of monocytes. G-MDSCs typically outnumber M-MDSCs in most cases and G-MDSCs appear to expand to a greater extent as well (323, 324). In culture, M-MDSCs largely retain the ability to differentiate in mature myeloid cells, whereas the majority of G-MDSCs remain as immature CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>+</sup> cells (324). Furthermore, M-MDSCs have been suggested to be more suppressive on a per cell basis (323, 325), although this may also depend on the disease and/or inflammatory context.

In humans, G-MDSCs are defined as CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>-</sup>CD15<sup>-</sup>/CD66b<sup>+</sup> and M-MDSCs as CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup>HLA-DR<sup>-/low</sup>CD15<sup>-</sup> (322). CD33 is often used instead of CD11b as a myeloid marker and can be helpful in separating the two subsets, as G-MDSCs stain as CD33<sup>dim</sup> and M-MDSCs are CD33<sup>hi</sup> (326). A third subset of MDSCs that contain a mixed population more indicative of immature progenitors, known as early-stage MDSCs (eMDSCs), are defined in humans, and have no mouse equivalent (322). These cells are Lin<sup>-</sup> (including CD3, CD14, CD15, CD19, CD56) HLA-DR<sup>-</sup>CD33<sup>+</sup>.

Although the surface phenotype of MDSCs is necessary for their identification, it does not distinguish them from their mature myeloid counterparts. Presently, there are no combination of surface markers that can discriminate between G-MDSCs from neutrophils and M-MDSCs from monocytes. Therefore, a suppression assay demonstrating the ability of putative MDSCs to inhibit T cell responses is also required (322). While many different methods to demonstrate T cell suppression by MDSCs have been employed, most take the form of an *in vitro* T cell co-culture with varying ratios of MDSCs in addition to a T cell stimulus, anti-CD3/CD28 for example. The resulting suppression of T cell activity in the presence of MDSCs is then determined. Typically, <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine incorporation or fluorescent carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dye dilution assays are used to evaluate T cell proliferation, while ELISA/ELISPOT can be used to measure T cell-mediated IFN $\gamma$  responses (322). The presence of surface markers indicative of MDSCs in combination with a demonstrated ability to effectively suppress T cell function remains the 'gold standard' to merit the designation of MDSC (322).

It should be noted that one of the most controversial aspects regarding the definition of MDSCs is why cells with a morphology and surface phenotype resembling neutrophils or monocytes should require separate designations as G-MDSCs or M-MDSCs. Indeed, immunosuppressive neutrophils (327) and monocytes (328) can be found during inflammatory conditions. Koenderman and colleagues go so far as to suggest that G-MDSCs are an alternative functional heterogenic subset of neutrophils (329). During sepsis, the re-programming of monocytes into compensatory anti-inflammatory response (CARS)-monocytes, which have the same function and phenotype of M-MDSCs, can be also thought of as an alternative monocyte differentiation pathway (330). M-MDSCs from breast cancer patients display a more similar gene expression profile to CARSmonocytes from sepsis patients than to monocytes from healthy controls or tuberculosis patients (331). To help resolve this dilemma, a summary of recommendations for MDSC characterization standards was recently established by Bronte et. al (322). In addition to the established requirements to define MDSCs by surface phenotype and

immunosuppressive capability by the assays described above, the investigators propose four distinct molecular and biochemical parameters to distinguish MDSCs from their myeloid counterparts: i) transcription factors and apoptotic regulators (e.g. active STAT3, RORC1, and S100A8/A9 proteins); ii) immunosuppressive genes and molecules (e.g. arginase, iNOS, ROS and PGE2); iii) immunoregulatory cytokine production (e.g. IL-10 and TGFβ); and iv) mediators that contribute to MDSC development and function (e.g. GM-CSF, G-CSF and IL-1). Although these parameters are not exhaustive and may not necessarily define MDSCs in all disease contexts, they constitute an important step forward to guide the growing field of MDSC immunobiology.

# 1.4.2 Mechanisms of Immunosuppression

MDSCs employ major immunosuppressive pathways to potently inhibit both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity. MDSCs produce high levels of arginase-1, which metabolizes Larginine into L-ornithine, thus depleting L-arginine in the local environment. As a result, T cells lose the expression of the CD3 $\zeta$  chain, an essential component of the TCR complex responsible for intracellular signal transduction (332). Arginine starvation also causes T cell cycle arrest due to reduced expression of cell cycle regulators cyclin D3 and cyclin-dependent kinases 4 (333). Predictably, T cells activated in the absence of arginine show markedly reduced proliferation and cytokine production, but can be rescued by arginine supplementation *in vitro* (332), or by depletion of arginase-producing MDSCs *in vivo* (334). Both subsets of MDSCs demonstrate arginase-1 activity; however, whether arginase-1 plays a major role as an immunosuppressive factor for either G-MDSCs or M-MDSCs is unclear (323, 325).

MDSCs produce another enzyme that metabolizes L-arginine, iNOS, which catalyzes the synthesis of the potently immunosuppressive molecule, nitric oxide (NO). NO itself impairs T cell responses to IL-2 by directly impairing IL-2R signaling, which is critical for T cell proliferation (335). In a similar manner, NO reduces IL-2 mRNA expression and impairs IL-2 secretion from activated T cells (336). NO also decreases the expression of MHC class II on APCs (337), potentially limiting antigen presentation or SAg binding to reduce T cell activation. Furthermore, iNOS activity in the presence of low cytosolic arginine (depleted by arginase-1) promotes the generation of superoxide  $(O_2)$  and, consequently peroxynitrite, which is a product of superoxide and NO (338). Peroxynitrites are among the most powerful oxidants in the body and cause nitration or nitrosylation of key amino acids regulating T cell function. The production of peroxynitrite by MDSCs directly induces nitration of tyrosine residues in the TCR and CD8 co-receptor of T cells impairing antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (339). Peroxynitrite-mediated nitration in human T cells also triggers apoptosis, due to the inhibition of protein tyrosine phosphorylation in activated T cells (340). The NO pathway is preferentially used by the M-MDSC subset as evidenced by inhibition of iNOS function by L-NG-monomethyl arginine citrate (L-NMMA) in suppression assays, which blocks the activity of M-MDSCs but not that of G-MDSCs (323, 325).

In contrast to M-MDSCs, G-MDSCs generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a primary means of immunosuppression (323). Increased ROS production by G-MDSCs is mediated by the up-regulated activity of NADPH oxidase, which generates superoxide (341). In addition to forming peroxynitrites, superoxides also react with protons in water to generate hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), which is the main ROS to suppress T cells

responses (342). ROS directly reduce CD3 $\zeta$  chain expression in T cells, impairing T cell proliferation and cytokine production (343, 344). ROS also promote apoptosis in activated T cells through the downregulation of the anti-apoptotic protein B cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl2) (345). The inhibition of ROS production by the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> scavenger catalase reverses G-MDSC mediated T cell suppression in both mice and humans (342, 344).

In addition to the major mechanisms described above, several other pathways of MDSCmediated T cell suppression have been identified. MDSCs can indirectly promote immunosuppression through the activation of Treg cells by multiple routes. The expression of CD40 (346), CD80 (347) and arginase (348) by MDSCs have been separately shown to induce Treg differentiation and function. MDSC production of the immunoregulatory cytokines IL-10 and tumor growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) also facilitates Treg function (349). Additionally, MDSCs express galactin 9 (350), the ligand for T cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3) expressed on Th1 cells, which triggers apoptosis (351). Lastly, MDSCs can suppress T cells by the local depletion of cysteine, an amino acid essential for T cell activation and survival (352). However, as the vast majority of MDSC function involves the use of murine cancer models, the extent to which these mechanisms are at play in the many different disease contexts that show MDSC involvement has yet to be determined.

#### 1.4.3 Origin, Expansion and Functions

As a heterogeneous population of IMCs, MDSCs originate in the bone marrow under normal conditions of myelopoiesis (330). In this process, hematopoietic stem cells give rise to multi-potent progenitors, which then become common myeloid progenitors and in turn generate IMCs. Under steady-state conditions, IMCs proceed to differentiate into their respective mature myeloid populations or exit the bone marrow to complete their development in the periphery. In naïve mice, IMCs that express CD11b and Gr-1 can be found at low levels in multiple tissues, including bone marrow (20-30% of myeloid cells), spleen (2-4%), liver (2-5%) and lymph nodes (<1%), and are not immunosuppressive (321). However, during pathological conditions, overwhelming inflammation or cancer for example, IMC populations expand and acquire immunosuppressive qualities to become MDSCs.

The expansion of MDSCs is rooted in 'emergency myelopoiesis', where IMCs are rapidly mobilized from the bone marrow to the blood or sites of inflammation to restore or renew myeloid populations during infection (330). Several growth factors responsible for the regulation and maturation of myeloid cells promote this process, including macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), granulocyte-CSF (G-CSF), and granulocyte/macrophage-CSF (GM-CSF) (353). However, a variety of inflammatory mediators also trigger MDSC expansion, including IL-1 (354), hepatic acute phase proteins (355), PGE2 (356) and S100A8/9 (357). These factors commonly converge on the Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (JAK-STAT3) pathway, a major regulator of MDSC function (312). The activation of STAT3 in MDSCs stimulates their expansion and survival through increasing myelopoiesis and expression of anti-apoptotic proteins. Recently, retinoic-acid-related orphan receptor 1 (RORC1) was identified as another critical transcription factor regulating the accumulation of MDSCs through promoting myelopoiesis and preventing MDSC apoptosis (358). Interestingly, many of the same mediators that stimulate the expansion of MDSCs also block IMC maturation and differentiation to terminal myeloid cells. S100A9 (359), vascular endothelial growth factor (360) and PGE2 (361) have been shown to mediate accumulation of MDSCs through subverting conventional myeloid differentiation pathways. Both emergency myelopoiesis and defective myeloid cell maturation have been associated with hyperactivation of STAT3, suggesting that these processes may be linked in a positive feedback loop.

In addition to expansion, MDSCs require an 'activation signal' to induce their suppressive activity, many of which are inflammatory mediators produced in abundance during infection. The activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, through inflammatory signals IL-1, TNF $\alpha$  and TLR ligands, strongly regulates the suppressive capability of MDSCs (362-364). MDSCs deficient in MyD88, a universal adaptor protein used by almost all TLRs and the IL-1R, lose their suppressive abilities and even acquire immunostimulatory functions (365). Notably, the accumulation of MDSCs remains unaffected. TNF $\alpha$  induces the suppressive function of MDSCs through regulation of iNOS activity via NK- $\kappa$ B (366) or through the activity of \$100A8/9 proteins (367). However, this appears to primarily affect only M-MDSCs (368), which makes sense as iNOS is often undetectable in G-MDSCs. The inflammatory cytokine IFNy, linked to the activation of STAT1, is also associated with upregulation of iNOS and arginase-1 expression in M-MDSCs (369). Interestingly, IFNy signaling in G-MDSCs may actually hinder suppressive ability and cell survival indicating that certain inflammatory signals may have opposite effects on the different subsets (370). The Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, typically thought of as antiinflammatory in many cases, stimulate the expression of arginase-1 in MDSCs (371, 372). This signaling pathway mediated by STAT6 is also involved in promoting the accumulation (373) and survival of MDSCs (374). Lastly, PGE2 augments the suppressive capabilities of MDSCs in addition to its role in MDSC expansion and differentiation blockade. PGE2 upregulates arginase-1 expression in MDSCs (375). It also appears to be involved in a positive feedback loop with the upstream enzyme COX2. PGE2 increases the expression of COX2 in monocytes, blocking their differentiation into DCs converting them to M-MDSCs, and inducing endogenous PGE2 production in addition to other immunosuppressive factors (361).

### 1.5 Interleukin-17A

IL-17A is a potent inflammatory cytokine that plays a critical role in the host defence against extracellular bacterial, parasitic and fungal infections (376). Impaired IL-17A functions in mice are linked to susceptibility to a wide variety of pathogenic microbes, including *Staphylococcus aureus* (377), *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (378), *Listeria monocytogenes* (379), *Trypanosoma cruzi* (380), and *Candida albicans* (381). In humans, genetic deficiencies in IL-17A signaling also significantly increase susceptibility to chronic mucocutaneous infections caused by *C. albicans* and *S. aureus* (382). However, excessive IL-17A responses are also associated with a variety of chronic inflammatory disorders including psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis and inflammatory bowel disease among others (383). IL-17A exerts its inflammatory effects primarily through induction of downstream inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, effector molecules and antimicrobial proteins. As the IL-17A receptor complex is widely expressed throughout both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic tissues, IL-17A is a key player in shaping the systemic inflammatory environment.

### 1.5.1 The IL-17 Family

There are six members of the IL-17 family: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E and IL-17F (384). IL-17A, the eponymous cytokine of the IL-17 family, was first identified as a product of T cells that induces NF- $\kappa$ B activation and IL-6 secretion from human fibroblasts (385). It is the most completely characterized member of the IL-17 family and is well known to promote systemic inflammatory responses. IL-17F is most similar to IL-17A and shares approximately 50% sequence homology (386). Both cytokines are produced individually as covalent homodimers or as IL-17A/F heterodimers that share many similar functions (387, 388). Together, IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-17A/F all signal through the same receptor complex composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC (389, 390). However, the signaling potency of IL-17A is substantially greater than IL-17F, with the IL-17A/F heterodimer exhibiting an intermediate phenotype (388). Interestingly, the individual receptor subunits have differential affinities for IL-17A and IL-17F. IL-17RA binds with high affinity to IL-17A but extremely low affinity to IL-17F, whereas IL-17RC binds IL-17F with greater affinity than IL-17A (389). The expression patterns of IL-17RA and IL-17RC also appear to be reciprocal. In contrast to IL-17RA, which is highly expressed in lymphoid tissues such as the spleen, liver, thymus, lymph nodes, IL-17RC is highly expressed in the intestines and glandular tissue including the adrenal glands, prostate and thyroid (385, 389, 391). Although IL-17A and IL-17F share many overlapping and similar functions, these differences in receptor binding affinity and tissue expression may explain why IL-17A and IL-17F do not always act in a functionally redundant manner. In general, IL-17A appears to have a more central role in promoting autoimmunity and IL-17F contributes to airway hypersensitivity and allergy (392), though both are involved in anti-microbial responses (391).

The other IL-17 family members IL-17B, IL-17C and IL-17D remain poorly characterized. They are classified as inflammatory cytokines based on their ability to stimulate neutrophil responses or induce expression of pro-inflammatory genes (393-396), though their functions in many disease states remain unknown. IL-17B signals through the IL-17RB receptor but the signal transduction pathway has yet to be defined. IL-17C binds to the heterodimeric receptor IL-17RA/IL-17RE and regulates immune responses in epithelial cells in an autocrine fashion (395, 397). IL-17D is the least

characterized member of the IL-17 family and can be found in the brain, heart, lungs, pancreas, muscle and adipose tissue (396). Its receptor has yet to be identified.

The final member of the IL-17 family, IL-17E, is also known as the Th2-promoting cytokine IL-25 (398). IL-25 is expressed in a wide variety of cell types, including both immune and non-immune cells, and signals through IL-17RB in complex with IL-17RA (399). As a strong inducer of Th2 type immune response (e.g. IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13), IL-25 is critical in the defense against parasitic infections but also effectively limits intestinal inflammation (400). Interestingly, IL-25 has the lowest homology to the IL-17 family, and unlike other members, actively limits Th17 cell differentiation by promoting IL-13 production by activated DCs (401).

#### 1.5.2 Sources of IL-17A

IL-17A is the signature cytokine produced by the Th17 subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T cells (402, 403). Th17 differentiation from naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is driven by the combination of TGF $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-21 (376), which induce the expression of the 'master regulator' transcription factor ROR $\gamma$ T (404). ROR $\gamma$ T expression is required for IL-17A production and for upregulation of the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R), a hallmark surface marker for Th17 cells. IL-23 signaling through its receptor is crucial to stabilize the lineage commitment of developing Th17 cells and for their maintenance in the periphery (376). In humans, Th17 cells are long-lived effector memory T (T<sub>EM</sub>) cells with a high capacity for self-renewal (405). These cells are a terminally differentiated population of memory cells (*i.e.* antigen-experienced) that are capable of rapid effector function upon re-activation. In addition to IL-17A, Th17 cells also secrete copious amounts of IL-17F, IL-21, IL-22, GM-CSF, and TNF $\alpha$  (376). Due to their inflammatory nature, Th17 cells not only play an

important role in the clearance of extracellular microbes, particularly at mucosal surfaces, but also drive inflammatory pathology in autoimmune diseases.

Importantly, IL-17A is also produced by a host of other immune cells given the right inflammatory context. Most prominently, innate-like T lymphocytes like  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are a rapid source of IL-17A due to their constitutive expression of IL-23R and ROR $\gamma$ T (406). They can be activated solely by innate cytokine-driven signals in the absence of TCR engagement and are highly enriched at mucosal surfaces providing first-line defence against invading pathogens. Similarly, Th17-like *i*NKT cells (discussed previously) produce IL-17A when stimulated with their lipid agonists (286). The recently discovered innate lymphoid cell (ILC) lineage also contains a subset of IL-17A producing cells known as group 3 ILCs (407). This group of ILCs is reliant on ROR $\gamma$ T for development and consists of lymphoid tissue inducer cells, responsible for the formation of secondary lymphoid organs, and ILC3s, which are innate immune cells that express the NK cell marker NKp46 yet do not have a cytolytic capacity. Lastly, several innate immune myeloid cells have also been reported to produce IL-17A, including neutrophils (408), monocytes (409) and mast cells (410).

# 1.5.3 Signaling Pathway

Typically, Th1- and Th2-type cytokines signal through JAK-STAT pathways, which promote Th cell differentiation in addition to facilitating effector functions. Instead, IL-17A signaling is more similar to innate immune pathways such as the IL-1 family or TLR ligands. IL-17 family receptors encode conserved cytoplasmic motifs with distinct homology to Toll/IL-1R (TIR) domains, known as SEF/IL-17R (SEFIR) domains (411). Just as TIR domains are essential for the binding of intracellular adaptor MYD88 for IL- 1/TLR signaling, the binding of IL-17A to its receptor complex recruits the signaling adaptor molecule ACT1 via SEFIR domain interactions (412). ACT1 serves both as an adaptor molecule and an E3 ubiquitin ligase, recruiting and ubiqutinating TNFRassociated factors (TRAFs), including TRAF6 (413). TRAF6 is a critical signaling molecule facilitating the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and several MAPK pathways such as extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK), p38 and JNK (414). IL-17A signaling also activates the CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins (C/EBPs) C/EBPβ and C/EBPδ, which act in concert with NF- $\kappa$ B to induce IL-17A target genes (415, 416). Furthermore, ACT1 recruits TRAFs 2 and 5 that promote the activation of the RNA-binding protein Hur, which stabilizes the mRNA of both IL-17A and other downstream effector genes (417, 418).

#### 1.5.4 Inflammation

As the direct targets of IL-17A signaling include a host of cytokines, chemokines and inflammatory effector molecules, IL-17A is clearly a potent inducer of systemic inflammatory responses. In fact, the inflammatory cytokine IL-6 is one of the earliest known gene targets of IL-17A (419) and its production still remains the standard bioassay for measuring IL-17A activity. IL-17A signaling triggers a positive feedback loop of IL-6 expression (420) thus amplifying both Th17 cell differentiation and activation of the acute phase response. IL-17A directly stimulates the production of a variety of inflammatory cytokines including TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8 and IL-12 from macrophages and DCs (421, 422). Further, IL-17A induces COX-2 and microsomal prostaglandin E-synthase expression that catalyze the production of the inflammatory mediator PGE2 (423, 424). Many non-hematopoietic cell types such epithelial cells, endothelial cells and fibroblasts express the IL-17RA/C complex and thus are among the main targets of IL-17A. Stimulation of these cells by IL-17A induces the secretion of IL-6, IL-8, G-CSF and PGE2 (419). Endothelial cells also respond to IL-17A by increasing the expression of tissue factor, which promotes coagulopathy (425). Epithelial, endothelial and mesenchymal cells are important sources of chemokines induced by IL-17A, such as the neutrophil chemoattractants CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5 and CXCL8/IL-8 (426). Neutrophil responses are also further bolstered by IL-17A through the production of G-CSF, which promotes granulopoiesis and neutrophil accumulation (427). Importantly, IL-17A plays a critical role in triggering granulopoiesis and neutrophil recruitment that is required for host defence against microbial pathogens, such as *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (428). Other chemokine targets of IL-17A include CCL2 and CCL20, which mediate monocyte and dendritic cell migration to inflamed tissue (429, 430), and CXCL9-12, which are potent T cell chemoattractants (431, 432).

A major factor potentiating the inflammatory effects of IL-17A is a strong synergism with other cytokines in regulating its downstream targets. IL-17A induces IL-6 production synergistically with IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-22, and in particular, TNF $\alpha$  (426). The underlying molecular mechanisms for this synergy are not completely understood and likely involve multiple factors. First, IL-17A enhances the mRNA stability of cytokines and chemokines that contain AU-rich elements in their 3' untranslated region (433, 434). Similarly, IL-17A markedly enhances TNF $\alpha$ -induced IL-6 mRNA expression resulting in significantly augmented protein production (435). IL-17A-mediated stabilization of mRNA has also been demonstrated for G-CSF, GM-CSF, CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5, IL- 8 and COX-2 (426). A second potential mechanism of synergy is the convergence of IL-17A and other cytokine signaling pathways at the level of target gene transcription. Both IL-17A and TNF $\alpha$  upregulate the IL-6 promoter through the cooperative activation of the transcription factors C/EBP $\delta$  and NF- $\kappa$ B (416). Many IL-17A-target genes have promoters that contain binding sites for C/EBP $\delta$  and NF- $\kappa$ B suggesting this may be the case for a variety of IL-17A-induced products (415). Lastly, IL-17A can regulate the expression of cytokine receptors, including TNFR II, to enhance the signaling capacity of inflammatory cytokines (436). In a similar fashion, the synergy between IL-17A and IL-22 in the production of IL-20 subfamily cytokines is due to the upregulation of the IL22R (437). IL17A and IL-22 also synergize in the production of S100A8/9 proteins, though the exact mechanism facilitating this process is unknown (438). It should be noted that although IL-17A itself is a relatively modest inducer of NF- $\kappa$ B *in vitro* (384), due to its synergistic functions with other cytokines it can play a critical role in mediating inflammation or anti-microbial immunity *in vivo*.

# 1.6 References

- Moet, G. J., Jones, R. N., Biedenbach, D. J., Stilwell, M. G., and Fritsche, T. R. 2007. Contemporary causes of skin and soft tissue infections in North America, Latin America, and Europe: report from the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program (1998-2004). *Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 57: 7-13.
- 2. Wertheim, H. F., Melles, D. C., Vos, M. C., van Leeuwen, W., van Belkum, A., Verbrugh, H. A., and Nouwen, J. L. 2005. The role of nasal carriage in *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **5**: 751-762.
- 3. Larkin, E. A., Carman, R. J., Krakauer, T., and Stiles, B. G. 2009. *Staphylococcus aureus*: the toxic presence of a pathogen extraordinaire. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **16**: 4003-4019.
- 4. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 5. Murray, R. J. 2005. Recognition and management of *Staphylococcus aureus* toxin-mediated disease. *Intern. Med. J.* **35 Suppl 2**: S106-S119.
- 6. Descloux, E., Perpoint, T., Ferry, T., Lina, G., Bes, M., Vandenesch, F., Mohammedi, I., and Etienne, J. 2008. One in five mortality in non-menstrual toxic shock syndrome versus no mortality in menstrual cases in a balanced French series of 55 cases. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* **27**: 37-43.
- 7. Todd, J., Fishaut, M., Kapral, F., and Welch, T. 1978. Toxic-shock syndrome associated with phage-group-I staphylococci. *Lancet* **312**: 1116-1118.
- Shands, K. N., Schmid, G. P., Dan, B. B., Blum, D., Guidotti, R. J., Hargrett, N. T., Anderson, R. L., Hill, D. L., Broome, C. V., Band, J. D., and Fraser, D. W. 1980. Toxic-shock syndrome in menstruating women: association with tampon use and *Staphylococcus aureus* and clinical features in 52 cases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 303: 1436-1442.
- 9. Davis, J. P., Chesney, P. J., Wand, P. J., and LaVenture, M. 1980. Toxic-Shock Syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **303**: 1429-1435.
- 10. Schlech, W. F., Iii, Shands, K. N., Reingold, A. L., and et al. 1982. Risk factors for development of toxic shock syndrome: Association with a tampon brand. *JAMA* **248**: 835-839.
- 11. Bergdoll, M. S., Crass, B. A., Reiser, R. F., Robbins, R. N., and Davis, J. P. 1981. A new staphylococcal enterotoxin, enterotoxin F, associated with toxic-shocksyndrome *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. *Lancet* 1: 1017-1021.

- 12. Schlievert, P. M., Shands, K. N., Dan, B. B., Schmid, G. P., and Nishimura, R. D. 1981. Identification and characterization of an exotoxin from *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with toxic-shock syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* **143**: 509-516.
- 13. Choi, Y. W., Kotzin, B., Herron, L., Callahan, J., Marrack, P., and Kappler, J. 1989. Interaction of *Staphylococcus aureus* toxin "superantigens" with human T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **86**: 8941-8945.
- 14. Chesney, P. J., Davis, J. P., Purdy, W. K., Wand, P. J., and Chesney, R. W. 1981. Clinical manifestations of toxic shock syndrome. *JAMA* **246**: 741-748.
- 15. Reingold, A. L., Dan, B. B., Shands, K. N., and Broome, C. V. 1982. Toxic-shock syndrome not associated with menstruation. A review of 54 cases. *Lancet* 1: 1-4.
- Wagner, G., Bohr, L., Wagner, P., and Petersen, L. N. 1984. Tampon-induced changes in vaginal oxygen and carbon dioxide tensions. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 148: 147-150.
- Hill, D. R., Brunner, M. E., Schmitz, D. C., Davis, C. C., Flood, J. A., Schlievert, P. M., Wang-Weigand, S. Z., and Osborn, T. W. 2005. In vivo assessment of human vaginal oxygen and carbon dioxide levels during and post menses. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **99**: 1582-1591.
- Shands, K. N., Schmid, G. P., Dan, B. B., Blum, D., Guidotti, R. J., Hargrett, N. T., Anderson, R. L., Hill, D. L., Broome, C. V., Band, J. D., and Fraser, D. W. 1980. Toxic-shock syndrome in menstruating women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 303: 1436-1442.
- 19. Schlievert, P. M., Jablonski, L. M., Roggiani, M., Sadler, I., Callantine, S., Mitchell, D. T., Ohlendorf, D. H., and Bohach, G. A. 2000. Pyrogenic toxin superantigen site specificity in toxic shock syndrome and food poisoning in animals. *Infect. Immun.* **68**: 3630-3634.
- 20. Hamad, A. R., Marrack, P., and Kappler, J. W. 1997. Transcytosis of staphylococcal superantigen toxins. *J. Exp. Med.* **185**: 1447-1454.
- Kuehnert, M. J., Kruszon-Moran, D., Hill, H. A., McQuillan, G., McAllister, S. K., Fosheim, G., McDougal, L. K., Chaitram, J., Jensen, B., Fridkin, S. K., Killgore, G., and Tenover, F. C. 2006. Prevalence of *Staphylococcus aureus* nasal colonization in the United States, 2001-2002. *J. Infect. Dis.* 193: 172-179.
- 22. Wharton, M., Chorba, T. L., Vogt, R. L., Morse, D. L., and Buehler, J. W. 1990. Case definitions for public health surveillance. *MMWR Recomm. Rep.* **39**: 1-43.
- 23. Kain, K. C., Schulzer, M., and Chow, A. W. 1993. Clinical spectrum of nonmenstrual toxic shock syndrome (TSS): comparison with menstrual TSS by multivariate discriminant analyses. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **16**: 100-106.

- 24. Hajjeh, R. A., Reingold, A., Weil, A., Shutt, K., Schuchat, A., and Perkins, B. A. 1999. Toxic shock syndrome in the United States: surveillance update, 1979 1996. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **5**: 807-810.
- 25. Reingold, A., Shands, K., Dan, B., and Broome, C. 1982. Toxic-shock syndrome not associated with menstruation. *Lancet* **319**: 1-4.
- 26. MacDonald, K. L., Osterholm, M. T., Hedberg, C. W., and et al. 1987. Toxic shock syndrome: A newly recognized complication of influenza and influenzalike illness. *JAMA* **257**: 1053-1058.
- 27. Brown, A. P., Khan, K., and Sinclair, S. 2003. Bacterial toxicosis/toxic shock syndrome as a contributor to morbidity in children with burn injuries. *Burns* **29**: 733-738.
- 28. Cole, R. P., and Shakespeare, P. G. 1990. Toxic shock syndrome in scalded children. *Burns* 16: 221-224.
- 29. Frame, J. D., Eve, M. D., Hackett, M. E. J., Dowsett, E. G., Brain, A. N., Gault, D. T., and Wilmshurst, A. D. 1985. The toxic shock syndrome in burned children. *Burns* **11**: 234-241.
- 30. Cone, L. A., Woodard, D. R., Byrd, R. G., Schulz, K., Kopp, S. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 1992. A recalcitrant, erythematous, desquamating disorder associated with toxin-producing staphylococci in patients with AIDS. *J. Infect. Dis.* **165**: 638-643.
- 31. Kravitz, G. R., Dries, D. J., Peterson, M. L., and Schlievert, P. M. 2005. Purpura fulminans due to *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **40**: 941-947.
- 32. Assimacopoulos, A. P., Strandberg, K. L., Rotschafer, J. H., and Schlievert, P. M. 2009. Extreme pyrexia and rapid death due to *Staphylococcus aureus* infection: analysis of 2 cases. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **48**: 612-614.
- 33. Kotler, D. P., Sandkovsky, U., Schlievert, P. M., and Sordillo, E. M. 2007. Toxic shock-like syndrome associated with staphylococcal enterocolitis in an HIV-infected man. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **44**: e121-123.
- 34. Crass, B. A., and Bergdoll, M. S. 1986. Involvement of staphylococcal enterotoxins in nonmenstrual toxic shock syndrome. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **23**: 1138-1139.
- 35. Bohach, G. A., Fast, D. J., Nelson, R. D., and Schlievert, P. M. 1990. Staphylococcal and streptococcal pyrogenic toxins involved in toxic shock syndrome and related illnesses. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* **17**: 251-272.
- 36. Schlievert, P. 1986. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B and toxic-shock syndrome toxin-1 are significantly associated with non-menstrual TSS. *Lancet* **327**: 1149-1150.
- 37. Osterholm, M. T., and Forfang, J. C. 1982. Toxic-shock syndrome in Minnesota: results of an active-passive surveillance system. *J. Infect. Dis.* **145**: 458-464.
- Gaventa, S., Reingold, A. L., Hightower, A. W., Broome, C. V., Schwartz, B., Hoppe, C., Harwell, J., Lefkowitz, L. K., Makintubee, S., Cundiff, D. R., and et al. 1989. Active surveillance for toxic shock syndrome in the United States, 1986. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 11 Suppl 1: S28-34.
- 39. DeVries, A. S., Lesher, L., Schlievert, P. M., Rogers, T., Villaume, L. G., Danila, R., and Lynfield, R. 2011. Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome 2000–2006: epidemiology, clinical Features, and molecular characteristics. *PLoS One* **6**.
- 40. Cone, L. A., Woodard, D. R., Schlievert, P. M., and Tomory, G. S. 1987. Clinical and bacteriologic observations of a toxic shock-like syndrome due to Streptococcus pyogenes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **317**: 146-149.
- 41. Bartter, T. 1988. 'Toxic Strep Syndrome'. Arch. Intern. Med. 148: 1421.
- 42. Stevens, D. L., Tanner, M. H., Winship, J., Swarts, R., Ries, K. M., Schlievert, P. M., and Kaplan, E. 1989. Severe group A streptococcal infections associated with a toxic shock-like syndrome and scarlet fever toxin A. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **321**: 1-7.
- 43. Demers, B., Simor, A. E., Vellend, H., Schlievert, P. M., Byrne, S., Jamieson, F., Walmsley, S., and Low, D. E. 1993. Severe invasive group A streptococcal infections in Ontario, Canada: 1987-1991. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **16**: 792-800; discussion 801-792.
- 44. Musser, J. M., Hauser, A. R., Kim, M. H., Schlievert, P. M., Nelson, K., and Selander, R. K. 1991. Streptococcus pyogenes causing toxic-shock-like syndrome and other invasive diseases: clonal diversity and pyrogenic exotoxin expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **88**: 2668-2672.
- 45. Talkington, D. F., Schwartz, B., Black, C. M., Todd, J. K., Elliott, J., Breiman, R. F., and Facklam, R. R. 1993. Association of phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of invasive Streptococcus pyogenes isolates with clinical components of streptococcal toxic shock syndrome. *Infect. Immun.* **61**: 3369-3374.
- 46. Luca-Harari, B., Ekelund, K., van der Linden, M., Staum-Kaltoft, M., Hammerum, A. M., and Jasir, A. 2008. Clinical and epidemiological aspects of invasive Streptococcus pyogenes infections in Denmark during 2003 and 2004. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **46**: 79-86.

- Lamagni, T. L., Darenberg, J., Luca-Harari, B., Siljander, T., Efstratiou, A., Henriques-Normark, B., Vuopio-Varkila, J., Bouvet, A., Creti, R., Ekelund, K., Koliou, M., Reinert, R. R., Stathi, A., Strakova, L., Ungureanu, V., Schalen, C., Strep, E. S. G., and Jasir, A. 2008. Epidemiology of severe Streptococcus pyogenes disease in Europe. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46: 2359-2367.
- 48. Low, D. E. 2013. Toxic shock syndrome: major advances in pathogenesis, but not treatment. *Crit. Care Clin.* **29**: 651-675.
- 49. Silversides, J. A., Lappin, E., and Ferguson, A. J. 2010. Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome: mechanisms and management. *Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep.* **12**: 392-400.
- 50. Stolz, S. J., Davis, J. P., Vergeront, J. M., Crass, B. A., Chesney, P. J., Wand, P. J., and Bergdoll, M. S. 1985. Development of serum antibody to toxic shock toxin among individuals with toxic shock syndrome in Wisconsin. *J. Infect. Dis.* **151**: 883-889.
- 51. Basma, H., Norrby-Teglund, A., Guedez, Y., McGeer, A., Low, D. E., El-Ahmedy, O., Schwartz, B., and Kotb, M. 1999. Risk factors in the pathogenesis of invasive group A streptococcal infections: role of protective humoral immunity. *Infect. Immun.* **67**: 1871-1877.
- 52. Parsonnet, J., Hansmann, M. A., Delaney, M. L., Modern, P. A., Dubois, A. M., Wieland-Alter, W., Wissemann, K. W., Wild, J. E., Jones, M. B., Seymour, J. L., and Onderdonk, A. B. 2005. Prevalence of toxic shock syndrome toxin 1-producing *Staphylococcus aureus* and the presence of antibodies to this superantigen in menstruating women. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **43**: 4628-4634.
- 53. Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Use of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of staphylococcal and streptococcal toxic shock syndromes and related illnesses. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **108**: S107-110.
- Lamothe, F., D'Amico, P., Ghosn, P., Tremblay, C., Braidy, J., and Patenaude, J. V. 1995. Clinical usefulness of intravenous human immunoglobulins in invasive group A Streptococcal infections: case report and review. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 21: 1469-1470.
- 55. Kaul, R., McGeer, A., Norrby-Teglund, A., Kotb, M., Schwartz, B., O'Rourke, K., Talbot, J., and Low, D. E. 1999. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy for streptococcal toxic shock syndrome--a comparative observational study. The Canadian Streptococcal Study Group. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **28**: 800-807.
- Cawley, M. J., Briggs, M., Haith, L. R., Reilly, K. J., Guilday, R. E., Braxton, G. R., and Patton, M. L. 1999. Intravenous immunoglobulin as adjunctive treatment for streptococcal toxic shock syndrome associated with necrotizing fasciitis: case report and review. *Pharmacotherapy* 19: 1094-1098.

- 57. Darenberg, J., Ihendyane, N., Sjolin, J., Aufwerber, E., Haidl, S., Follin, P., Andersson, J., Norrby-Teglund, A., and StreptIg Study, G. 2003. Intravenous immunoglobulin G therapy in streptococcal toxic shock syndrome: a European randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **37**: 333-340.
- 58. Darenberg, J., Soderquist, B., Normark, B. H., and Norrby-Teglund, A. 2004. Differences in potency of intravenous polyspecific immunoglobulin G against streptococcal and staphylococcal superantigens: implications for therapy of toxic shock syndrome. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **38**: 836-842.
- 59. Basma, H., Norrby-Teglund, A., McGeer, A., Low, D. E., El-Ahmedy, O., Dale, J. B., Schwartz, B., and Kotb, M. 1998. Opsonic antibodies to the surface M protein of group A streptococci in pooled normal immunoglobulins (IVIG): potential impact on the clinical efficacy of IVIG therapy for severe invasive group A streptococcal infections. *Infect. Immun.* 66: 2279-2283.
- 60. Samuelsson, A., Towers, T. L., and Ravetch, J. V. 2001. Anti-inflammatory activity of IVIG mediated through the inhibitory Fc receptor. *Science* **291**: 484-486.
- 61. Kato, K., Sakamoto, T., and Ito, K. 2007. Gamma-globulin inhibits superantigeninduced lymphocyte proliferation and cytokine production. *Allergol. Int.* **56**: 439-444.
- 62. Lin, Y. C., and Peterson, M. L. 2010. New insights into the prevention of staphylococcal infections and toxic shock syndrome. *Expert Rev. Clin. Pharmacol.* **3**: 753-767.
- 63. Krakauer, T. 2013. Update on staphylococcal superantigen-induced signaling pathways and therapeutic interventions. *Toxins (Basel)* **5**: 1629-1654.
- 64. Spaulding, A. R., Salgado-Pabon, W., Kohler, P. L., Horswill, A. R., Leung, D. Y., and Schlievert, P. M. 2013. Staphylococcal and streptococcal superantigen exotoxins. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **26**: 422-447.
- 65. Xu, S. X., and McCormick, J. K. 2012. Staphylococcal superantigens in colonization and disease. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **2**: 52.
- Lina, G., Bohach, G. A., Nair, S. P., Hiramatsu, K., Jouvin-Marche, E., Mariuzza, R., and International Nomenclature Committee for Staphylococcal, S. 2004. Standard nomenclature for the superantigens expressed by Staphylococcus. J. Infect. Dis. 189: 2334-2336.
- Boubou, M. I., Collette, A., Voegtle, D., Mazier, D., Cazenave, P. A., and Pied, S. 1999. T cell response in malaria pathogenesis: selective increase in T cells carrying the TCR V(beta)8 during experimental cerebral malaria. *Int. Immunol.* 11: 1553-1562.

- 68. Bowness, P., Moss, P. A., Tranter, H., Bell, J. I., and McMichael, A. J. 1992. Clostridium perfringens enterotoxin is a superantigen reactive with human T cell receptors V beta 6.9 and V beta 22. *J. Exp. Med.* **176**: 893-896.
- 69. Denkers, E. Y., Caspar, P., and Sher, A. 1994. Toxoplasma gondii possesses a superantigen activity that selectively expands murine T cell receptor V beta 5-bearing CD8+ lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **180**: 985-994.
- 70. Ito, Y., Abe, J., Yoshino, K., Takeda, T., and Kohsaka, T. 1995. Sequence analysis of the gene for a novel superantigen produced by Yersinia pseudotuberculosis and expression of the recombinant protein. *J. Immunol.* **154**: 5896-5906.
- 71. Stuart, P. M., Munn, R. K., DeMoll, E., and Woodward, J. G. 1995. Characterization of human T-cell responses to Yersinia enterocolitica superantigen. *Hum. Immunol.* **43**: 269-275.
- 72. Mitchell, D. T., Levitt, D. G., Schlievert, P. M., and Ohlendorf, D. H. 2000. Structural evidence for the evolution of pyrogenic toxin superantigens. *J. Mol. Evol.* **51**: 520-531.
- 73. White, J., Herman, A., Pullen, A. M., Kubo, R., Kappler, J. W., and Marrack, P. 1989. The V beta-specific superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B: stimulation of mature T cells and clonal deletion in neonatal mice. *Cell* **56**: 27-35.
- 74. Fleischer, B., and Schrezenmeier, H. 1988. T cell stimulation by staphylococcal enterotoxins. Clonally variable response and requirement for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules on accessory or target cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **167**: 1697-1707.
- 75. Dellabona, P., Peccoud, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. 1990. Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. *Cell* **62**: 1115-1121.
- Choi, Y., Lafferty, J. A., Clements, J. R., Todd, J. K., Gelfand, E. W., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., and Kotzin, B. L. 1990. Selective expansion of T cells expressing V beta 2 in toxic shock syndrome. *J. Exp. Med.* 172: 981-984.
- Ferry, T., Thomas, D., Perpoint, T., Lina, G., Monneret, G., Mohammedi, I., Chidiac, C., Peyramond, D., Vandenesch, F., and Etienne, J. 2008. Analysis of superantigenic toxin Vbeta T-cell signatures produced during cases of staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome and septic shock. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 14: 546-554.
- 78. Arad, G., Levy, R., Nasie, I., Hillman, D., Rotfogel, Z., Barash, U., Supper, E., Shpilka, T., Minis, A., and Kaempfer, R. 2011. Binding of superantigen toxins into the CD28 homodimer interface is essential for induction of cytokine genes that mediate lethal shock. *PLoS Biol.* **9**.

- 79. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- Hovde, C. J., Marr, J. C., Hoffmann, M. L., Hackett, S. P., Chi, Y. I., Crum, K. K., Stevens, D. L., Stauffacher, C. V., and Bohach, G. A. 1994. Investigation of the role of the disulphide bond in the activity and structure of staphylococcal enterotoxin C1. *Mol. Microbiol.* 13: 897-909.
- 81. Kim, J., Urban, R. G., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. 1994. Toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 complexed with a class II major histocompatibility molecule HLA-DR1. *Science* **266**: 1870-1874.
- 82. Wen, R., Cole, G. A., Surman, S., Blackman, M. A., and Woodland, D. L. 1996. Major histocompatibility complex class II-associated peptides control the presentation of bacterial superantigens to T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **183**: 1083-1092.
- 83. Nur-ur Rahman, A. K., Bonsor, D. A., Herfst, C. A., Pollard, F., Peirce, M., Wyatt, A. W., Kasper, K. J., Madrenas, J., Sundberg, E. J., and McCormick, J. K. 2011. The T cell receptor beta-chain second complementarity determining region loop (CDR2beta governs T cell activation and Vbeta specificity by bacterial superantigens. J. Biol. Chem. 286: 4871-4881.
- 84. Jardetzky, T. S., Brown, J. H., Gorga, J. C., Stern, L. J., Urban, R. G., Chi, Y. I., Stauffacher, C., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. 1994. Three-dimensional structure of a human class II histocompatibility molecule complexed with superantigen. *Nature* **368**: 711-718.
- Papageorgiou, A. C., Collins, C. M., Gutman, D. M., Kline, J. B., O'Brien, S. M., Tranter, H. S., and Acharya, K. R. 1999. Structural basis for the recognition of superantigen streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin A (SpeA1) by MHC class II molecules and T-cell receptors. *EMBO J.* 18: 9-21.
- Li, H., Llera, A., Tsuchiya, D., Leder, L., Ysern, X., Schlievert, P. M., Karjalainen, K., and Mariuzza, R. A. 1998. Three-dimensional structure of the complex between a T cell receptor beta chain and the superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Immunity* 9: 807-816.
- 87. Fields, B. A., Malchiodi, E. L., Li, H., Ysern, X., Stauffacher, C. V., Schlievert, P. M., Karjalainen, K., and Mariuzza, R. A. 1996. Crystal structure of a T-cell receptor β-chain complexed with a superantigen. *Nature* **384**: 188-192.
- 88. Sundberg, E. J., Li, Y., and Mariuzza, R. A. 2002. So many ways of getting in the way: diversity in the molecular architecture of superantigen-dependent T-cell signaling complexes. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **14**: 36-44.
- 89. Argudín, M. Á., Mendoza, M. C., and Rodicio, M. R. 2010. Food poisoning and *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxins. *Toxins (Basel)* **2**: 1751-1773.

- 90. Hudson, K. R. 1995. Staphylococcal enterotoxin A has two cooperative binding sites on major histocompatibility complex class II. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**: 711-720.
- 91. Fraser, J. D., Urban, R. G., Strominger, J. L., and Robinson, H. 1992. Zinc regulates the function of two superantigens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **89**: 5507-5511.
- 92. Al-Daccak, R., Mehindate, K., Damdoumi, F., Etongué-Mayer, P., Nilsson, H., Antonsson, P., Sundström, M., Dohlsten, M., Sékaly, R.-P., and Mourad, W. 1998. Staphylococcal enterotoxin D is a promiscuous superantigen offering multiple modes of interactions with the MHC class II receptors. *J. Immunol.* 160: 225-232.
- 93. Munson, S. H., Tremaine, M. T., Betley, M. J., and Welch, R. A. 1998. Identification and characterization of staphylococcal enterotoxin types G and I from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Immun.* **66**: 3337-3348.
- 94. Nilsson, H., Björk, P., Dohlsten, M., and Antonsson, P. 1999. Staphylococcal enterotoxin H displays unique MHC class II-binding properties. *J. Immunol.* **163**: 6686-6693.
- 95. Fraser, J. D., and Proft, T. 2008. The bacterial superantigen and superantigen-like proteins. *Immunol. Rev.* **225**: 226-243.
- 96. Li, Y., Li, H., Dimasi, N., McCormick, J. K., Martin, R., Schuck, P., Schlievert, P. M., and Mariuzza, R. A. 2001. Crystal structure of a superantigen bound to the high-affinity, zinc-dependent site on MHC class II. *Immunity* 14: 93-104.
- 97. Fernandez, M. M., Guan, R., Swaminathan, C. P., Malchiodi, E. L., and Mariuzza, R. A. 2006. Crystal structure of staphylococcal enterotoxin I (SEI) in complex with a human major histocompatibility complex class II molecule. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281: 25356-25364.
- 98. Zinkernagel, R. M., and Doherty, P. C. 1974. Restriction of in vitro T cellmediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. *Nature* **248**: 701-702.
- 99. Jenkins, M. K., and Moon, J. J. 2012. The role of naive T cell precursor frequency and recruitment in dictating immune response magnitude. *J. Immunol.* **188**: 4135-4140.
- 100. Fraser, J., Arcus, V., Kong, P., Baker, E., and Proft, T. 2000. Superantigens powerful modifiers of the immune system. *Mol. Med. Today* **6**: 125-132.
- 101. Morgan, M. M., Labno, C. M., Van Seventer, G. A., Denny, M. F., Straus, D. B., and Burkhardt, J. K. 2001. Superantigen-induced T cell:B cell conjugation is mediated by LFA-1 and requires signaling through Lck, but not ZAP-70. J. Immunol. 167: 5708-5718.

- 102. Smith-Garvin, J. E., Koretzky, G. A., and Jordan, M. S. 2009. T cell activation. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27: 591-619.
- 103. Arad, G., Levy, R., Nasie, I., Hillman, D., Rotfogel, Z., Barash, U., Supper, E., Shpilka, T., Minis, A., and Kaempfer, R. 2011. Binding of superantigen toxins into the CD28 homodimer interface is essential for induction of cytokine genes that mediate lethal shock. *PLoS Biol.* **9**: e1001149.
- 104. Acuto, O., and Michel, F. 2003. CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **3**: 939-951.
- 105. Murphy, K., and Weaver, C. 2016. Janeway's Immunobiology. Garland Science.
- Curtsinger, J. M., Schmidt, C. S., Mondino, A., Lins, D. C., Kedl, R. M., Jenkins, M. K., and Mescher, M. F. 1999. Inflammatory cytokines provide a third signal for activation of naive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J. Immunol.* 162: 3256-3262.
- 107. Bueno, C., Lemke, C. D., Criado, G., Baroja, M. L., Ferguson, S. S., Rahman, A. K., Tsoukas, C. D., McCormick, J. K., and Madrenas, J. 2006. Bacterial superantigens bypass Lck-dependent T cell receptor signaling by activating a Galpha11-dependent, PLC-beta-mediated pathway. *Immunity* 25: 67-78.
- 108. Bueno, C., Criado, G., McCormick, J. K., and Madrenas, J. 2007. T cell signalling induced by bacterial superantigens. *Chem. Immunol. Allergy* **93**: 161-180.
- 109. Kum, W. W., Cameron, S. B., Hung, R. W., Kalyan, S., and Chow, A. W. 2001. Temporal sequence and kinetics of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion induced by toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Infect. Immun.* **69**: 7544-7549.
- 110. Krakauer, T. 1995. Inhibition of toxic shock syndrome toxin-1-induced cytokine production and T cell activation by interleukin-10, interleukin-4, and dexamethasone. *J. Infect. Dis.* **172**: 988-992.
- 111. Bradley, J. R. 2008. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J. Pathol. 214: 149-160.
- 112. Chen, G., and Goeddel, D. V. 2002. TNF-R1 signaling: a beautiful pathway. *Science* **296**: 1634-1635.
- 113. Aird, W. C. 2003. The role of the endothelium in severe sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Blood* **101**: 3765-3777.
- 114. Schulte, W., Bernhagen, J., and Bucala, R. 2013. Cytokines in sepsis: potent immunoregulators and potential therapeutic targets--an updated view. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013: 165974.

- 115. Bhatia, M., and Moochhala, S. 2004. Role of inflammatory mediators in the pathophysiology of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *J. Pathol.* **202**: 145-156.
- 116. Selby, P., Hobbs, S., Viner, C., Jackson, E., Jones, A., Newell, D., Calvert, A. H., McElwain, T., Fearon, K., Humphreys, J., and et al. 1987. Tumour necrosis factor in man: clinical and biological observations. *Br. J. Cancer* **56**: 803-808.
- 117. Sherman, M. L., Spriggs, D. R., Arthur, K. A., Imamura, K., Frei, E., 3rd, and Kufe, D. W. 1988. Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor administered as a five-day continuous infusion in cancer patients: phase I toxicity and effects on lipid metabolism. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **6**: 344-350.
- van der Poll, T., Buller, H. R., ten Cate, H., Wortel, C. H., Bauer, K. A., van Deventer, S. J., Hack, C. E., Sauerwein, H. P., Rosenberg, R. D., and ten Cate, J. W. 1990. Activation of coagulation after administration of tumor necrosis factor to normal subjects. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **322**: 1622-1627.
- 119. Weber, A., Wasiliew, P., and Kracht, M. 2010. Interleukin-1 (IL-1) pathway. *Sci. Signal.* **3**: cm1.
- 120. Dinarello, C. A. 1997. Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines as mediators in the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Chest* **112**: 321S-329S.
- 121. Mattsson, E., Herwald, H., and Egesten, A. 2003. Superantigens from *Staphylococcus aureus* induce procoagulant activity and monocyte tissue factor expression in whole blood and mononuclear cells via IL-1 beta. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **1**: 2569-2576.
- 122. Liu, S. F., and Malik, A. B. 2006. NF-kappa B activation as a pathological mechanism of septic shock and inflammation. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* **290**: L622-L645.
- 123. Okusawa, S., Gelfand, J. A., Ikejima, T., Connolly, R. J., and Dinarello, C. A. 1988. Interleukin 1 induces a shock-like state in rabbits. Synergism with tumor necrosis factor and the effect of cyclooxygenase inhibition. *J. Clin. Invest.* **81**: 1162-1172.
- 124. Lappin, E., and Ferguson, A. J. 2009. Gram-positive toxic shock syndromes. Lancet Infect. Dis. 9: 281-290.
- 125. Zingarelli, B. 2005. Nuclear factor-kappaB. Crit. Care Med. 33: S414-416.
- 126. Hunter, C. A., and Jones, S. A. 2015. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. *Nat. Immunol.* **16**: 448-457.
- 127. Dinarello, C. A. 2004. Infection, fever, and exogenous and endogenous pyrogens: some concepts have changed. *J. Endotoxin Res.* **10**: 201-222.

- 128. Moshage, H. 1997. Cytokines and the hepatic acute phase response. *J. Pathol.* **181**: 257-266.
- 129. Seishima, M., Kato, G., Shibuya, Y., and Matsukawa, S. 2009. Cytokine profile during the clinical course of toxic shock syndrome. *Clin. Exp. Dermatol.* **34**: e632-635.
- Damas, P., Ledoux, D., Nys, M., Vrindts, Y., De Groote, D., Franchimont, P., and Lamy, M. 1992. Cytokine serum level during severe sepsis in human IL-6 as a marker of severity. *Ann. Surg.* 215: 356-362.
- Schindler, R., Mancilla, J., Endres, S., Ghorbani, R., Clark, S. C., and Dinarello, C. A. 1990. Correlations and interactions in the production of interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) in human blood mononuclear cells: IL-6 suppresses IL-1 and TNF. *Blood* **75**: 40-47.
- 132. Steensberg, A., Fischer, C. P., Keller, C., Moller, K., and Pedersen, B. K. 2003. IL-6 enhances plasma IL-1ra, IL-10, and cortisol in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **285**: E433-437.
- Xing, Z., Gauldie, J., Cox, G., Baumann, H., Jordana, M., Lei, X. F., and Achong, M. K. 1998. IL-6 is an antiinflammatory cytokine required for controlling local or systemic acute inflammatory responses. *J. Clin. Invest.* 101: 311-320.
- 134. Diao, H., and Kohanawa, M. 2005. Endogenous interleukin-6 plays a crucial protective role in streptococcal toxic shock syndrome via suppression of tumor necrosis factor alpha production. *Infect. Immun.* **73**: 3745-3748.
- 135. Schroder, K., Hertzog, P. J., Ravasi, T., and Hume, D. A. 2004. Interferongamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **75**: 163-189.
- 136. Rosner, D., Stoneman, V., Littlewood, T., McCarthy, N., Figg, N., Wang, Y., Tellides, G., and Bennett, M. 2006. Interferon-gamma induces Fas trafficking and sensitization to apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells via a PI3K- and Akt-dependent mechanism. *Am. J. Pathol.* **168**: 2054-2063.
- 137. Li, J. H., Kluger, M. S., Madge, L. A., Zheng, L., Bothwell, A. L., and Pober, J. S. 2002. Interferon-gamma augments CD95(APO-1/Fas) and pro-caspase-8 expression and sensitizes human vascular endothelial cells to CD95-mediated apoptosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* **161**: 1485-1495.
- 138. McKay, D. M., and Singh, P. K. 1997. Superantigen activation of immune cells evokes epithelial (T84) transport and barrier abnormalities via IFN-gamma and TNF alpha: inhibition of increased permeability, but not diminished secretory responses by TGF-beta2. *J. Immunol.* **159**: 2382-2390.

- 139. Krakauer, T. 1998. Interleukin-8 production by human monocytic cells in response to staphylococcal exotoxins is direct and independent of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J. Infect. Dis.* **178**: 573-577.
- 140. Krakauer, T. 1999. Induction of CC chemokines in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by staphylococcal exotoxins and its prevention by pentoxifylline. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **66**: 158-164.
- 141. Peterson, M. L., Ault, K., Kremer, M. J., Klingelhutz, A. J., Davis, C. C., Squier, C. A., and Schlievert, P. M. 2005. The innate immune system is activated by stimulation of vaginal epithelial cells with *Staphylococcus aureus* and toxic shock syndrome toxin 1. *Infect. Immun.* 73: 2164-2174.
- 142. Sadik, C. D., Kim, N. D., and Luster, A. D. 2011. Neutrophils cascading their way to inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* **32**: 452-460.
- 143. Lee, P. K., Vercellotti, G. M., Deringer, J. R., and Schlievert, P. M. 1991. Effects of staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 on aortic endothelial cells. *J. Infect. Dis.* **164**: 711-719.
- 144. Mourad, W., Mehindate, K., Schall, T. J., and McColl, S. R. 1992. Engagement of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules by superantigen induces inflammatory cytokine gene expression in human rheumatoid fibroblast-like synoviocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **175**: 613-616.
- 145. Wang, H., and Ma, S. 2008. The cytokine storm and factors determining the sequence and severity of organ dysfunction in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Am. J. Emerg. Med.* **26**: 711-715.
- 146. Marshall, J. C. 2001. Inflammation, coagulopathy, and the pathogenesis of multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Crit. Care Med.* **29**: S99-106.
- 147. Niedergang, F., Hemar, A., Hewitt, C. R., Owen, M. J., Dautry-Varsat, A., and Alcover, A. 1995. The *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxin B superantigen induces specific T cell receptor down-regulation by increasing its internalization. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**: 12839-12845.
- 148. MacDonald, H. R., Baschieri, S., and Lees, R. K. 1991. Clonal expansion precedes anergy and death of V beta 8+ peripheral T cells responding to staphylococcal enterotoxin B in vivo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **21**: 1963-1966.
- 149. Wahl, C., Miethke, T., Heeg, K., and Wagner, H. 1993. Clonal deletion as direct consequence of an in vivo T cell response to bacterial superantigen. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **23**: 1197-1200.
- 150. Rellahan, B. L., Jones, L. A., Kruisbeek, A. M., Fry, A. M., and Matis, L. A. 1990. In vivo induction of anergy in peripheral V beta 8+ T cells by staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *J. Exp. Med.* **172**: 1091-1100.

- 151. Kawabe, Y., and Ochi, A. 1990. Selective anergy of V beta 8+,CD4+ T cells in Staphylococcus enterotoxin B-primed mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **172**: 1065-1070.
- 152. Heeg, K., Gaus, H., Griese, D., Bendigs, S., Miethke, T., and Wagner, H. 1995. Superantigen-reactive T cells that display an anergic phenotype in vitro appear functional in vivo. *Int. Immunol.* **7**: 105-114.
- 153. Gaus, H., Miethke, T., Wagner, H., and Heeg, K. 1994. Superantigen-induced anergy of V beta 8+ CD4+ T cells induces functional but non-proliferative T cells in vivo. *Immunology* **83**: 333-340.
- 154. Baschieri, S., Lees, R. K., Lussow, A. R., and MacDonald, H. R. 1993. Clonal anergy to staphylococcal enterotoxin B in vivo: selective effects on T cell subsets and lymphokines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23: 2661-2666.
- 155. Feunou, P., Poulin, L., Habran, C., Le Moine, A., Goldman, M., and Braun, M. Y. 2003. CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25- T cells act respectively as inducer and effector T suppressor cells in superantigen-induced tolerance. *J. Immunol.* **171**: 3475-3484.
- 156. Grundstrom, S., Cederbom, L., Sundstedt, A., Scheipers, P., and Ivars, F. 2003. Superantigen-induced regulatory T cells display different suppressive functions in the presence or absence of natural CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in vivo. J. Immunol. 170: 5008-5017.
- 157. Taylor, A. L., and Llewelyn, M. J. 2010. Superantigen-induced proliferation of human CD4+CD25- T cells is followed by a switch to a functional regulatory phenotype. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 6591-6598.
- Wang, Z. Q., Orlikowsky, T., Dudhane, A., Trejo, V., Dannecker, G. E., Pernis, B., and Hoffmann, M. K. 1998. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced T-cell anergy is mediated by regulatory T cells. *Immunology* 94: 331-339.
- 159. Tilahun, A. Y., Chowdhary, V. R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2014. Systemic inflammatory response elicited by superantigen destabilizes T regulatory cells, rendering them ineffective during toxic shock syndrome. *J. Immunol.* **193**: 2919-2930.
- 160. Poindexter, N. J., and Schlievert, P. M. 1986. Suppression of immunoglobulinsecreting cells from human peripheral blood by toxic-shock-syndrome toxin-1. *J. Infect. Dis.* **153**: 772-779.
- 161. Lussow, A. R., and MacDonald, H. R. 1994. Differential effects of superantigeninduced "anergy" on priming and effector stages of a T cell-dependent antibody response. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **24**: 445-449.

- 162. Janik, D. K., and Lee, W. T. 2015. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) induces memory CD4 T cell anergy in vivo and impairs recall immunity to unrelated antigens. *J. Clin. Cell. Immunol.* **6**: 1-8.
- 163. Hofer, M. F., Newell, K., Duke, R. C., Schlievert, P. M., Freed, J. H., and Leung, D. Y. 1996. Differential effects of staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 on B cell apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93: 5425-5430.
- 164. Stohl, W., Lynch, D. H., Starling, G. C., and Kiener, P. A. 1998. Superantigendriven, CD8+ T cell-mediated down-regulation: CD95 (Fas)-dependent downregulation of human Ig responses despite CD95-independent killing of activated B cells. J. Immunol. 161: 3292-3298.
- 165. Stohl, W., Elliott, J. E., Lynch, D. H., and Kiener, P. A. 1998. CD95 (Fas)-based, superantigen-dependent, CD4+ T cell-mediated down-regulation of human in vitro immunoglobulin responses. *J. Immunol.* **160**: 5231-5238.
- 166. Miethke, T., Wahl, C., Heeg, K., Echtenacher, B., Krammer, P. H., and Wagner, H. 1992. T cell-mediated lethal shock triggered in mice by the superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B: critical role of tumor necrosis factor. *J. Exp. Med.* 175: 91-98.
- 167. Chen, J. Y., Qiao, Y., Komisar, J. L., Baze, W. B., Hsu, I. C., and Tseng, J. 1994. Increased susceptibility to staphylococcal enterotoxin B intoxication in mice primed with actinomycin D. *Infect. Immun.* **62**: 4626-4631.
- 168. Miethke, T., Duschek, K., Wahl, C., Heeg, K., and Wagner, H. 1993. Pathogenesis of the toxic shock syndrome: T cell mediated lethal shock caused by the superantigen TSST-1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **23**: 1494-1500.
- Kissner, T. L., Cisney, E. D., Ulrich, R. G., Fernandez, S., and Saikh, K. U. 2010. Staphylococcal enterotoxin A induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and lethality in mice is primarily dependent on MyD88. *Immunology* 130: 516-526.
- 170. Tilahun, A. Y., Marietta, E. V., Wu, T. T., Patel, R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Human leukocyte antigen class II transgenic mouse model unmasks the significant extrahepatic pathology in toxic shock syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* **178**: 2760-2773.
- 171. Stiles, B. G., Bavari, S., Krakauer, T., and Ulrich, R. G. 1993. Toxicity of staphylococcal enterotoxins potentiated by lipopolysaccharide: major histocompatibility complex class II molecule dependency and cytokine release. *Infect. Immun.* **61**: 5333-5338.
- 172. Stiles, B. G., Krakauer, T., and Bonventre, P. F. 1995. Biological activity of toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 and a site-directed mutant, H135A, in a lipopolysaccharide-potentiated mouse lethality model. *Infect. Immun.* **63**: 1229-1234.

- 173. Stiles, B. G., Campbell, Y. G., Castle, R. M., and Grove, S. A. 1999. Correlation of temperature and toxicity in murine studies of staphylococcal enterotoxins and toxic shock syndrome toxin 1. *Infect. Immun.* **67**: 1521-1525.
- 174. Krakauer, T., Buckley, M. J., and Fisher, D. 2010. Proinflammatory Mediators of Toxic Shock and Their Correlation to Lethality. *Mediators Inflamm.* **2010**.
- 175. Blank, C., Luz, A., Bendigs, S., Erdmann, A., Wagner, H., and Heeg, K. 1997. Superantigen and endotoxin synergize in the induction of lethal shock. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **27**: 825-833.
- 176. Faulkner, L., Cooper, A., Fantino, C., Altmann, D. M., and Sriskandan, S. 2005. The mechanism of superantigen-mediated toxic shock: not a simple Th1 cytokine storm. *J. Immunol.* **175**.
- 177. Tilahun, A. Y., Holz, M., Wu, T. T., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Interferon gamma-dependent intestinal pathology contributes to the lethality in bacterial superantigen-induced toxic shock syndrome. *PLoS One* **6**: e16764.
- 178. Welcher, B. C., Carra, J. H., DaSilva, L., Hanson, J., David, C. S., Aman, M. J., and Bavari, S. 2002. Lethal Shock Induced by Streptococcal Pyrogenic Exotoxin A in Mice Transgenic for Human Leukocyte Antigen–DQ8 and Human CD4 Receptors: Implications for Development of Vaccines and Therapeutics. *J. Infect. Dis.* 186: 501-510.
- 179. Roy, C. J., Warfield, K. L., Welcher, B. C., Gonzales, R. F., Larsen, T., Hanson, J., David, C. S., Krakauer, T., and Bavari, S. 2005. Human leukocyte antigen-DQ8 transgenic mice: a model to examine the toxicity of aerosolized staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Infect. Immun.* 73: 2452-2460.
- 180. Rajagopalan, G., Iijima, K., Singh, M., Kita, H., Patel, R., and David, C. S. 2006. Intranasal exposure to bacterial superantigens induces airway inflammation in HLA class II transgenic mice. *Infect. Immun.* **74**: 1284-1296.
- 181. Rajagopalan, G., Sen, M. M., Singh, M., Murali, N. S., Nath, K. A., Iijima, K., Kita, H., Leontovich, A. A., Gopinathan, U., Patel, R., and David, C. S. 2006. Intranasal exposure to staphylococcal enterotoxin B elicits an acute systemic inflammatory response. *Shock* 25: 647-656.
- 182. Huzella, L. M., Buckley, M. J., Alves, D. A., Stiles, B. G., and Krakauer, T. 2009. Central roles for IL-2 and MCP-1 following intranasal exposure to SEB: a new mouse model. *Res. Vet. Sci.* **86**: 241-247.
- 183. Krakauer, T., Buckley, M., and Fisher, D. 2010. Murine models of staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced toxic shock. *Mil. Med.* **175**: 917-922.

- 184. Savransky, V., Rostapshov, V., Pinelis, D., Polotsky, Y., Korolev, S., Komisar, J., and Fegeding, K. 2003. Murine lethal toxic shock caused by intranasal administration of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Toxicol. Pathol.* **31**: 373-378.
- 185. Parsonnet, J., Gillis, Z. A., Richter, A. G., and Pier, G. B. 1987. A rabbit model of toxic shock syndrome that uses a constant, subcutaneous infusion of toxic shock syndrome toxin 1. *Infect. Immun.* **55**: 1070-1076.
- Lee, P. K., and Schlievert, P. M. 1989. Quantification and toxicity of group A streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxins in an animal model of toxic shock syndromelike illness. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 27: 1890-1892.
- 187. Lee, P. K., Deringer, J. R., Kreiswirth, B. N., Novick, R. P., and Schlievert, P. M. 1991. Fluid replacement protection of rabbits challenged subcutaneous with toxic shock syndrome toxins. *Infect. Immun.* **59**: 879-884.
- 188. Buonpane, R. A., Churchill, H. R. O., Moza, B., Sundberg, E. J., Peterson, M. L., Schlievert, P. M., and Kranz, D. M. 2007. Neutralization of staphylococcal enterotoxin B by soluble, high-affinity receptor antagonists. *Nat. Med.* **13**: 725-729.
- 189. McCollister, B. D., Kreiswirth, B. N., Novick, R. P., and Schlievert, P. M. 1990. Production of toxic shock syndrome-like illness in rabbits by *Staphylococcus aureus* D4508: association with enterotoxin A. *Infect. Immun.* 58: 2067-2070.
- 190. Schlievert, P. M., Shands, K. N., Dan, B. B., Schmid, G. P., and Nishimura, R. D. 1981. Identification and characterization of an exotoxin from *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with toxic-shock syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* **143**: 509-516.
- 191. de Azavedo, J. C., and Arbuthnott, J. P. 1984. Toxicity of staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 in rabbits. *Infect. Immun.* **46**: 314-317.
- 192. Dinges, M. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Comparative analysis of lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha activity in serum and lethality in mice and rabbits pretreated with the staphylococcal superantigen toxic shock syndrome toxin 1. *Infect. Immun.* **69**: 7169-7172.
- 193. Reeves, M. W., Arko, R. J., Chandler, F. W., and Bridges, N. B. 1986. Affinity purification of staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 and its pathologic effects in rabbits. *Infect. Immun.* **51**: 431-439.
- 194. Huang, W. T., Lin, M. T., and Won, S. J. 1997. Staphylococcal enterotoxin Ainduced fever is associated with increased circulating levels of cytokines in rabbits. *Infect. Immun.* **65**: 2656-2662.
- 195. Best, G. K., Scott, D. F., Kling, J. M., Crowell, W. F., and Kirkland, J. J. 1984. Enhanced susceptibility of male rabbits to infection with a toxic shock strain of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Immun.* **46**: 727-732.

- 197. Weng, C. F., Komisar, J. L., Hunt, R. E., Johnson, A. J., Pitt, M. L., Ruble, D. L., and Tseng, J. 1997. Immediate responses of leukocytes, cytokines and glucocorticoid hormones in the blood circulation of monkeys following challenge with aerosolized staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Int. Immunol.* **9**: 1825-1836.
- 198. Mattix, M. E., Hunt, R. E., Wilhelmsen, C. L., Johnson, A. J., and Baze, W. B. 1995. Aerosolized staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced pulmonary lesions in rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). *Toxicol. Pathol.* **23**: 262-268.
- 199. Krakauer, T., Pitt, L., and Hunt, R. E. 1997. Detection of interleukin-6 and interleukin-2 in serum of rhesus monkeys exposed to a nonlethal dose of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Mil. Med.* **162**: 612-615.
- Mollick, J. A., Chintagumpala, M., Cook, R. G., and Rich, R. R. 1991. Staphylococcal exotoxin activation of T cells. Role of exotoxin-MHC class II binding affinity and class II isotype. *J. Immunol.* 146: 463-468.
- 201. Matthys, P., Mitera, T., Heremans, H., Van Damme, J., and Billiau, A. 1995. Anti-gamma interferon and anti-interleukin-6 antibodies affect staphylococcal enterotoxin B-induced weight loss, hypoglycemia, and cytokine release in Dgalactosamine-sensitized and unsensitized mice. *Infect. Immun.* **63**: 1158-1164.
- 202. Khan, A. A., Priya, S., and Saha, B. 2009. IL-2 regulates SEB induced toxic shock syndrome in BALB/c mice. *PLoS One* **4**.
- 203. Silverstein, R. 2004. Review: D-Galactosamine lethality model: scope and limitations. *J Endo Res* **10**: 147-162.
- 204. Leist, M., Gantner, F., Bohlinger, I., Tiegs, G., Germann, P. G., and Wendel, A. 1995. Tumor necrosis factor-induced hepatocyte apoptosis precedes liver failure in experimental murine shock models. *Am. J. Path.* **146**: 1220-1234.
- 205. Dinges, M. M., Orwin, P. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2000. Exotoxins of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **13**: 16-34.
- 206. Yasuda, S., Nagaki, M., and Moriwaki, H. 2002. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B induces hepatic injury and lethal shock in endotoxin-resistant C3H/HeJ mice despite a deficient macrophage response. *J. Endotoxin Res.* **8**: 253-261.
- 207. Nagaki, M., Muto, Y., Ohnishi, H., Yasuda, S., Sano, K., Naito, T., Maeda, T., Yamada, T., and Moriwaki, H. 1994. Hepatic injury and lethal shock in galactosamine-sensitized mice induced by the superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Gastroenterology* **106**: 450-458.

- 208. Fisher, C. J., Agosti, J. M., Opal, S. M., Lowry, S. F., Balk, R. A., Sadoff, J. C., Abraham, E., Schein, R. M. H., and Benjamin, E. 1996. Treatment of septic shock with the tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 334: 1697-1702.
- 209. Dalpke, A. 2003. Synergistic and antagonistic interactions between LPS and superantigens. *J. Endotoxin Res.* **9**: 51-54.
- 210. Hopkins, P. A., Fraser, J. D., Pridmore, A. C., Russell, H. H., Read, R. C., and Sriskandan, S. 2005. Superantigen recognition by HLA class II on monocytes upregulates toll-like receptor 4 and enhances proinflammatory responses to endotoxin. *Blood* **105**: 3655-3662.
- 211. Chow, A. W., Bartlett, K. H., Percival-Smith, R., and Morrison, B. J. 1984. Vaginal colonization with *Staphylococcus aureus*, positive for toxic-shock marker protein, and *Escherichia coli* in healthy women. *J. Infect. Dis.* **150**: 80-84.
- 212. Stone, R. L., and Schlievert, P. M. 1987. Evidence for the involvement of endotoxin in toxic shock syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* **155**: 682-689.
- 213. Yeung, R. S., Penninger, J. M., Kundig, T., Khoo, W., Ohashi, P. S., Kroemer, G., and Mak, T. W. 1996. Human CD4 and human major histocompatibility complex class II (DQ6) transgenic mice: supersensitivity to superantigen-induced septic shock. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26: 1074-1082.
- 214. Rajagopalan, G., Sen, M. M., and David, C. S. 2004. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of staphylococcal superantigen peptide antagonists. *Infect. Immun.* **72**: 6733-6737.
- DaSilva, L., Welcher, B. C., Ulrich, R. G., Aman, M. J., David, C. S., and Bavari, S. 2002. Humanlike immune response of human leukocyte antigen-DR3 transgenic mice to staphylococcal enterotoxins: a novel model for superantigen vaccines. J. Infect. Dis. 185: 1754-1760.
- Llewelyn, M., Sriskandan, S., Peakman, M., Ambrozak, D. R., Douek, D. C., Kwok, W. W., Cohen, J., and Altmann, D. M. 2004. HLA class II polymorphisms determine responses to bacterial superantigens. *J. Immunol.* **172**: 1719-1726.
- 217. Nooh, M. M., El-Gengehi, N., Kansal, R., David, C. S., and Kotb, M. 2007. HLA transgenic mice provide evidence for a direct and dominant role of HLA class II variation in modulating the severity of streptococcal sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 178: 3076-3083.
- 218. Sriskandan, S., Unnikrishnan, M., Krausz, T., Dewchand, H., Noorden, S. V., Cohen, J., and Altmann, D. M. 2001. Enhanced susceptibility to superantigenassociated streptococcal sepsis in human leukocyte antigen-DQ transgenic mice. *J. Infect. Dis.* **184**: 166-173.

- 219. Rajagopalan, G., Polich, G., Sen, M. M., Singh, M., Epstein, B. E., Lytle, A. K., Rouse, M. S., Patel, R., and David, C. S. 2008. Evaluating the role of HLA-DQ polymorphisms on immune response to bacterial superantigens using transgenic mice. *Tissue Antigens* **71**: 135-145.
- 220. Hayworth, J. L., Mazzuca, D. M., Maleki Vareki, S., Welch, I., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 699-709.
- 221. Scholl, P. R., Diez, A., and Geha, R. S. 1989. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B and toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 bind to distinct sites on HLA-DR and HLA-DQ molecules. *J. Immunol.* **143**: 2583-2588.
- 222. Ahanotu, E., Alvelo-Ceron, D., Ravita, T., and Gaunt, E. 2006. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B as a biological weapon: recognition, management, and surveillance of staphylococcal enterotoxin. *Appl. Biosaf.* **11**.
- 223. Rajagopalan, G., Smart, M. K., Murali, N., Patel, R., and David, C. S. 2007. Acute systemic immune activation following vaginal exposure to staphylococcal enterotoxin B--implications for menstrual shock. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* **73**: 51-59.
- 224. Schlievert, P. M. 1982. Enhancement of host susceptibility to lethal endotoxin shock by staphylococcal pyrogenic exotoxin type C. *Infect. Immun.* **36**: 123-128.
- 225. de Azavedo, J. C. 1989. Animal models for toxic shock syndrome: overview. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* **11 Suppl 1**: S205-209.
- 226. Scott, D. F., Kling, J. M., Kirkland, J. J., and Best, G. K. 1983. Characterization of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates from patients with toxic shock syndrome, using polyethylene infection chambers in rabbits. *Infect. Immun.* **39**: 383-387.
- 227. Arko, R. J., Rasheed, J. K., Broome, C. V., Chandler, F. W., and Paris, A. L. 1984. A rabbit model of toxic shock syndrome: clinicopathological features. *J. Infect.* **8**: 205-211.
- 228. Rasheed, J. K., Arko, R. J., Feeley, J. C., Chandler, F. W., Thornsberry, C., Gibson, R. J., Cohen, M. L., Jeffries, C. D., and Broome, C. V. 1985. Acquired ability of *Staphylococcus aureus* to produce toxic shock-associated protein and resulting illness in a rabbit model. *Infect. Immun.* **47**: 598-604.
- 229. de Azavedo, J. C., Foster, T. J., Hartigan, P. J., Arbuthnott, J. P., O'Reilly, M., Kreiswirth, B. N., and Novick, R. P. 1985. Expression of the cloned toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 gene (tst) in vivo with a rabbit uterine model. *Infect. Immun.* **50**: 304-309.
- 230. Scheuber, P. H., Denzlinger, C., Wilker, D., Beck, G., Keppler, D., and Hammer, D. K. 1987. Staphylococcal enterotoxin B as a nonimmunological mast cell

stimulus in primates: the role of endogenous cysteinyl leukotrienes. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.* **82**: 289-291.

- 231. Tseng, J., Komisar, J. L., Trout, R. N., Hunt, R. E., Chen, J. Y., Johnson, A. J., Pitt, L., and Ruble, D. L. 1995. Humoral immunity to aerosolized staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB), a superantigen, in monkeys vaccinated with SEB toxoidcontaining microspheres. *Infect. Immun.* **63**: 2880-2885.
- 232. Boles, J. W., Pitt, M. L., LeClaire, R. D., Gibbs, P. H., Torres, E., Dyas, B., Ulrich, R. G., and Bavari, S. 2003. Generation of protective immunity by inactivated recombinant staphylococcal enterotoxin B vaccine in nonhuman primates and identification of correlates of immunity. *Clin. Immunol.* **108**: 51-59.
- 233. van Gessel, Y. A., Mani, S., Bi, S., Hammamieh, R., Shupp, J. W., Das, R., Coleman, G. D., and Jett, M. 2004. Functional piglet model for the clinical syndrome and postmortem findings induced by staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 229: 1061-1071.
- 234. Van Miert, A. S., Van Duin, C. T., and Schotman, A. J. 1984. Comparative observations of fever and associated clinical hematological and blood biochemical changes after intravenous administration of staphylococcal enterotoxins B and F (toxic shock syndrome toxin-1) in goats. *Infect. Immun.* **46**: 354-360.
- 235. Godfrey, D. I., MacDonald, H. R., Kronenberg, M., Smyth, M. J., and Van Kaer, L. 2004. NKT cells: what's in a name? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **4**: 231-237.
- 236. Brigl, M., and Brenner, M. B. 2004. CD1: antigen presentation and T cell function. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 22: 817-890.
- Brossay, L., Jullien, D., Cardell, S., Sydora, B. C., Burdin, N., Modlin, R. L., and Kronenberg, M. 1997. Mouse CD1 is mainly expressed on hemopoietic-derived cells. *J. Immunol.* 159: 1216-1224.
- 238. Kawano, T., Cui, J., Koezuka, Y., Toura, I., Kaneko, Y., Motoki, K., Ueno, H., Nakagawa, R., Sato, H., Kondo, E., Koseki, H., and Taniguchi, M. 1997. CD1d-restricted and TCR-mediated activation of valpha14 NKT cells by glycosylceramides. *Science* **278**: 1626-1629.
- 239. Matsuda, J. L., Naidenko, O. V., Gapin, L., Nakayama, T., Taniguchi, M., Wang, C. R., Koezuka, Y., and Kronenberg, M. 2000. Tracking the response of natural killer T cells to a glycolipid antigen using CD1d tetramers. *J. Exp. Med.* **192**: 741-754.
- 240. Benlagha, K., Weiss, A., Beavis, A., Teyton, L., and Bendelac, A. 2000. In vivo identification of glycolipid antigen-specific T cells using fluorescent CD1d tetramers. *J. Exp. Med.* **191**: 1895-1903.

- Girardi, E., Maricic, I., Wang, J., Mac, T. T., Iyer, P., Kumar, V., and Zajonc, D. M. 2012. Type II natural killer T cells use features of both innate-like and conventional T cells to recognize sulfatide self antigens. *Nat. Immunol.* 13: 851-856.
- 243. Slauenwhite, D., and Johnston, B. 2015. Regulation of NKT cell localization in homeostasis and infection. *Front. Immunol.* **6**: 255.
- 244. Godfrey, D. I., and Berzins, S. P. 2007. Control points in NKT-cell development. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **7**: 505-518.
- 245. Lynch, L., O'Shea, D., Winter, D. C., Geoghegan, J., Doherty, D. G., and O'Farrelly, C. 2009. Invariant NKT cells and CD1d(+) cells amass in human omentum and are depleted in patients with cancer and obesity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39: 1893-1901.
- 246. Lee, P. T., Benlagha, K., Teyton, L., and Bendelac, A. 2002. Distinct functional lineages of human V(alpha)24 natural killer T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **195**: 637-641.
- 247. Montoya, C. J., Pollard, D., Martinson, J., Kumari, K., Wasserfall, C., Mulder, C. B., Rugeles, M. T., Atkinson, M. A., Landay, A. L., and Wilson, S. B. 2007. Characterization of human invariant natural killer T subsets in health and disease using a novel invariant natural killer T cell-clonotypic monoclonal antibody, 6B11. *Immunology* 122: 1-14.
- 248. Brennan, P. J., Brigl, M., and Brenner, M. B. 2013. Invariant natural killer T cells: an innate activation scheme linked to diverse effector functions. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**: 101-117.
- 249. Kinjo, Y., Tupin, E., Wu, D., Fujio, M., Garcia-Navarro, R., Benhnia, M. R., Zajonc, D. M., Ben-Menachem, G., Ainge, G. D., Painter, G. F., Khurana, A., Hoebe, K., Behar, S. M., Beutler, B., Wilson, I. A., Tsuji, M., Sellati, T. J., Wong, C. H., and Kronenberg, M. 2006. Natural killer T cells recognize diacylglycerol antigens from pathogenic bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* **7**: 978-986.
- Kinjo, Y., Illarionov, P., Vela, J. L., Pei, B., Girardi, E., Li, X., Li, Y., Imamura, M., Kaneko, Y., Okawara, A., Miyazaki, Y., Gomez-Velasco, A., Rogers, P., Dahesh, S., Uchiyama, S., Khurana, A., Kawahara, K., Yesilkaya, H., Andrew, P. W., Wong, C. H., Kawakami, K., Nizet, V., Besra, G. S., Tsuji, M., Zajonc, D. M., and Kronenberg, M. 2011. Invariant natural killer T cells recognize glycolipids from pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 966-974.

- 251. Kinjo, Y., Wu, D., Kim, G., Xing, G. W., Poles, M. A., Ho, D. D., Tsuji, M., Kawahara, K., Wong, C. H., and Kronenberg, M. 2005. Recognition of bacterial glycosphingolipids by natural killer T cells. *Nature* **434**: 520-525.
- 252. Mattner, J., Debord, K. L., Ismail, N., Goff, R. D., Cantu, C., 3rd, Zhou, D., Saint-Mezard, P., Wang, V., Gao, Y., Yin, N., Hoebe, K., Schneewind, O., Walker, D., Beutler, B., Teyton, L., Savage, P. B., and Bendelac, A. 2005. Exogenous and endogenous glycolipid antigens activate NKT cells during microbial infections. *Nature* 434: 525-529.
- 253. Albacker, L. A., Chaudhary, V., Chang, Y. J., Kim, H. Y., Chuang, Y. T., Pichavant, M., DeKruyff, R. H., Savage, P. B., and Umetsu, D. T. 2013. Invariant natural killer T cells recognize a fungal glycosphingolipid that can induce airway hyperreactivity. *Nat. Med.* **19**: 1297-1304.
- 254. Fischer, K., Scotet, E., Niemeyer, M., Koebernick, H., Zerrahn, J., Maillet, S., Hurwitz, R., Kursar, M., Bonneville, M., Kaufmann, S. H., and Schaible, U. E. 2004. Mycobacterial phosphatidylinositol mannoside is a natural antigen for CD1d-restricted T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **101**: 10685-10690.
- 255. Ito, Y., Vela, J. L., Matsumura, F., Hoshino, H., Tyznik, A., Lee, H., Girardi, E., Zajonc, D. M., Liddington, R., Kobayashi, M., Bao, X., Bugaytsova, J., Boren, T., Jin, R., Zong, Y., Seeberger, P. H., Nakayama, J., Kronenberg, M., and Fukuda, M. 2013. Helicobacter pylori cholesteryl alpha-glucosides contribute to its pathogenicity and immune response by natural killer T cells. *PLoS One* 8: e78191.
- 256. Amprey, J. L., Im, J. S., Turco, S. J., Murray, H. W., Illarionov, P. A., Besra, G. S., Porcelli, S. A., and Spath, G. F. 2004. A subset of liver NK T cells is activated during Leishmania donovani infection by CD1d-bound lipophosphoglycan. J. *Exp. Med.* 200: 895-904.
- Lotter, H., Gonzalez-Roldan, N., Lindner, B., Winau, F., Isibasi, A., Moreno-Lafont, M., Ulmer, A. J., Holst, O., Tannich, E., and Jacobs, T. 2009. Natural killer T cells activated by a lipopeptidophosphoglycan from Entamoeba histolytica are critically important to control amebic liver abscess. *PLoS Pathog.* 5: e1000434.
- Borg, N. A., Wun, K. S., Kjer-Nielsen, L., Wilce, M. C., Pellicci, D. G., Koh, R., Besra, G. S., Bharadwaj, M., Godfrey, D. I., McCluskey, J., and Rossjohn, J. 2007. CD1d-lipid-antigen recognition by the semi-invariant NKT T-cell receptor. *Nature* 448: 44-49.
- 259. McCarthy, C., Shepherd, D., Fleire, S., Stronge, V. S., Koch, M., Illarionov, P. A., Bossi, G., Salio, M., Denkberg, G., Reddington, F., Tarlton, A., Reddy, B. G., Schmidt, R. R., Reiter, Y., Griffiths, G. M., van der Merwe, P. A., Besra, G. S., Jones, E. Y., Batista, F. D., and Cerundolo, V. 2007. The length of lipids bound to

human CD1d molecules modulates the affinity of NKT cell TCR and the threshold of NKT cell activation. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**: 1131-1144.

- 260. Miyamoto, K., Miyake, S., and Yamamura, T. 2001. A synthetic glycolipid prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inducing TH2 bias of natural killer T cells. *Nature* **413**: 531-534.
- 261. Yu, K. O., Im, J. S., Molano, A., Dutronc, Y., Illarionov, P. A., Forestier, C., Fujiwara, N., Arias, I., Miyake, S., Yamamura, T., Chang, Y. T., Besra, G. S., and Porcelli, S. A. 2005. Modulation of CD1d-restricted NKT cell responses by using N-acyl variants of alpha-galactosylceramides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102: 3383-3388.
- 262. Forestier, C., Takaki, T., Molano, A., Im, J. S., Baine, I., Jerud, E. S., Illarionov, P., Ndonye, R., Howell, A. R., Santamaria, P., Besra, G. S., Dilorenzo, T. P., and Porcelli, S. A. 2007. Improved outcomes in NOD mice treated with a novel Th2 cytokine-biasing NKT cell activator. *J. Immunol.* **178**: 1415-1425.
- 263. Fujii, S., Shimizu, K., Hemmi, H., Fukui, M., Bonito, A. J., Chen, G., Franck, R. W., Tsuji, M., and Steinman, R. M. 2006. Glycolipid alpha-C-galactosylceramide is a distinct inducer of dendritic cell function during innate and adaptive immune responses of mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103: 11252-11257.
- 264. Im, J. S., Arora, P., Bricard, G., Molano, A., Venkataswamy, M. M., Baine, I., Jerud, E. S., Goldberg, M. F., Baena, A., Yu, K. O., Ndonye, R. M., Howell, A. R., Yuan, W., Cresswell, P., Chang, Y. T., Illarionov, P. A., Besra, G. S., and Porcelli, S. A. 2009. Kinetics and cellular site of glycolipid loading control the outcome of natural killer T cell activation. *Immunity* **30**: 888-898.
- 265. Bai, L., Constantinides, M. G., Thomas, S. Y., Reboulet, R., Meng, F., Koentgen, F., Teyton, L., Savage, P. B., and Bendelac, A. 2012. Distinct APCs explain the cytokine bias of alpha-galactosylceramide variants in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **188**: 3053-3061.
- 266. van den Heuvel, M. J., Garg, N., Van Kaer, L., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2011. NKT cell costimulation: experimental progress and therapeutic promise. *Trends Mol. Med.* 17: 65-77.
- 267. Brigl, M., Bry, L., Kent, S. C., Gumperz, J. E., and Brenner, M. B. 2003. Mechanism of CD1d-restricted natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. *Nat. Immunol.* **4**: 1230-1237.
- 268. Salio, M., Speak, A. O., Shepherd, D., Polzella, P., Illarionov, P. A., Veerapen, N., Besra, G. S., Platt, F. M., and Cerundolo, V. 2007. Modulation of human natural killer T cell ligands on TLR-mediated antigen-presenting cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104: 20490-20495.

- 269. Macho-Fernandez, E., and Brigl, M. 2015. The Extended Family of CD1d-Restricted NKT Cells: Sifting through a mixed bag of TCRs, antigens, and functions. *Front. Immunol.* **6**: 362.
- 270. Zhou, D., Mattner, J., Cantu, C., 3rd, Schrantz, N., Yin, N., Gao, Y., Sagiv, Y., Hudspeth, K., Wu, Y. P., Yamashita, T., Teneberg, S., Wang, D., Proia, R. L., Levery, S. B., Savage, P. B., Teyton, L., and Bendelac, A. 2004. Lysosomal glycosphingolipid recognition by NKT cells. *Science* **306**: 1786-1789.
- 271. Fox, L. M., Cox, D. G., Lockridge, J. L., Wang, X., Chen, X., Scharf, L., Trott, D. L., Ndonye, R. M., Veerapen, N., Besra, G. S., Howell, A. R., Cook, M. E., Adams, E. J., Hildebrand, W. H., and Gumperz, J. E. 2009. Recognition of lysophospholipids by human natural killer T lymphocytes. *PLoS Biol.* **7**: e1000228.
- 272. Brennan, P. J., Tatituri, R. V., Brigl, M., Kim, E. Y., Tuli, A., Sanderson, J. P., Gadola, S. D., Hsu, F. F., Besra, G. S., and Brenner, M. B. 2011. Invariant natural killer T cells recognize lipid self antigen induced by microbial danger signals. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 1202-1211.
- 273. Facciotti, F., Ramanjaneyulu, G. S., Lepore, M., Sansano, S., Cavallari, M., Kistowska, M., Forss-Petter, S., Ni, G., Colone, A., Singhal, A., Berger, J., Xia, C., Mori, L., and De Libero, G. 2012. Peroxisome-derived lipids are self antigens that stimulate invariant natural killer T cells in the thymus. *Nat. Immunol.* 13: 474-480.
- 274. Kain, L., Webb, B., Anderson, B. L., Deng, S., Holt, M., Costanzo, A., Zhao, M., Self, K., Teyton, A., Everett, C., Kronenberg, M., Zajonc, D. M., Bendelac, A., Savage, P. B., and Teyton, L. 2014. The identification of the endogenous ligands of natural killer T cells reveals the presence of mammalian alpha-linked glycosylceramides. *Immunity* 41: 543-554.
- 275. Kitamura, H., Iwakabe, K., Yahata, T., Nishimura, S., Ohta, A., Ohmi, Y., Sato, M., Takeda, K., Okumura, K., Van Kaer, L., Kawano, T., Taniguchi, M., and Nishimura, T. 1999. The natural killer T (NKT) cell ligand alpha-galactosylceramide demonstrates its immunopotentiating effect by inducing interleukin (IL)-12 production by dendritic cells and IL-12 receptor expression on NKT cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **189**: 1121-1128.
- 276. Leite-De-Moraes, M. C., Hameg, A., Arnould, A., Machavoine, F., Koezuka, Y., Schneider, E., Herbelin, A., and Dy, M. 1999. A distinct IL-18-induced pathway to fully activate NK T lymphocytes independently from TCR engagement. J. *Immunol.* 163: 5871-5876.
- 277. Rachitskaya, A. V., Hansen, A. M., Horai, R., Li, Z., Villasmil, R., Luger, D., Nussenblatt, R. B., and Caspi, R. R. 2008. Cutting edge: NKT cells constitutively express IL-23 receptor and RORgammat and rapidly produce IL-17 upon receptor ligation in an IL-6-independent fashion. *J. Immunol.* 180: 5167-5171.

- 278. Terashima, A., Watarai, H., Inoue, S., Sekine, E., Nakagawa, R., Hase, K., Iwamura, C., Nakajima, H., Nakayama, T., and Taniguchi, M. 2008. A novel subset of mouse NKT cells bearing the IL-17 receptor B responds to IL-25 and contributes to airway hyperreactivity. *J. Exp. Med.* **205**: 2727-2733.
- 279. Brigl, M., Tatituri, R. V., Watts, G. F., Bhowruth, V., Leadbetter, E. A., Barton, N., Cohen, N. R., Hsu, F. F., Besra, G. S., and Brenner, M. B. 2011. Innate and cytokine-driven signals, rather than microbial antigens, dominate in natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 208: 1163-1177.
- 280. Holzapfel, K. L., Tyznik, A. J., Kronenberg, M., and Hogquist, K. A. 2014. Antigen-dependent versus -independent activation of invariant NKT cells during infection. *J. Immunol.* **192**: 5490-5498.
- 281. Van Kaer, L., Parekh, V. V., and Wu, L. 2015. The response of CD1d-restricted invariant NKT cells to microbial pathogens and their products. *Front. Immunol.* **6**: 226.
- 282. Wingender, G., Krebs, P., Beutler, B., and Kronenberg, M. 2010. Antigen-specific cytotoxicity by invariant NKT cells in vivo is CD95/CD178-dependent and is correlated with antigenic potency. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 2721-2729.
- 283. Nieda, M., Nicol, A., Koezuka, Y., Kikuchi, A., Lapteva, N., Tanaka, Y., Tokunaga, K., Suzuki, K., Kayagaki, N., Yagita, H., Hirai, H., and Juji, T. 2001. TRAIL expression by activated human CD4(+)V alpha 24NKT cells induces in vitro and in vivo apoptosis of human acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Blood* 97: 2067-2074.
- Stetson, D. B., Mohrs, M., Reinhardt, R. L., Baron, J. L., Wang, Z. E., Gapin, L., Kronenberg, M., and Locksley, R. M. 2003. Constitutive cytokine mRNAs mark natural killer (NK) and NK T cells poised for rapid effector function. *J. Exp. Med.* 198: 1069-1076.
- 285. Coquet, J. M., Chakravarti, S., Kyparissoudis, K., McNab, F. W., Pitt, L. A., McKenzie, B. S., Berzins, S. P., Smyth, M. J., and Godfrey, D. I. 2008. Diverse cytokine production by NKT cell subsets and identification of an IL-17-producing CD4-NK1.1- NKT cell population. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105: 11287-11292.
- 286. Michel, M. L., Keller, A. C., Paget, C., Fujio, M., Trottein, F., Savage, P. B., Wong, C. H., Schneider, E., Dy, M., and Leite-de-Moraes, M. C. 2007. Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**: 995-1001.
- 287. Coquet, J. M., Kyparissoudis, K., Pellicci, D. G., Besra, G., Berzins, S. P., Smyth, M. J., and Godfrey, D. I. 2007. IL-21 is produced by NKT cells and modulates NKT cell activation and cytokine production. *J. Immunol.* **178**: 2827-2834.

- Sakuishi, K., Oki, S., Araki, M., Porcelli, S. A., Miyake, S., and Yamamura, T. 2007. Invariant NKT cells biased for IL-5 production act as crucial regulators of inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **179**: 3452-3462.
- 289. Leite-de-Moraes, M. C., Lisbonne, M., Arnould, A., Machavoine, F., Herbelin, A., Dy, M., and Schneider, E. 2002. Ligand-activated natural killer T lymphocytes promptly produce IL-3 and GM-CSF in vivo: relevance to peripheral myeloid recruitment. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **32**: 1897-1904.
- 290. Paget, C., Ivanov, S., Fontaine, J., Renneson, J., Blanc, F., Pichavant, M., Dumoutier, L., Ryffel, B., Renauld, J. C., Gosset, P., Gosset, P., Si-Tahar, M., Faveeuw, C., and Trottein, F. 2012. Interleukin-22 is produced by invariant natural killer T lymphocytes during influenza A virus infection: potential role in protection against lung epithelial damages. J. Biol. Chem. 287: 8816-8829.
- 291. Kim, E. Y., Lynch, L., Brennan, P. J., Cohen, N. R., and Brenner, M. B. 2015. The transcriptional programs of iNKT cells. *Semin. Immunol.* **27**: 26-32.
- 292. Watarai, H., Sekine-Kondo, E., Shigeura, T., Motomura, Y., Yasuda, T., Satoh, R., Yoshida, H., Kubo, M., Kawamoto, H., Koseki, H., and Taniguchi, M. 2012. Development and function of invariant natural killer T cells producing Th2- and Th17-cytokines. *PLoS Biol.* **10**: e1001255.
- 293. Lee, Y. J., Holzapfel, K. L., Zhu, J., Jameson, S. C., and Hogquist, K. A. 2013. Steady-state production of IL-4 modulates immunity in mouse strains and is determined by lineage diversity of iNKT cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**: 1146-1154.
- 294. Doisne, J. M., Becourt, C., Amniai, L., Duarte, N., Le Luduec, J. B., Eberl, G., and Benlagha, K. 2009. Skin and peripheral lymph node invariant NKT cells are mainly retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor gamma T+ and respond preferentially under inflammatory conditions. *J. Immunol.* **183**: 2142-2149.
- Barral, P., Sanchez-Nino, M. D., van Rooijen, N., Cerundolo, V., and Batista, F. D. 2012. The location of splenic NKT cells favours their rapid activation by blood-borne antigen. *EMBO J.* 31: 2378-2390.
- 296. Semmling, V., Lukacs-Kornek, V., Thaiss, C. A., Quast, T., Hochheiser, K., Panzer, U., Rossjohn, J., Perlmutter, P., Cao, J., Godfrey, D. I., Savage, P. B., Knolle, P. A., Kolanus, W., Forster, I., and Kurts, C. 2010. Alternative crosspriming through CCL17-CCR4-mediated attraction of CTLs toward NKT celllicensed DCs. *Nat. Immunol.* **11**: 313-320.
- 297. Fujii, S., Shimizu, K., Smith, C., Bonifaz, L., and Steinman, R. M. 2003. Activation of natural killer T cells by alpha-galactosylceramide rapidly induces the full maturation of dendritic cells in vivo and thereby acts as an adjuvant for combined CD4 and CD8 T cell immunity to a coadministered protein. *J. Exp. Med.* **198**: 267-279.

- 298. Hermans, I. F., Silk, J. D., Gileadi, U., Salio, M., Mathew, B., Ritter, G., Schmidt, R., Harris, A. L., Old, L., and Cerundolo, V. 2003. NKT cells enhance CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses to soluble antigen in vivo through direct interaction with dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* **171**: 5140-5147.
- 299. Carnaud, C., Lee, D., Donnars, O., Park, S. H., Beavis, A., Koezuka, Y., and Bendelac, A. 1999. Cutting edge: Cross-talk between cells of the innate immune system: NKT cells rapidly activate NK cells. *J. Immunol.* **163**: 4647-4650.
- 300. Leadbetter, E. A., Brigl, M., Illarionov, P., Cohen, N., Luteran, M. C., Pillai, S., Besra, G. S., and Brenner, M. B. 2008. NK T cells provide lipid antigen-specific cognate help for B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105: 8339-8344.
- Tonti, E., Galli, G., Malzone, C., Abrignani, S., Casorati, G., and Dellabona, P. 2009. NKT-cell help to B lymphocytes can occur independently of cognate interaction. *Blood* 113: 370-376.
- 302. De Santo, C., Salio, M., Masri, S. H., Lee, L. Y., Dong, T., Speak, A. O., Porubsky, S., Booth, S., Veerapen, N., Besra, G. S., Grone, H. J., Platt, F. M., Zambon, M., and Cerundolo, V. 2008. Invariant NKT cells reduce the immunosuppressive activity of influenza A virus-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mice and humans. J. Clin. Invest. 118: 4036-4048.
- 303. Parekh, V. V., Wu, L., Olivares-Villagomez, D., Wilson, K. T., and Van Kaer, L. 2013. Activated invariant NKT cells control central nervous system autoimmunity in a mechanism that involves myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J. Immunol.* 190: 1948-1960.
- 304. Griewank, K., Borowski, C., Rietdijk, S., Wang, N., Julien, A., Wei, D. G., Mamchak, A. A., Terhorst, C., and Bendelac, A. 2007. Homotypic interactions mediated by Slamf1 and Slamf6 receptors control NKT cell lineage development. *Immunity* 27: 751-762.
- 305. Wakao, H., Kawamoto, H., Sakata, S., Inoue, K., Ogura, A., Wakao, R., Oda, A., and Fujita, H. 2007. A novel mouse model for invariant NKT cell study. *J. Immunol.* **179**: 3888-3895.
- 306. Forestier, C., Park, S. H., Wei, D., Benlagha, K., Teyton, L., and Bendelac, A. 2003. T cell development in mice expressing CD1d directed by a classical MHC class II promoter. *J. Immunol.* 171: 4096-4104.
- 307. Cui, J., Shin, T., Kawano, T., Sato, H., Kondo, E., Toura, I., Kaneko, Y., Koseki, H., Kanno, M., and Taniguchi, M. 1997. Requirement for Valpha14 NKT cells in IL-12-mediated rejection of tumors. *Science* 278: 1623-1626.
- 308. Bedel, R., Matsuda, J. L., Brigl, M., White, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., and Gapin, L. 2012. Lower TCR repertoire diversity in Traj18-deficient mice. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**: 705-706.

- 309. Chandra, S., Zhao, M., Budelsky, A., de Mingo Pulido, A., Day, J., Fu, Z., Siegel, L., Smith, D., and Kronenberg, M. 2015. A new mouse strain for the analysis of invariant NKT cell function. *Nat. Immunol.* 16: 799-800.
- 310. Dashtsoodol, N., Shigeura, T., Ozawa, R., Harada, M., Kojo, S., Watanabe, T., Koseki, H., Nakayama, M., Ohara, O., and Taniguchi, M. 2016. Generation of novel Traj18-deficient mice lacking Valpha14 natural killer T cells with an undisturbed T cell receptor alpha-chain repertoire. *PLoS One* **11**: e0153347.
- 311. Scheuplein, F., Lamont, D. J., Poynter, M. E., Boyson, J. E., Serreze, D., Lundblad, L. K., Mashal, R., and Schaub, R. 2015. Mouse invariant monoclonal antibody NKT14: A novel tool to manipulate iNKT cell function in vivo. *PLoS One* 10: e0140729.
- 312. Gabrilovich, D. I., and Nagaraj, S. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **9**: 162-174.
- Marigo, I., Dolcetti, L., Serafini, P., Zanovello, P., and Bronte, V. 2008. Tumorinduced tolerance and immune suppression by myeloid derived suppressor cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 222: 162-179.
- 314. Marvel, D., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2015. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment: expect the unexpected. *J. Clin. Invest.* **125**: 3356-3364.
- 315. Crook, K. R., and Liu, P. 2014. Role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in autoimmune disease. *World. J. Immunol.* **4**: 26-33.
- 316. Wu, T., Zhao, Y., and Zhao, Y. 2014. The roles of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in transplantation. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* **10**: 1385-1394.
- 317. Ost, M., Singh, A., Peschel, A., Mehling, R., Rieber, N., and Hartl, D. 2016. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in bacterial infections. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 6: 37.
- 318. Goh, C., Narayanan, S., and Hahn, Y. S. 2013. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: the dark knight or the joker in viral infections? *Immunol. Rev.* **255**: 210-221.
- Van Ginderachter, J. A., Beschin, A., De Baetselier, P., and Raes, G. 2010. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in parasitic infections. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40: 2976-2985.
- 320. Young, M. R., Newby, M., and Wepsic, H. T. 1987. Hematopoiesis and suppressor bone marrow cells in mice bearing large metastatic Lewis lung carcinoma tumors. *Cancer Res.* **47**: 100-105.
- 321. Dai, J., El Gazzar, M., Li, G. Y., Moorman, J. P., and Yao, Z. Q. 2015. Myeloidderived suppressor cells: paradoxical roles in infection and immunity. *J. Innate Immun.* **7**: 116-126.

- 322. Bronte, V., Brandau, S., Chen, S. H., Colombo, M. P., Frey, A. B., Greten, T. F., Mandruzzato, S., Murray, P. J., Ochoa, A., Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., Rodriguez, P. C., Sica, A., Umansky, V., Vonderheide, R. H., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2016. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nature Commun.* 7: 12150.
- 323. Youn, J. I., Nagaraj, S., Collazo, M., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2008. Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Immunol.* **181**: 5791-5802.
- 324. Youn, J. I., Collazo, M., Shalova, I. N., Biswas, S. K., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2012. Characterization of the nature of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **91**: 167-181.
- 325. Movahedi, K., Guilliams, M., Van den Bossche, J., Van den Bergh, R., Gysemans, C., Beschin, A., De Baetselier, P., and Van Ginderachter, J. A. 2008. Identification of discrete tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations with distinct T cell-suppressive activity. *Blood* 111: 4233-4244.
- 326. Dumitru, C. A., Moses, K., Trellakis, S., Lang, S., and Brandau, S. 2012. Neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immunophenotyping, cell biology and clinical relevance in human oncology. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **61**: 1155-1167.
- 327. Pillay, J., Kamp, V. M., van Hoffen, E., Visser, T., Tak, T., Lammers, J. W., Ulfman, L. H., Leenen, L. P., Pickkers, P., and Koenderman, L. 2012. A subset of neutrophils in human systemic inflammation inhibits T cell responses through Mac-1. J. Clin. Invest. 122: 327-336.
- 328. Pena, O. M., Pistolic, J., Raj, D., Fjell, C. D., and Hancock, R. E. 2011. Endotoxin tolerance represents a distinctive state of alternative polarization (M2) in human mononuclear cells. *J. Immunol.* **186**: 7243-7254.
- 329. Pillay, J., Tak, T., Kamp, V. M., and Koenderman, L. 2013. Immune suppression by neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: similarities and differences. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **70**: 3813-3827.
- 330. Millrud, C. R., Bergenfelz, C., and Leandersson, K. 2016. On the origin of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Oncotarget*.
- 331. Bergenfelz, C., Larsson, A. M., von Stedingk, K., Gruvberger-Saal, S., Aaltonen, K., Jansson, S., Jernstrom, H., Janols, H., Wullt, M., Bredberg, A., Ryden, L., and Leandersson, K. 2015. Systemic monocytic-MDSCs are generated from monocytes and correlate with disease progression in breast cancer patients. *PLoS One* 10: e0127028.

- 332. Rodriguez, P. C., Zea, A. H., Culotta, K. S., Zabaleta, J., Ochoa, J. B., and Ochoa, A. C. 2002. Regulation of T cell receptor CD3 zeta chain expression by Larginine. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 21123-21129.
- 333. Rodriguez, P. C., Quiceno, D. G., and Ochoa, A. C. 2007. L-arginine availability regulates T-lymphocyte cell-cycle progression. *Blood* **109**: 1568-1573.
- 334. Zea, A. H., Rodriguez, P. C., Atkins, M. B., Hernandez, C., Signoretti, S., Zabaleta, J., McDermott, D., Quiceno, D., Youmans, A., O'Neill, A., Mier, J., and Ochoa, A. C. 2005. Arginase-producing myeloid suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma patients: a mechanism of tumor evasion. *Cancer Res.* 65: 3044-3048.
- 335. Mazzoni, A., Bronte, V., Visintin, A., Spitzer, J. H., Apolloni, E., Serafini, P., Zanovello, P., and Segal, D. M. 2002. Myeloid suppressor lines inhibit T cell responses by an NO-dependent mechanism. *J. Immunol.* **168**: 689-695.
- 336. Macphail, S. E., Gibney, C. A., Brooks, B. M., Booth, C. G., Flanagan, B. F., and Coleman, J. W. 2003. Nitric oxide regulation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: critical time dependence and selectivity for cytokine versus chemokine expression. *J. Immunol.* **171**: 4809-4815.
- 337. Kielar, M. L., Sicher, S. C., Penfield, J. G., Jeyarajah, D. R., and Lu, C. Y. 2000. Nitric oxide inhibits INFgamma-induced increases in CIITA mRNA abundance and activation of CIITA dependent genes--class II MHC, Ii and H-2M. Class II TransActivator. *Inflammation* 24: 431-445.
- 338. Bronte, V., Serafini, P., Mazzoni, A., Segal, D. M., and Zanovello, P. 2003. Larginine metabolism in myeloid cells controls T-lymphocyte functions. *Trends Immunol.* **24**: 302-306.
- 339. Nagaraj, S., Gupta, K., Pisarev, V., Kinarsky, L., Sherman, S., Kang, L., Herber, D. L., Schneck, J., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2007. Altered recognition of antigen is a mechanism of CD8+ T cell tolerance in cancer. *Nat. Med.* 13: 828-835.
- 340. Brito, C., Naviliat, M., Tiscornia, A. C., Vuillier, F., Gualco, G., Dighiero, G., Radi, R., and Cayota, A. M. 1999. Peroxynitrite inhibits T lymphocyte activation and proliferation by promoting impairment of tyrosine phosphorylation and peroxynitrite-driven apoptotic death. *J. Immunol.* **162**: 3356-3366.
- 341. Corzo, C. A., Cotter, M. J., Cheng, P., Cheng, F., Kusmartsev, S., Sotomayor, E., Padhya, T., McCaffrey, T. V., McCaffrey, J. C., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2009. Mechanism regulating reactive oxygen species in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J. Immunol. 182: 5693-5701.
- 342. Kusmartsev, S., Nefedova, Y., Yoder, D., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2004. Antigenspecific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer is mediated by reactive oxygen species. *J. Immunol.* **172**: 989-999.

- 343. Otsuji, M., Kimura, Y., Aoe, T., Okamoto, Y., and Saito, T. 1996. Oxidative stress by tumor-derived macrophages suppresses the expression of CD3 zeta chain of T-cell receptor complex and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93: 13119-13124.
- 344. Schmielau, J., and Finn, O. J. 2001. Activated granulocytes and granulocytederived hydrogen peroxide are the underlying mechanism of suppression of t-cell function in advanced cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* **61**: 4756-4760.
- 345. Hildeman, D. A., Mitchell, T., Aronow, B., Wojciechowski, S., Kappler, J., and Marrack, P. 2003. Control of Bcl-2 expression by reactive oxygen species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **100**: 15035-15040.
- 346. Pan, P. Y., Ma, G., Weber, K. J., Ozao-Choy, J., Wang, G., Yin, B., Divino, C. M., and Chen, S. H. 2010. Immune stimulatory receptor CD40 is required for T-cell suppression and T regulatory cell activation mediated by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. *Cancer Res.* **70**: 99-108.
- 347. Yang, R., Cai, Z., Zhang, Y., Yutzy, W. H. t., Roby, K. F., and Roden, R. B. 2006. CD80 in immune suppression by mouse ovarian carcinoma-associated Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells. *Cancer Res.* 66: 6807-6815.
- 348. Serafini, P., Mgebroff, S., Noonan, K., and Borrello, I. 2008. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote cross-tolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res.* **68**: 5439-5449.
- 349. Huang, B., Pan, P. Y., Li, Q., Sato, A. I., Levy, D. E., Bromberg, J., Divino, C. M., and Chen, S. H. 2006. Gr-1+CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. *Cancer Res.* 66: 1123-1131.
- 350. Dardalhon, V., Anderson, A. C., Karman, J., Apetoh, L., Chandwaskar, R., Lee, D. H., Cornejo, M., Nishi, N., Yamauchi, A., Quintana, F. J., Sobel, R. A., Hirashima, M., and Kuchroo, V. K. 2010. Tim-3/galectin-9 pathway: regulation of Th1 immunity through promotion of CD11b+Ly-6G+ myeloid cells. *J. Immunol.* 185: 1383-1392.
- Zhu, C., Anderson, A. C., Schubart, A., Xiong, H., Imitola, J., Khoury, S. J., Zheng, X. X., Strom, T. B., and Kuchroo, V. K. 2005. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1245-1252.
- 352. Srivastava, M. K., Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Rodriguez, P., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2010. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine. *Cancer Res.* **70**: 68-77.
- 353. Condamine, T., Mastio, J., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2015. Transcriptional regulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **98**: 913-922.

- 354. Bunt, S. K., Yang, L., Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Leips, J., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2007. Reduced inflammation in the tumor microenvironment delays the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and limits tumor progression. *Cancer Res.* **67**: 10019-10026.
- 355. Sander, L. E., Sackett, S. D., Dierssen, U., Beraza, N., Linke, R. P., Muller, M., Blander, J. M., Tacke, F., and Trautwein, C. 2010. Hepatic acute-phase proteins control innate immune responses during infection by promoting myeloid-derived suppressor cell function. *J. Exp. Med.* **207**: 1453-1464.
- 356. Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Fulton, A. M., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2007. Prostaglandin E2 promotes tumor progression by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* **67**: 4507-4513.
- 357. Sinha, P., Okoro, C., Foell, D., Freeze, H. H., Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., and Srikrishna, G. 2008. Proinflammatory S100 proteins regulate the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J. Immunol.* **181**: 4666-4675.
- Strauss, L., Sangaletti, S., Consonni, F. M., Szebeni, G., Morlacchi, S., Totaro, M. G., Porta, C., Anselmo, A., Tartari, S., Doni, A., Zitelli, F., Tripodo, C., Colombo, M. P., and Sica, A. 2015. RORC1 regulates tumor-promoting "emergency" granulo-monocytopoiesis. *Cancer Cell* 28: 253-269.
- 359. Cheng, P., Corzo, C. A., Luetteke, N., Yu, B., Nagaraj, S., Bui, M. M., Ortiz, M., Nacken, W., Sorg, C., Vogl, T., Roth, J., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2008. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. *J. Exp. Med.* **205**: 2235-2249.
- 360. Gabrilovich, D., Ishida, T., Oyama, T., Ran, S., Kravtsov, V., Nadaf, S., and Carbone, D. P. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the development of dendritic cells and dramatically affects the differentiation of multiple hematopoietic lineages in vivo. *Blood* **92**: 4150-4166.
- Obermajer, N., Muthuswamy, R., Lesnock, J., Edwards, R. P., and Kalinski, P. 2011. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Blood* 118: 5498-5505.
- Zhao, X., Rong, L., Zhao, X., Li, X., Liu, X., Deng, J., Wu, H., Xu, X., Erben, U., Wu, P., Syrbe, U., Sieper, J., and Qin, Z. 2012. TNF signaling drives myeloidderived suppressor cell accumulation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 122: 4094-4104.
- Bunt, S. K., Clements, V. K., Hanson, E. M., Sinha, P., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2009. Inflammation enhances myeloid-derived suppressor cell cross-talk by signaling through Toll-like receptor 4. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85: 996-1004.
- Arora, M., Poe, S. L., Oriss, T. B., Krishnamoorthy, N., Yarlagadda, M., Wenzel,
  S. E., Billiar, T. R., Ray, A., and Ray, P. 2010. TLR4/MyD88-induced

CD11b+Gr-1 int F4/80+ non-migratory myeloid cells suppress Th2 effector function in the lung. *Mucosal Immunol.* **3**: 578-593.

- 365. Hong, E. H., Chang, S. Y., Lee, B. R., Kim, Y. S., Lee, J. M., Kang, C. Y., Kweon, M. N., and Ko, H. J. 2013. Blockade of Myd88 signaling induces antitumor effects by skewing the immunosuppressive function of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Int. J. Cancer* **132**: 2839-2848.
- 366. Hu, X., Li, B., Li, X., Zhao, X., Wan, L., Lin, G., Yu, M., Wang, J., Jiang, X., Feng, W., Qin, Z., Yin, B., and Li, Z. 2014. Transmembrane TNF-alpha promotes suppressive activities of myeloid-derived suppressor cells via TNFR2. J. Immunol. 192: 1320-1331.
- 367. Sade-Feldman, M., Kanterman, J., Ish-Shalom, E., Elnekave, M., Horwitz, E., and Baniyash, M. 2013. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blocks differentiation and enhances suppressive activity of immature myeloid cells during chronic inflammation. *Immunity* 38: 541-554.
- 368. Polz, J., Remke, A., Weber, S., Schmidt, D., Weber-Steffens, D., Pietryga-Krieger, A., Muller, N., Ritter, U., Mostbock, S., and Mannel, D. N. 2014. Myeloid suppressor cells require membrane TNFR2 expression for suppressive activity. *Immun. Inflamm. Dis.* 2: 121-130.
- 369. Schouppe, E., Mommer, C., Movahedi, K., Laoui, D., Morias, Y., Gysemans, C., Luyckx, A., De Baetselier, P., and Van Ginderachter, J. A. 2013. Tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets exert either inhibitory or stimulatory effects on distinct CD8+ T-cell activation events. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 43: 2930-2942.
- 370. Medina-Echeverz, J., Haile, L. A., Zhao, F., Gamrekelashvili, J., Ma, C., Metais, J. Y., Dunbar, C. E., Kapoor, V., Manns, M. P., Korangy, F., and Greten, T. F. 2014. IFN-gamma regulates survival and function of tumor-induced CD11b+ Gr-1high myeloid derived suppressor cells by modulating the anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl2a1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 44: 2457-2467.
- Bronte, V., Serafini, P., De Santo, C., Marigo, I., Tosello, V., Mazzoni, A., Segal, D. M., Staib, C., Lowel, M., Sutter, G., Colombo, M. P., and Zanovello, P. 2003. IL-4-induced arginase 1 suppresses alloreactive T cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Immunol.* 170: 270-278.
- 372. Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. 2005. Interleukin-13regulated M2 macrophages in combination with myeloid suppressor cells block immune surveillance against metastasis. *Cancer Res.* **65**: 11743-11751.
- Munera, V., Popovic, P. J., Bryk, J., Pribis, J., Caba, D., Matta, B. M., Zenati, M., and Ochoa, J. B. 2010. Stat 6-dependent induction of myeloid derived suppressor cells after physical injury regulates nitric oxide response to endotoxin. *Ann. Surg.* 251: 120-126.

- 374. Roth, F., De La Fuente, A. C., Vella, J. L., Zoso, A., Inverardi, L., and Serafini, P. 2012. Aptamer-mediated blockade of IL4Ralpha triggers apoptosis of MDSCs and limits tumor progression. *Cancer Res.* 72: 1373-1383.
- 375. Rodriguez, P. C., Hernandez, C. P., Quiceno, D., Dubinett, S. M., Zabaleta, J., Ochoa, J. B., Gilbert, J., and Ochoa, A. C. 2005. Arginase I in myeloid suppressor cells is induced by COX-2 in lung carcinoma. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**: 931-939.
- 376. Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Oukka, M., and Kuchroo, V. K. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **27**: 485-517.
- 377. Cho, J. S., Pietras, E. M., Garcia, N. C., Ramos, R. I., Farzam, D. M., Monroe, H. R., Magorien, J. E., Blauvelt, A., Kolls, J. K., Cheung, A. L., Cheng, G., Modlin, R. L., and Miller, L. S. 2010. IL-17 is essential for host defense against cutaneous *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**: 1762-1773.
- 378. Lu, Y. J., Gross, J., Bogaert, D., Finn, A., Bagrade, L., Zhang, Q., Kolls, J. K., Srivastava, A., Lundgren, A., Forte, S., Thompson, C. M., Harney, K. F., Anderson, P. W., Lipsitch, M., and Malley, R. 2008. Interleukin-17A mediates acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. *PLoS Pathog.* **4**: e1000159.
- 379. Hamada, S., Umemura, M., Shiono, T., Tanaka, K., Yahagi, A., Begum, M. D., Oshiro, K., Okamoto, Y., Watanabe, H., Kawakami, K., Roark, C., Born, W. K., O'Brien, R., Ikuta, K., Ishikawa, H., Nakae, S., Iwakura, Y., Ohta, T., and Matsuzaki, G. 2008. IL-17A produced by gammadelta T cells plays a critical role in innate immunity against listeria monocytogenes infection in the liver. J. Immunol. 181: 3456-3463.
- 380. Miyazaki, Y., Hamano, S., Wang, S., Shimanoe, Y., Iwakura, Y., and Yoshida, H. 2010. IL-17 is necessary for host protection against acute-phase Trypanosoma cruzi infection. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 1150-1157.
- 381. Huang, W., Na, L., Fidel, P. L., and Schwarzenberger, P. 2004. Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-Candida albicans host defense in mice. *J. Infect. Dis.* **190**: 624-631.
- 382. Puel, A., Cypowyj, S., Bustamante, J., Wright, J. F., Liu, L., Lim, H. K., Migaud, M., Israel, L., Chrabieh, M., Audry, M., Gumbleton, M., Toulon, A., Bodemer, C., El-Baghdadi, J., Whitters, M., Paradis, T., Brooks, J., Collins, M., Wolfman, N. M., Al-Muhsen, S., Galicchio, M., Abel, L., Picard, C., and Casanova, J. L. 2011. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. *Science* 332: 65-68.
- 383. Onishi, R. M., and Gaffen, S. L. 2010. Interleukin-17 and its target genes: mechanisms of interleukin-17 function in disease. *Immunology* **129**: 311-321.
- 384. Gaffen, S. L. 2009. Structure and signalling in the IL-17 receptor family. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **9**: 556-567.

- 385. Yao, Z., Fanslow, W. C., Seldin, M. F., Rousseau, A. M., Painter, S. L., Comeau, M. R., Cohen, J. I., and Spriggs, M. K. 1995. Herpesvirus Saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. *Immunity* 3: 811-821.
- 386. Starnes, T., Robertson, M. J., Sledge, G., Kelich, S., Nakshatri, H., Broxmeyer, H. E., and Hromas, R. 2001. Cutting edge: IL-17F, a novel cytokine selectively expressed in activated T cells and monocytes, regulates angiogenesis and endothelial cell cytokine production. *J. Immunol.* **167**: 4137-4140.
- Wright, J. F., Guo, Y., Quazi, A., Luxenberg, D. P., Bennett, F., Ross, J. F., Qiu, Y., Whitters, M. J., Tomkinson, K. N., Dunussi-Joannopoulos, K., Carreno, B. M., Collins, M., and Wolfman, N. M. 2007. Identification of an interleukin 17F/17A heterodimer in activated human CD4+ T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 13447-13455.
- 388. Chang, S. H., and Dong, C. 2007. A novel heterodimeric cytokine consisting of IL-17 and IL-17F regulates inflammatory responses. *Cell Res.* **17**: 435-440.
- 389. Kuestner, R. E., Taft, D. W., Haran, A., Brandt, C. S., Brender, T., Lum, K., Harder, B., Okada, S., Ostrander, C. D., Kreindler, J. L., Aujla, S. J., Reardon, B., Moore, M., Shea, P., Schreckhise, R., Bukowski, T. R., Presnell, S., Guerra-Lewis, P., Parrish-Novak, J., Ellsworth, J. L., Jaspers, S., Lewis, K. E., Appleby, M., Kolls, J. K., Rixon, M., West, J. W., Gao, Z., and Levin, S. D. 2007. Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F. J. Immunol. 179: 5462-5473.
- 390. Wright, J. F., Bennett, F., Li, B., Brooks, J., Luxenberg, D. P., Whitters, M. J., Tomkinson, K. N., Fitz, L. J., Wolfman, N. M., Collins, M., Dunussi-Joannopoulos, K., Chatterjee-Kishore, M., and Carreno, B. M. 2008. The human IL-17F/IL-17A heterodimeric cytokine signals through the IL-17RA/IL-17RC receptor complex. *J. Immunol.* 181: 2799-2805.
- 391. Ishigame, H., Kakuta, S., Nagai, T., Kadoki, M., Nambu, A., Komiyama, Y., Fujikado, N., Tanahashi, Y., Akitsu, A., Kotaki, H., Sudo, K., Nakae, S., Sasakawa, C., and Iwakura, Y. 2009. Differential roles of interleukin-17A and -17F in host defense against mucoepithelial bacterial infection and allergic responses. *Immunity* **30**: 108-119.
- 392. Yang, X. O., Chang, S. H., Park, H., Nurieva, R., Shah, B., Acero, L., Wang, Y. H., Schluns, K. S., Broaddus, R. R., Zhu, Z., and Dong, C. 2008. Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J. Exp. Med. 205: 1063-1075.
- 393. Yamaguchi, Y., Fujio, K., Shoda, H., Okamoto, A., Tsuno, N. H., Takahashi, K., and Yamamoto, K. 2007. IL-17B and IL-17C are associated with TNF-alpha production and contribute to the exacerbation of inflammatory arthritis. *J. Immunol.* **179**: 7128-7136.

- 394. Li, H., Chen, J., Huang, A., Stinson, J., Heldens, S., Foster, J., Dowd, P., Gurney, A. L., and Wood, W. I. 2000. Cloning and characterization of IL-17B and IL-17C, two new members of the IL-17 cytokine family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97: 773-778.
- 395. Ramirez-Carrozzi, V., Sambandam, A., Luis, E., Lin, Z., Jeet, S., Lesch, J., Hackney, J., Kim, J., Zhou, M., Lai, J., Modrusan, Z., Sai, T., Lee, W., Xu, M., Caplazi, P., Diehl, L., de Voss, J., Balazs, M., Gonzalez, L., Jr., Singh, H., Ouyang, W., and Pappu, R. 2011. IL-17C regulates the innate immune function of epithelial cells in an autocrine manner. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 1159-1166.
- 396. Starnes, T., Broxmeyer, H. E., Robertson, M. J., and Hromas, R. 2002. Cutting edge: IL-17D, a novel member of the IL-17 family, stimulates cytokine production and inhibits hemopoiesis. *J. Immunol.* **169**: 642-646.
- 397. Song, X., Zhu, S., Shi, P., Liu, Y., Shi, Y., Levin, S. D., and Qian, Y. 2011. IL-17RE is the functional receptor for IL-17C and mediates mucosal immunity to infection with intestinal pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* **12**: 1151-1158.
- 398. Fort, M. M., Cheung, J., Yen, D., Li, J., Zurawski, S. M., Lo, S., Menon, S., Clifford, T., Hunte, B., Lesley, R., Muchamuel, T., Hurst, S. D., Zurawski, G., Leach, M. W., Gorman, D. M., and Rennick, D. M. 2001. IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. *Immunity* 15: 985-995.
- 399. Rickel, E. A., Siegel, L. A., Yoon, B. R., Rottman, J. B., Kugler, D. G., Swart, D. A., Anders, P. M., Tocker, J. E., Comeau, M. R., and Budelsky, A. L. 2008. Identification of functional roles for both IL-17RB and IL-17RA in mediating IL-25-induced activities. *J. Immunol.* 181: 4299-4310.
- 400. Owyang, A. M., Zaph, C., Wilson, E. H., Guild, K. J., McClanahan, T., Miller, H. R., Cua, D. J., Goldschmidt, M., Hunter, C. A., Kastelein, R. A., and Artis, D. 2006. Interleukin 25 regulates type 2 cytokine-dependent immunity and limits chronic inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. J. Exp. Med. 203: 843-849.
- Kleinschek, M. A., Owyang, A. M., Joyce-Shaikh, B., Langrish, C. L., Chen, Y., Gorman, D. M., Blumenschein, W. M., McClanahan, T., Brombacher, F., Hurst, S. D., Kastelein, R. A., and Cua, D. J. 2007. IL-25 regulates Th17 function in autoimmune inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 161-170.
- 402. Park, H., Li, Z., Yang, X. O., Chang, S. H., Nurieva, R., Wang, Y. H., Wang, Y., Hood, L., Zhu, Z., Tian, Q., and Dong, C. 2005. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1133-1141.
- 403. Harrington, L. E., Hatton, R. D., Mangan, P. R., Turner, H., Murphy, T. L., Murphy, K. M., and Weaver, C. T. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1123-1132.

- Ivanov, II, McKenzie, B. S., Zhou, L., Tadokoro, C. E., Lepelley, A., Lafaille, J. J., Cua, D. J., and Littman, D. R. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 126: 1121-1133.
- 405. Kryczek, I., Zhao, E., Liu, Y., Wang, Y., Vatan, L., Szeliga, W., Moyer, J., Klimczak, A., Lange, A., and Zou, W. 2011. Human TH17 cells are long-lived effector memory cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **3**: 104ra100.
- 406. Sutton, C. E., Lalor, S. J., Sweeney, C. M., Brereton, C. F., Lavelle, E. C., and Mills, K. H. 2009. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity* **31**: 331-341.
- 407. Spits, H., Artis, D., Colonna, M., Diefenbach, A., Di Santo, J. P., Eberl, G., Koyasu, S., Locksley, R. M., McKenzie, A. N., Mebius, R. E., Powrie, F., and Vivier, E. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells--a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13: 145-149.
- 408. Li, L., Huang, L., Vergis, A. L., Ye, H., Bajwa, A., Narayan, V., Strieter, R. M., Rosin, D. L., and Okusa, M. D. 2010. IL-17 produced by neutrophils regulates IFN-gamma-mediated neutrophil migration in mouse kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. J. Clin. Invest. 120: 331-342.
- Lourda, M., Olsson-Akefeldt, S., Gavhed, D., Bjornfot, S., Clausen, N., Hjalmars, U., Sabel, M., Tazi, A., Arico, M., Delprat, C., Henter, J. I., and Svensson, M. 2014. Detection of IL-17A-producing peripheral blood monocytes in Langerhans cell histiocytosis patients. *Clin. Immunol.* 153: 112-122.
- 410. Hueber, A. J., Asquith, D. L., Miller, A. M., Reilly, J., Kerr, S., Leipe, J., Melendez, A. J., and McInnes, I. B. 2010. Mast cells express IL-17A in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. *J. Immunol.* **184**: 3336-3340.
- 411. Novatchkova, M., Leibbrandt, A., Werzowa, J., Neubuser, A., and Eisenhaber, F. 2003. The STIR-domain superfamily in signal transduction, development and immunity. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 28: 226-229.
- 412. Chang, S. H., Park, H., and Dong, C. 2006. Act1 adaptor protein is an immediate and essential signaling component of interleukin-17 receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**: 35603-35607.
- 413. Liu, C., Qian, W., Qian, Y., Giltiay, N. V., Lu, Y., Swaidani, S., Misra, S., Deng, L., Chen, Z. J., and Li, X. 2009. Act1, a U-box E3 ubiquitin ligase for IL-17 signaling. *Sci Signal* **2**: ra63.
- 414. Gaffen, S. L., Jain, R., Garg, A. V., and Cua, D. J. 2014. The IL-23-IL-17 immune axis: from mechanisms to therapeutic testing. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14: 585-600.

- 415. Shen, F., Hu, Z., Goswami, J., and Gaffen, S. L. 2006. Identification of common transcriptional regulatory elements in interleukin-17 target genes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281: 24138-24148.
- 416. Ruddy, M. J., Wong, G. C., Liu, X. K., Yamamoto, H., Kasayama, S., Kirkwood, K. L., and Gaffen, S. L. 2004. Functional cooperation between interleukin-17 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha is mediated by CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein family members. J. Biol. Chem. 279: 2559-2567.
- 417. Herjan, T., Yao, P., Qian, W., Li, X., Liu, C., Bulek, K., Sun, D., Yang, W. P., Zhu, J., He, A., Carman, J. A., Erzurum, S. C., Lipshitz, H. D., Fox, P. L., Hamilton, T. A., and Li, X. 2013. HuR is required for IL-17-induced Act1mediated CXCL1 and CXCL5 mRNA stabilization. *J. Immunol.* **191**: 640-649.
- 418. Chen, J., Cascio, J., Magee, J. D., Techasintana, P., Gubin, M. M., Dahm, G. M., Calaluce, R., Yu, S., and Atasoy, U. 2013. Posttranscriptional gene regulation of IL-17 by the RNA-binding protein HuR is required for initiation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* **191**: 5441-5450.
- 419. Fossiez, F., Djossou, O., Chomarat, P., Flores-Romo, L., Ait-Yahia, S., Maat, C., Pin, J. J., Garrone, P., Garcia, E., Saeland, S., Blanchard, D., Gaillard, C., Das Mahapatra, B., Rouvier, E., Golstein, P., Banchereau, J., and Lebecque, S. 1996. T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2593-2603.
- 420. Ogura, H., Murakami, M., Okuyama, Y., Tsuruoka, M., Kitabayashi, C., Kanamoto, M., Nishihara, M., Iwakura, Y., and Hirano, T. 2008. Interleukin-17 promotes autoimmunity by triggering a positive-feedback loop via interleukin-6 induction. *Immunity* **29**: 628-636.
- 421. Jovanovic, D. V., Di Battista, J. A., Martel-Pelletier, J., Jolicoeur, F. C., He, Y., Zhang, M., Mineau, F., and Pelletier, J. P. 1998. IL-17 stimulates the production and expression of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-beta and TNF-alpha, by human macrophages. *J. Immunol.* **160**: 3513-3521.
- 422. Lin, Y., Ritchea, S., Logar, A., Slight, S., Messmer, M., Rangel-Moreno, J., Guglani, L., Alcorn, J. F., Strawbridge, H., Park, S. M., Onishi, R., Nyugen, N., Walter, M. J., Pociask, D., Randall, T. D., Gaffen, S. L., Iwakura, Y., Kolls, J. K., and Khader, S. A. 2009. Interleukin-17 is required for T helper 1 cell immunity and host resistance to the intracellular pathogen Francisella tularensis. *Immunity* **31**: 799-810.
- 423. LeGrand, A., Fermor, B., Fink, C., Pisetsky, D. S., Weinberg, J. B., Vail, T. P., and Guilak, F. 2001. Interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interleukin-17 synergistically up-regulate nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 production in explants of human osteoarthritic knee menisci. *Arthritis Rheum.* **44**: 2078-2083.
- 424. Li, X., Afif, H., Cheng, S., Martel-Pelletier, J., Pelletier, J. P., Ranger, P., and Fahmi, H. 2005. Expression and regulation of microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 in human osteoarthritic cartilage and chondrocytes. *J. Rheumatol.* **32**: 887-895.
- 425. Pu, Y., Zhang, S., Zhou, R., Huang, N., Li, H., Wei, W., Li, L., Huang, C., Yang, J., and Li, Z. 2016. IL-17A up-regulates expression of endothelial tissue factor in liver cirrhosis via the ROS/p38 signal pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 470: 41-47.
- 426. Shen, F., and Gaffen, S. L. 2008. Structure-function relationships in the IL-17 receptor: implications for signal transduction and therapy. *Cytokine* **41**: 92-104.
- 427. Schwarzenberger, P., Huang, W., Ye, P., Oliver, P., Manuel, M., Zhang, Z., Bagby, G., Nelson, S., and Kolls, J. K. 2000. Requirement of endogenous stem cell factor and granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor for IL-17-mediated granulopoiesis. *J. Immunol.* **164**: 4783-4789.
- 428. Ye, P., Rodriguez, F. H., Kanaly, S., Stocking, K. L., Schurr, J., Schwarzenberger, P., Oliver, P., Huang, W., Zhang, P., Zhang, J., Shellito, J. E., Bagby, G. J., Nelson, S., Charrier, K., Peschon, J. J., and Kolls, J. K. 2001. Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. *J. Exp. Med.* **194**: 519-527.
- 429. Shahrara, S., Pickens, S. R., Mandelin, A. M., 2nd, Karpus, W. J., Huang, Q., Kolls, J. K., and Pope, R. M. 2010. IL-17-mediated monocyte migration occurs partially through CC chemokine ligand 2/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 induction. *J. Immunol.* **184**: 4479-4487.
- 430. Kao, C. Y., Huang, F., Chen, Y., Thai, P., Wachi, S., Kim, C., Tam, L., and Wu, R. 2005. Up-regulation of CC chemokine ligand 20 expression in human airway epithelium by IL-17 through a JAK-independent but MEK/NF-kappaB-dependent signaling pathway. J. Immunol. 175: 6676-6685.
- 431. Khader, S. A., Bell, G. K., Pearl, J. E., Fountain, J. J., Rangel-Moreno, J., Cilley, G. E., Shen, F., Eaton, S. M., Gaffen, S. L., Swain, S. L., Locksley, R. M., Haynes, L., Randall, T. D., and Cooper, A. M. 2007. IL-23 and IL-17 in the establishment of protective pulmonary CD4+ T cell responses after vaccination and during Mycobacterium tuberculosis challenge. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 369-377.
- 432. Kim, K. W., Cho, M. L., Kim, H. R., Ju, J. H., Park, M. K., Oh, H. J., Kim, J. S., Park, S. H., Lee, S. H., and Kim, H. Y. 2007. Up-regulation of stromal cellderived factor 1 (CXCL12) production in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts through interactions with T lymphocytes: role of interleukin-17 and CD40L-CD40 interaction. *Arthritis Rheum.* 56: 1076-1086.

- 433. Hartupee, J., Liu, C., Novotny, M., Li, X., and Hamilton, T. 2007. IL-17 enhances chemokine gene expression through mRNA stabilization. *J. Immunol.* **179**: 4135-4141.
- 434. Chowdhury, S., Dijkhuis, A., Steiert, S., and Lutter, R. 2013. IL-17 attenuates degradation of ARE-mRNAs by changing the cooperation between AU-binding proteins and microRNA16. *PLoS Genet.* **9**: e1003747.
- 435. Shimada, M., Andoh, A., Hata, K., Tasaki, K., Araki, Y., Fujiyama, Y., and Bamba, T. 2002. IL-6 secretion by human pancreatic periacinar myofibroblasts in response to inflammatory mediators. *J. Immunol.* **168**: 861-868.
- 436. Zrioual, S., Ecochard, R., Tournadre, A., Lenief, V., Cazalis, M. A., and Miossec, P. 2009. Genome-wide comparison between IL-17A- and IL-17F-induced effects in human rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. *J. Immunol.* **182**: 3112-3120.
- 437. Tohyama, M., Hanakawa, Y., Shirakata, Y., Dai, X., Yang, L., Hirakawa, S., Tokumaru, S., Okazaki, H., Sayama, K., and Hashimoto, K. 2009. IL-17 and IL-22 mediate IL-20 subfamily cytokine production in cultured keratinocytes via increased IL-22 receptor expression. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **39**: 2779-2788.
- 438. Liang, S. C., Tan, X. Y., Luxenberg, D. P., Karim, R., Dunussi-Joannopoulos, K., Collins, M., and Fouser, L. A. 2006. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J. Exp. Med.* **203**: 2271-2279.

### Chapter 2

### Rationale and Specific Aims

#### 2.1 Rationale

Toxic shock syndrome (TSS) is a potentially fatal illness characterized by a systemic inflammatory response triggered by exposure to superantigens (Sags) (1). These bacterial toxins directly cross-link T cell receptors (TCRs) on T cells with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to activate an extraordinary number of T cells. This overwhelming activation of T cells causes rapid and massive production of inflammatory mediators known as a 'cytokine storm', beginning hours after SAg exposure. The cytokine storm initiates a cascade of drastic tissue-damaging effects including disseminated intravascular coagulation, vascular leak and tissue hypoxia. If unchecked, this inflammatory process culminates in the dysfunction of multiple organ systems and possibly death. Alarmingly, there currently are no available therapeutic options to attenuate the cytokine storm. Successful treatment of TSS relies almost entirely on supportive therapy and critical care (2). Given the rapidity with which TSS progresses to life-threatening disease, identifying early mediators of the cytokine storm may hold the key to designing effective therapies that mitigate the severity of TSS. Furthermore, much of our understanding regarding TSS immunopathology relies on imperfect animal models that are limited in their ability to reflect human disease. Mouse models of TSS have been hampered by the fact that SAgs bind to certain mouse MHC molecules with very poor affinity resulting in minimal T cell activation and little cytokine production (3). Transgenic mice expressing humanized MHC (e.g. HLA-DR) that are exposed to SAgs have been shown to faithfully recapitulate many aspects of human TSS (4-6). Therefore, my objective is to utilize an HLA-DR4 transgenic (DR4tg) mouse model to identify and characterize regulatory and effector

immune responses in the early phase TSS. I hypothesize that rapid effector and suppressor cell responses are critical to TSS pathogenesis and may be targeted to reduce disease severity.

#### 2.2 Specific Aims

## 2.2.1 Aim 1: To delineate the role of invariant natural killer T cells in TSS immunopathogenesis

Invariant natural killer T (*i*NKT) cells are a subset of T lymphocytes possessing innatelike characteristics and are able to rapidly produce copious amounts of immunomodulatory cytokines upon activation. As a result, they can effectively modulate the function of many downstream regulatory and effector cells types, thus shaping the nature of the ensuing immune response. *i*NKT cells can also be therapeutically targeted by glycolipid agonists to polarize them towards a pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotype. Previous work in our lab utilizing DR4tg mice demonstrated that SAgs activate iNKT cells to produce inflammatory cytokines in vivo (7). However, whether iNKT cells play a regulatory or effector role during TSS was unknown. In light of our previous findings, I hypothesized that *i*NKT cells are pathogenic in TSS and contributed to the cytokine storm. In Chapter 3, I compared TSS morbidity and mortality in DR4tg mice to a newly generated strain of 'iNKT-deficient' DR4tg mice, dubbed 'DJ' mice. These findings were confirmed using the recently described iNKT cell-depleting monoclonal antibody NKT14 (8). To determine whether *i*NKT cells participate in the cytokine storm, I quantified the levels of serum cytokines in DR4tg and DJ mice within the first 24 hours of TSS onset. Finally, I ascertained whether the polarization of *i*NKT cells towards an antiinflammatory phenotype by the glycolipid agonist OCH (9) could reduce TSS severity. Here, I provided the first report addressing the role of *i*NKT cells in TSS pathogenesis.

2.2.2 Aim 2: To determine the identity and function of a suddenly prominent population of hepatic myeloid cells in a humanized mouse model of TSS

While investigating TSS in a DR4tg mouse model, I detected a suddenly prominent population of cells in the liver within hours of SAg exposure. These cells exhibited a high forward- and side-scatter phenotype by cytofluorimetric analysis, consistent with cells of the myeloid lineage. Given that severe and/or chronic inflammation drives the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in peripheral tissues, such as in sepsis (10) or cancer (11), I hypothesized that these hepatic myeloid cells were MDSCs. Importantly, the presence of MDSCs in TSS was yet to be defined and therefore their role in TSS was unknown. In Chapter 4, I characterized the surface phenotype of putative MDSCs using a panel of fluorochrome-labeled mAbs. I also determined the capacity of these cells to prevent SAg-activated T cell responses via a suppression assay. Using chemical inhibitors of MDSC pathways, I established the major effector molecule responsible for MDSC-mediated T cell suppression. Lastly, I generated human MDSCs in vitro to address whether they were able to similarly able to prevent autologous T cells responses to SAg. Taken together, I demonstrated for the first time the accumulation and function of hepatic MDSCs in TSS.

## 2.2.3 Aim 3: To define the contribution of interleukin-17 to TSS immunopathology

Interleukin-17A (IL-17A) is a potent inducer of systemic inflammation, stimulating the production of a variety of inflammatory mediators including cytokines, chemokines, and transcription factors from many cell types. Importantly, IL-17A both directly triggers and acts synergistically with inflammatory cytokines involved in the TSS cytokine storm, namely tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ), IL-1 and IL-6 (12). It can also be rapidly produced upon activation of conventional  $CD4^+$  T helper type 17 (Th17) cells in addition to innate-like T lymphocytes such as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and *i*NKT cells (13). However, whether SAgs elicit IL-17A responses that contribute to the cytokine storm and potentiate TSS immunopathogenesis was unexplored. A previous investigation in our lab identified the presence of IL-17A in serum within hours of exposure to SAg in DR4tg mice (7). Thus, I hypothesized that SAgs trigger a rapid IL-17A response that promotes TSS immunopathology. In Chapter 5, I characterized the magnitude, timing and source of IL-17A production in both DR4tg mice and human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in response to SAgs. Utilizing a mAb to the IL-17A receptor in human PBMCs, I identified the effects of IL-17A signaling on the expression of key downstream inflammatory mediators implicated in TSS-associated cytokine storm. Finally, I investigated the in vivo significance of IL-17A function in the DR4tg mouse model of TSS and assessed its impact on disease morbidity, mortality and tissue damage. Collectively, this study reveals for the first time the role of IL-17A in the cytokine storm and TSS-mediated immunopathology.

#### 2.3 References

- 1. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 2. Silversides, J. A., Lappin, E., and Ferguson, A. J. 2010. Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome: mechanisms and management. *Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep.* **12**: 392-400.
- Mollick, J. A., Chintagumpala, M., Cook, R. G., and Rich, R. R. 1991. Staphylococcal exotoxin activation of T cells. Role of exotoxin-MHC class II binding affinity and class II isotype. *J. Immunol.* 146: 463-468.
- 4. Tilahun, A. Y., Marietta, E. V., Wu, T. T., Patel, R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Human leukocyte antigen class II transgenic mouse model unmasks the significant extrahepatic pathology in toxic shock syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* **178**: 2760-2773.
- 5. DaSilva, L., Welcher, B. C., Ulrich, R. G., Aman, M. J., David, C. S., and Bavari, S. 2002. Humanlike immune response of human leukocyte antigen-DR3 transgenic mice to staphylococcal enterotoxins: a novel model for superantigen vaccines. *J. Infect. Dis.* **185**: 1754-1760.
- Mangalam, A. K., Rajagopalan, G., Taneja, V., and David, C. S. 2008. HLA class II transgenic mice mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Adv. Immunol.* 97: 65-147.
- 7. Hayworth, J. L., Mazzuca, D. M., Maleki Vareki, S., Welch, I., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 699-709.
- 8. Scheuplein, F., Lamont, D. J., Poynter, M. E., Boyson, J. E., Serreze, D., Lundblad, L. K., Mashal, R., and Schaub, R. 2015. Mouse invariant monoclonal antibody NKT14: A novel tool to manipulate iNKT cell function in vivo. *PLoS One* **10**: e0140729.
- 9. Miyamoto, K., Miyake, S., and Yamamura, T. 2001. A synthetic glycolipid prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inducing TH2 bias of natural killer T cells. *Nature* **413**: 531-534.
- Cuenca, A. G., Delano, M. J., Kelly-Scumpia, K. M., Moreno, C., Scumpia, P. O., Laface, D. M., Heyworth, P. G., Efron, P. A., and Moldawer, L. L. 2011. A paradoxical role for myeloid-derived suppressor cells in sepsis and trauma. *Mol. Med.* 17: 281-292.
- 11. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., and Sinha, P. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. *J. Immunol.* **182**: 4499-4506.

- 12. Shen, F., and Gaffen, S. L. 2008. Structure-function relationships in the IL-17 receptor: implications for signal transduction and therapy. *Cytokine* **41**: 92-104.
- 13. Cua, D. J., and Tato, C. M. 2010. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **10**: 479-489.

### Chapter 3

Invariant NKT Cells are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted to Reduce Morbidity

This chapter has been previously published:

Szabo, P. A., Rudak, P. T., Choi, J., Xu, S. X., Schaub, R., Singh, B., McCormick, J. K., Haeryfar, S. M. M. 2016. Invariant NKT Cells are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted To Reduce Morbidity. *J. Infect. Dis.* doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw646

Copyright 2016. Reproduced with permission from Oxford University Press.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) and other superantigens (SAgs) secreted by *Staphylococcus aureus* cause human illnesses ranging from mild food poisoning to potentially fatal toxic shock syndrome (TSS) (1). Systemic exposure to SAgs results in polyclonal stimulation of T cells irrespective of their cognate specificity. SAgs are inherently capable of binding to select V $\beta$  regions of the T cell receptor (TCR) and lateral surfaces of MHC class II harbored by antigen-presenting cells. Consequently, rapid and massive release of inflammatory mediators is triggered, which can be followed by fever, shock and organ failure.

Invariant natural killer T (*i*NKT) cells are innate-like T lymphocytes with profound immunoregulatory properties (2). Mouse *i*NKT cells express a canonical TCR $\alpha$  chain with a characteristic V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 rearrangement, which is paired with one of a limited number of V $\beta$  chains. *i*NKT cells uniquely recognize glycolipid antigens presented by CD1d.

We previously established that mouse and human *i*NKT cells can directly respond to group II bacterial SAgs, including SEB, in a CD1d-independent manner (3). However, whether these cells play a pathogenic or regulatory role during TSS is unknown. This is an important question in light of the facts that: i) *i*NKT cells are strategically located at the host-pathogen interface; ii) they exhibit a 'pre-activated' or 'memory-like' phenotype (2) and can, as such, be quickly activated; iii) *i*NKT cells possess pre-formed mRNA for certain inflammatory cytokines (4), which enables them to secrete such cytokines amply and speedily; iv) *i*NKT cells exert pleiotropic effects on numerous downstream effector/regulatory cell types including NK, T, B and dendritic cells, macrophages and

myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Therefore, they shape the nature of ensuing immune responses; v) iNKT cells are easily 'polarizable' towards a pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotype. Therefore, they can be manipulated by synthetic glycolipids in a disease-tailored fashion (5).

In this work, we have used a humanized mouse model mimicking several aspects of TSS and two distinct experimental strategies, namely genetic deficiency and antibodymediated depletion of *i*NKT cells, to determine if: i) *i*NKT cells are pathogenic effectors of TSS; ii) deviating *i*NKT cell responses towards a  $T_{H2}$  phenotype ameliorates the severity of TSS.

#### 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Ethics

This study was conducted using a protocol approved by the Western University Animal Use Subcommittee and in full adherence to the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

#### 3.2.2 Mice

Age- and sex-matched adult mice were used in all experiments. Wild-type C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Canada. HLA-DR4-transgenic (DR4tg) mice on a C57BL/6 background were bred in our barrier facility. These animals are endogenous MHC class II (IA $\beta$ )-deficient but express a chimeric HLA molecule encoded by HLA-DRA-IE $\alpha$  and HLA-DRB1\*0401-IE $\beta$  transgenes (6).

To develop an *i*NKT cell-deficient mouse strain that is humanized to express HLA II, DR4tg mice were crossed with  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice, on a C57BL/6 background, which lack *i*NKT cells (7). The resultant HLA-DR4tg.J $\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice, hereafter referred to as DJ mice, were bred to homozygosity and examined for the presence of HLA-DR transgenes, J $\alpha 18$  and IA $\beta$ , or lack thereof, by PCR. Briefly, ear clip genomic DNA was prepared using HotSHOT, and PCR was performed using Platinum Taq DNA polymerase (Thermo Fisher). PCR products were visualized by agarose gel electrophoresis. Primers used for genotyping are listed in **Table 3.1**.

Wild-type C57BL/6, J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup>, DR4tg and DJ mice were all housed in the same facility.

<b>Probe/Primer</b>	Sequence (5'-3')/Assay ID	Dye	Source
Va14-Ja18 Primer	TGGGAGATACTCAGCAACTCTGG	N/A	Sigma-
(Forward)			Aldrich
Va14-Ja18 Primer	CAGGTATGACAATCAGCTGAGTCC	N/A	Sigma-
(Reverse)			Aldrich
Vα14-Jα18	CACCCTGCTGGATGACACTGCCAC	FAM-	Thermo
TaqMan Probe		MGB	Fisher
			Scientific
TBP TaqMan	Mm00446973_m1	FAM-	Thermo
Assay		MGB	Fisher
			Scientific
HLA-DRA-ΙΕα	GGGAAGCAGGGGGGACTATGAC	N/A	Sigma-
Primer (Forward)	from Ref (6)		Aldrich
HLA-DRA-ΙΕα	TTAGGGCAATGACTTCGTAGG	N/A	Sigma-
Primer (Reverse)	from Ref (6)		Aldrich
HLA-DRB1*0401-	TGAAAGCGGTGCGTGCTGTTTAA	N/A	Sigma-
IEβ Primer	from Ref (6)		Aldrich
(Reverse)			
HLA-DRB1*0401-	CACCCGCTCCGTCCCGTTGAA	N/A	Sigma-
IEβ Primer	from Ref (6)		Aldrich
(Reverse)			
HLA-DRtg	CCATGGACAAGGCAGGGACAAA	N/A	Sigma-
Insertion Primer			Aldrich
(Forward)			
HLA-DRtg	CCGTGACCAAAATGCACATTGAA	N/A	Sigma-
Insertion Primer			Aldrich
(Reverse)			
IA $\beta$ -neo <sup>r</sup> Primer	GGGAGGAGTACGTGCGCTACGACAG	N/A	Sigma-
(Forward)			Aldrich
$IA\beta$ -neo <sup>r</sup> Primer	GAGAACCTGCGTGCAATCCATCTTG	N/A	Sigma-
(Reverse)			Aldrich
Ja18 TCR Primer	CCCTCTTTCCTCCCTTCCCACCTT	N/A	Sigma-
(Forward)			Aldrich
Ja18 TCR Primer	ACAATGCCCTCCACCTTAGTCCTGA	N/A	Sigma-
(Reverse)			Aldrich
Ja18-neo <sup>r</sup> Primer	CCCTCTTTCCTCCCTTCCCACCTT	N/A	Sigma-
(Forward)	[same as Ja18 TCR Primer (Forward)]		Aldrich
Ja18-neo <sup>r</sup> Primer	ATCGCCTTCTATCGCCTTCTTGACG	N/A	Sigma-
(Reverse)			Aldrich

Table 3.1: PCR probes/primers used for genotyping and gene expression

#### 3.2.3 Immunophenotyping

Splenic single cell suspensions were prepared in cold, sterile PBS using a Wheaton Dounce tissue grinder. Non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells were isolated by density gradient centrifugation in 33.75% Percoll PLUS (GE Healthcare). For cytofluorimetric analyses, cells were pre-incubated with 5  $\mu$ g/mL anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (clone 2.4G2) before they were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and tetramers listed in **Table 3.2**. A FACSCanto II cytometer and FlowJo software were used to acquire and analyze data, respectively.

#### 3.2.4 *i*NKT cell depletion

DR4tg mice were injected *i.p.* with 200 µg of an *i*NKT cell-depleting mAb, NKT14 (8), which was supplied by NKT Therapeutics Inc. (Waltham, MA). A mouse IgG2a (clone C1.18.4 from BioXCell) was utilized as isotype control. To confirm *i*NKT cell depletion in NKT14-treated mice, splenic and hepatic mononuclear cells were stained with PBS-57-loaded mouse CD1d tetramer or with empty tetramer (staining control), which were both provided by the NIH Tetramer Core Facility. An aliquot of the same cell suspensions were subjected, in parallel, to real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) assaying for the V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 TCR $\alpha$  gene rearrangement. In brief, RNA was extracted using a PureLink RNA Mini Kit and converted to cDNA by SuperScript VILO Master Mix (Thermo Fisher). Contaminating genomic DNA was eliminated using on-column PureLink DNase. PCR was performed using a StepOnePlus System, TaqMan Probes listed in **Table 3.1** and TaqMan Fast Advanced Master mix (Thermo Fisher). Gene

Target	Species Reactivity	Host Species	Clone	Isotype	Fluoro- chrome	Source
ΤCRβ	Mouse	Armenian Hamster	H57- 597	IgG	FITC	eBioscience
HLA-DR	Human	Mouse	G46-6	IgG2a, к	PE	BD Pharmingen
<i>i</i> NKT TCR (PBS-57- loaded CD1d tetramer)	Mouse	N/A	N/A	N/A	APC	NIH Tetramer Core Facility
CD4	Mouse	Rat	GK1.5	IgG2b, κ	FITC	eBioscience
CD8	Mouse	Rat	53-6.7	IgG2a, к	PE	eBioscience
CD11c	Mouse	Armenian Hamster	N418	IgG	APC	eBioscience
CD19	Mouse	Rat	eBio- 1D3	IgG2a, к	FITC	eBioscience
CD45R (B220)	Mouse/ Human	Rat	RA3- 6B2	IgG2a, к	PE	eBioscience
F4/80	Mouse	Rat	BM8	IgG2a, к	APC	eBioscience
NK1.1	Mouse	Mouse	PK136	IgG2a, к	PE-Cy 7	eBioscience

Table 3.2: Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies/tetramers used for *i*NKT cell studies

expression fold-changes were calculated by  $\Delta\Delta C_T$  using TATA-binding protein (TBP) as the reference gene.

#### 3.2.5 TSS induction and treatment

Recombinant SEB was cloned from the *Staphylococcus aureus* strain COL, expressed in *E. coli* BL21 (DE3), and purified via nickel column chromatography. Mice were injected *i.p.* with 100  $\mu$ g SEB and monitored for up to 7 days, the maximum duration allowed under our protocol. Animals were euthanized when moribund or when 20% weight loss was reached.

Separate cohorts of mice were bled 2, 12 and/or 24 hours after they were injected with SEB or with 4  $\mu$ g of  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ GC) (Funakoshi). Serum cytokine analyses were performed by bead-based multiplexing (Eve Technologies), and the matrix2png utility was employed to generate heat maps.

In several experiments, DR4tg mice were treated *i.p.* with the T helper 2 ( $T_H2$ )-polarizing *i*NKT cell agonist OCH (NIH Tetramer Facility) at 4 µg/dose every day beginning one day before or 2 hours after SEB injection. Control DR4tg mice received vehicle containing 0.5% Tween-20, 56 mg/mL sucrose and 7.5 mg/mL histidine. Animals were monitored for weight loss and signs of morbidity.

#### 3.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons were made using Student's *t*-test, ANOVA or log-rank test as appropriate. \*, \*\*, \*\*\*and \*\*\*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$ ,  $p \le 0.01$ ,  $p \le 0.001$  and  $p \le 0.0001$ , respectively.

#### 3.3 Results and Discussion

We previously demonstrated that bacterial SAgs directly activate *i*NKT cells (3). Rieder *et al.* reported that intranasal administration of SEB causes acute lung injury in wild-type mice, but to a lesser degree in J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup> or CD1d<sup>-/-</sup> mice (9). However, intranasal inoculation of SEB does not provoke a cytokine storm (9) among other features of TSS, and the overall *in vivo* significance of *i*NKT cells in TSS pathogenesis remains unknown – hence the current investigation.

SAgs display poor affinity for MHC II molecules expressed in certain conventional mouse strains including C57BL/6 mice (10), which partially explains why such animals do not provide *bona fide* models in which to study host responses to SAgs. Therefore, we used DR4tg mice that express a humanized MHC II molecule that can establish interactions of sufficient affinity with SEB (11). Using this model also eliminates the need for pre-sensitization of mice with commonly used but notoriously toxic agents such as D-galactosamine (12).

We took two logistically distinct approaches to investigate the role of *i*NKT cells during TSS in the DR4tg model. First, we crossed DR4tg mice with germ-line *i*NKT cell knockout mice ( $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$ ) to generate an *i*NKT cell-deficient, SEB-responsive strain. We confirmed that the resulting "DJ" mice express HLA-DR but are devoid of *i*NKT cells (**Fig. 3.1A**). The frequencies of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells, dendritic cells, macrophages and NK cells were comparable in DR4tg and DJ mice (**Fig. 3.2**). When systemically exposed to SEB, DJ mice lost significantly less weight than did *i*NKT-sufficient DR4tg mice (**Fig. 3.1B**). Strikingly, by day 7, 75% of DJ mice had survived, whereas all DR4tg mice succumbed to the SAg challenge (**Fig. 3.1B**).



# Figure 3.1: Genetic or antibody-mediated depletion of *i*NKT cells reduces morbidity and mortality in SEB-injected DR4tg mice.

(A) Splenic and non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells from wild-type C57BL/6,  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$ , DR4tg and DJ mice were stained with a FITC-conjugated anti-TCR $\beta$  mAb, a PEconjugated anti-HLA-DR mAb and/or allophycocyanin-conjugated, PBS-57-loaded CD1d tetramer. Dot plots representing samples from 3 mice per group are depicted. (B) C57BL/6 (n=6), J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup> (n=6), DR4tg (n=8) and DJ (n=8) mice were injected with 100  $\mu$ g SEB and monitored for weight loss and survival for up to 7 days. Error bars represent SEM, and \* and \*\*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.001$ , respectively, for statistical differences (two-way ANOVA; Tukey) between DR4tg and DJ mice at indicated time points. For survival analyses, mice were euthanized when they reached a weight loss of 20% and the log-rank test was used for statistical comparisons. (C) DR4tg mice were treated with 200  $\mu$ g of the *i*NKT cell-depleting mAb NKT14 (n=12) or an isotype control (n=15) 24 hours before they were injected with 100 µg SEB. Mice were monitored for up to 7 days and euthanized when moribund as above. The noted p value was calculated using the log-rank test. (**D**) At the end point, hepatic and splenic mononuclear cells were isolated and stained with PBS-57-loaded or empty (control) CD1d tetramers and a FITCconjugated anti-TCR<sup>β</sup> mAb. Representative dot plots are illustrated (n=6/group). In addition,  $V\alpha 14$ -J $\alpha 18$  mRNA levels were quantified by qPCR. Gene expression foldchanges relative to isotype control-treated mice (dotted line) are shown (n=6/group). \* denotes a statistical difference with  $p \le 0.05$  (Student's *t*-test; two tailed) between  $\Delta CT$ values of NKT14- and isotype control-treated DR4tg mice.



Figure 3.2: DJ mice lack *i*NKT cells but harbor other major immune cell subsets.

Splenic cells from naïve C57BL/6, J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup>, DR4tg, and DJ mice were stained with a panel of fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs (or CD1d tetramer) and immunophenotyped by flow cytometry. Mean values (± SEM) for 3 mice per group are shown. \*\*\*\* denotes  $p \leq 0.0001$  (ANOVA). n.s. = not significant

Furthermore, 5 of the 6 surviving DJ mice had either returned to their initial weight or gained weight. SEB-exposed, wild-type C57BL/6 and J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed no signs of morbidity, as expected, due to their lack of humanized MHC II (**Fig. 3.1B**).

The observed differences in morbidity and mortality between DR4tg and DJ mice strongly suggested that iNKT cells are pathogenic in SEB-induced illness. We are cognizant of the recent report that the cellular deficiency found in the original J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which we used to generate DJ mice, is not exclusive to *i*NKT cells (13). Therefore, to unequivocally address the role of *i*NKT cells in TSS, we took advantage of a mAb, clone NKT14, which has become available only recently and which depletes *i*NKT cells selectively (8). Pre-treatment of DR4tg mice with NKT14 before SEB injection effectively reduced TSS mortality in comparison with DR4tg mice receiving an isotype control reagent (Fig. 3.1C), thus recapitulating the DJ phenotype. On day 7 post-SEB insult, 3 out of 4 surviving NKT14-treated mice exhibited moderate weight loss, which was not the basis for their euthanization at the experimental endpoint. To verify *i*NKT cell depletion by NKT14, livers and spleens were harvested from NKT14-treated and control mice and examined for the absence or presence of *i*NKT cells. CD1d tetramer staining revealed a near complete absence of splenic and hepatic *i*NKT cell detection in NKT14-treated mice (Fig. 3.1D). To rule out the possibility that this was due to *i*NKT cell TCR internalization, as opposed to their depletion, we isolated splenic and hepatic mononuclear cell mRNA from NKT14-treated and control mice and assessed the expression levels of the Va14-Ja18 TCR gene segment by qPCR. We found the mRNA level corresponding to the V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 TCR $\alpha$  chain to be dramatically diminished (by  $\sim$ 90%) in the liver of NKT14-treated mice. Interestingly, the mRNA levels in the spleen

showed approximately 50% reduction (**Fig. 3.1D**), suggesting that the efficacy of *i*NKT cell depletion by NKT14 is tissue-specific. This may explain the observed difference in the survival patterns of DJ mice and NKT14-treated DR4tg mice although we find it reassuring that this difference was not statistically significant (**Fig. 3.3**).

TSS is characterized by a rapid and overwhelming cytokine storm. As *i*NKT cells are directly activated by SEB (3) and since they can secrete inflammatory cytokines within hours of activation, we hypothesized that they should participate in the cytokine storm, especially in its early wave. Therefore, DR4tg and DJ mice were injected with SEB or with the prototypic *i*NKT cell superagonist  $\alpha$ GC (positive control), and serum cytokine levels were measured 2, 12 and 24 hours later. Consistent with our hypothesis, the majority of cytokines and chemokines induced by SEB in DR4tg mice reached their peak at the earliest time point examined (i.e., at 2 hours) (Fig. 3.4A). In fact, several proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-17A and TNF $\alpha$  were only present at the 2-hour time point (Fig. 3.4A and Fig. 3.5), suggesting that this early wave of cytokines may initiate or at least contribute to the TSS inflammatory cascade. Importantly, when compared to DR4tg mice, SEB-exposed DJ mice showed reduced levels of several cytokines known to play a direct role in TSS immunopathology, namely IL-1α, IL-2, IL-6, and TNFα (Fig. 3.4B). Multiple chemokines (CCL1, CCL4, CCL5, CXCL1 and CXCL10) and growth factors (G-CSF and GM-CSF) were also decreased in DJ mice (Fig. 3.4B). Together, these results implicate *i*NKT cells in production of inflammatory mediators early in the course of TSS and suggest that the observed reduction in morbidity and mortality of DJ mice may be owed to an attenuated cytokine storm.



Figure 3.3: TSS mortality is reduced in two separate models of *i*NKT cell deficiency. DJ mice (n=8), NKT14-treated DR4tg (n=12) and naïve or isotype control-treated DR4tg mice (n=23 combined) were injected with 100 µg SEB and monitored for mortality/survival. \*\*, \*\*\* denote  $p \le 0.01$  and  $p \le 0.001$ , respectively, by the log-rank test. n.s. = not significant



# Figure 3.4: *i*NKT cells are required for rapid inflammatory mediator production during TSS and their T<sub>H</sub>2-polarization reduces TSS severity.

(**A** and **B**) DR4tg and DJ mice were injected with 100 µg SEB or 4 µg  $\alpha$ GC (control), and bled 2, 12 and 24 hours later. Serum cytokine concentrations were quantified by bead-based multiplexing for DR4tg mice injected with SEB or  $\alpha$ GC (n=6 for each cohort) and for DJ mice injected with SEB (n=6) or  $\alpha$ GC (n=3). Mean values for each time point were used to generate a heat map (**A**). In addition, mean ± SEM values (pg/mL) are depicted for the 2-hour time point with \*, \*\*\*, \*\*\*\* denoting  $p \le 0.05$ ,  $p \le 0.01$ ,  $p \le 0.001$  and  $p \le 0.0001$ , respectively (Student's *t*-test; two tailed) (**B**). (**C**) DR4tg mice (n=6 per group) were treated daily with OCH (4 µg/dose) or vehicle beginning one day before SEB injection. The weight loss percentage (± SEM) is shown for up to 132 hours, after which time high mortality was observed in the vehicle-treated group. \* denotes  $p \le 0.05$  at indicated individual time points (Student's *t*-test; two-tailed). For survival analysis, mice were sacrificed when moribund (≥20% weight loss) and the pvalue was calculated by the log-rank test.



Figure 3.5: SEB-injected DJ mice exhibit a mild cytokine storm.

DR4tg and DJ mice were injected with 100  $\mu$ g SEB or 4  $\mu$ g  $\alpha$ GC, and serum cytokines levels at 2, 12 and 24 hours were quantified. Mean values (pg/mL)  $\pm$  SEM are shown.

Since the role of *i*NKT cells in TSS was generally pro-inflammatory, we attempted to skew their responses towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype using a  $T_H2$ -polarizing  $\alpha$ GC analog called OCH (14). DR4tg mice were administered OCH or vehicle daily before and after receiving SEB. OCH pre-treatment markedly reduced weight loss and rescued ~85% of the animals (**Fig. 3.4C**). Mechanistically, this finding indicates that it is indeed the pro-inflammatory capacity of *i*NKT cells that promotes TSS pathogenesis. To simulate clinical scenarios in which treatments are given after the TSS onset, we started OCH treatment in a separate cohort of DR4tg mice 2 hours after the SEB insult, which coincides with the peak of several inflammatory cytokines (**Fig. 3.4A**). Therapeutic administration of OCH inhibited SEB-induced weight loss and mortality (**Fig. 3.6**).

Our findings are likely translatable to clinical settings because: i) *i*NKT cells' mode of glycolipid antigen surveillance is evolutionarily conserved (15); ii) glycolipid agonists of *i*NKT cells have shown promise in clinical trials for conditions other than TSS (5). Unlike conventional T cells that are restricted by highly polymorphic MHC molecules, *i*NKT cells respond to glycolipid antigens presented by the monomorphic CD1d. Therefore, CD1d-restricted glycolipids can be used in diverse human populations. *i*NKT cells likely represent only one of several early mediators of TSS. Nevertheless, tangible clinical benefits may arise from *i*NKT cell-based therapies, alone or in combination with other modalities, for TSS.



Figure 3.6: Therapeutic administration of OCH ameliorates SEB-inflicted morbidity and mortality in DR4tg mice.

Male DR4tg mice (n=9 per group) were treated daily with OCH (4 mg/dose) or vehicle beginning at 2 hours post-SEB injection. The weight loss percentage ( $\pm$  SEM) is shown for up to 84 hours, after which time high mortality was observed in vehicle-treated mice and to a lesser degree in OCH-treated animals. \* denotes  $p \le 0.05$  at indicated time points (Student's *t*-test; two-tailed). For survival analysis, mice were euthanized when they lost 20% of their initial weight and the log-rank test was used to calculate the indicated pvalue.

#### 3.4 References

- 1. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 2. Salio, M., Silk, J. D., Jones, E. Y., and Cerundolo, V. 2014. Biology of CD1- and MR1-restricted T cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **32**: 323-366.
- 3. Hayworth, J. L., Mazzuca, D. M., Maleki Vareki, S., Welch, I., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 699-709.
- Stetson, D. B., Mohrs, M., Reinhardt, R. L., Baron, J. L., Wang, Z. E., Gapin, L., Kronenberg, M., and Locksley, R. M. 2003. Constitutive cytokine mRNAs mark natural killer (NK) and NK T cells poised for rapid effector function. *J. Exp. Med.* 198: 1069-1076.
- 5. van den Heuvel, M. J., Garg, N., Van Kaer, L., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2011. NKT cell costimulation: experimental progress and therapeutic promise. *Trends Mol. Med.* **17**: 65-77.
- Ito, K., Bian, H. J., Molina, M., Han, J., Magram, J., Saar, E., Belunis, C., Bolin, D. R., Arceo, R., Campbell, R., Falcioni, F., Vidovic, D., Hammer, J., and Nagy, Z. A. 1996. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2635-2644.
- Cui, J., Shin, T., Kawano, T., Sato, H., Kondo, E., Toura, I., Kaneko, Y., Koseki, H., Kanno, M., and Taniguchi, M. 1997. Requirement for Valpha14 NKT cells in IL-12-mediated rejection of tumors. *Science* 278: 1623-1626.
- 8. Scheuplein, F., Lamont, D. J., Poynter, M. E., Boyson, J. E., Serreze, D., Lundblad, L. K., Mashal, R., and Schaub, R. 2015. Mouse invariant monoclonal antibody NKT14: A novel tool to manipulate iNKT cell function in vivo. *PLoS One* **10**: e0140729.
- 9. Rieder, S. A., Nagarkatti, P., and Nagarkatti, M. 2011. CD1d-independent activation of invariant natural killer T cells by staphylococcal enterotoxin B through major histocompatibility complex class II/T cell receptor interaction results in acute lung injury. *Infect. Immun.* **79**: 3141-3148.
- Mollick, J. A., Chintagumpala, M., Cook, R. G., and Rich, R. R. 1991. Staphylococcal exotoxin activation of T cells. Role of exotoxin-MHC class II binding affinity and class II isotype. *J. Immunol.* 146: 463-468.
- 11. Szabo, P. A., Goswami, A., Memarnejadian, A., Mallett, C. L., Foster, P. J., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2016. Swift intrahepatic accumulation of

granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a humanized mouse model of toxic shock syndrome. J. Infect. Dis. 213: 1990-1995.

- 12. Tilahun, A. Y., Marietta, E. V., Wu, T. T., Patel, R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Human leukocyte antigen class II transgenic mouse model unmasks the significant extrahepatic pathology in toxic shock syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* **178**: 2760-2773.
- 13. Bedel, R., Matsuda, J. L., Brigl, M., White, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., and Gapin, L. 2012. Lower TCR repertoire diversity in Traj18-deficient mice. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**: 705-706.
- 14. Miyamoto, K., Miyake, S., and Yamamura, T. 2001. A synthetic glycolipid prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inducing TH2 bias of natural killer T cells. *Nature* **413**: 531-534.
- 15. Brossay, L., Chioda, M., Burdin, N., Koezuka, Y., Casorati, G., Dellabona, P., and Kronenberg, M. 1998. CD1d-mediated recognition of an alpha-galactosylceramide by natural killer T cells is highly conserved through mammalian evolution. *J. Exp. Med.* **188**: 1521-1528.

### Chapter 4

## Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome

This chapter has been previously published:

Szabo, P. A., Goswami, A., Memarnejadian, A., Mallett, C. L., Foster, P. J., McCormick J. K., and Haeryfar S.M.M. 2016. Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* **213**: 1990-1995. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw050.

Copyright 2016. Reproduced with permission from Oxford University Press.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Superantigens (SAgs) are exotoxins secreted by select bacterial pathogens including *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus pyogenes*. SAgs cause various illnesses ranging from typically self-limiting food poisoning to potentially life-threatening TSS (1). Moreover, if fallen into the wrong hands, SAgs can be weaponized and used against human populations. In fact, staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB), a prototype bacterial SAg and a cause of non-menstrual TSS, is considered a "category B priority" bioterrorism agent (2).

SAgs activate a sizeable fraction of the T cell repertoire, up to 50% of exposed T cells, irrespective of their T cell receptor (TCR) specificity for cognate peptide:MHC complexes. This occurs through unconventional contacts SAgs establish, in unprocessed form, with lateral surfaces of MHC class II molecules on antigen-presenting cells and select TCR  $\beta$ -chain variable (V $\beta$ ) domains expressed by many T cells (3, 4). The consequent polyclonal T cell activation can lead to a 'cytokine storm', systemic toxicity and hyperinflammation, which is often accompanied or followed by a state of profound immunosuppression. T cells targeted by SAgs in mouse models undergo activationinduced death or become anergic (4, 5). This generates physical or functional 'holes' in the T cell repertoire, thus potentially compromising the host's ability to combat the very bacteria that produce SAgs as well as concomitant or secondary infections. have Regulatory/suppressor cells also been implicated in SAg-mediated immunosuppression. For instance, in vitro exposure to SAgs reportedly converts conventional CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells to IL-10-producing CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T (Treg) cells (6). However, the *in vivo* significance of SAg-induced Treg cells is unclear. The potential contribution of other suppressor cell types including myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) to TSS-associated immunosuppression is ill-defined. Equally important, whether suppressor cell functions may benefit the host by mitigating tissue damage inflicted by unleashed, massive T cell responses remains a matter of debate. We have serendipitously discovered a dramatic, early-onset and tissue-selective influx of MDSCs into the liver of HLA-DR4 transgenic (DR4tg) mice shortly after systemic exposure to SEB. Here, we describe phenotypic and immunosuppressive characteristics of liver-infiltrating MDSCs in a humanized mouse model of TSS. We also extend our findings to an *in vitro* culture system in which human MDSCs modulate the T cell response to SEB.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Ethics

Peripheral blood was drawn from consenting healthy volunteers following a protocol approved by the Western University Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects. Animal experiments were conducted in accordance with Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

#### 4.2.2 Animals

DR4tg mice on a B6 background were bred in our barrier facility. These mice lack endogenous MHC class II molecules but express a chimeric HLA encoded by HLA-DRA-IE $\alpha$  and HLA-DRB1\*0401-IE $\beta$  transgenes (7). Adult wild-type (WT) B6 mice were purchased from Charles River, housed and cared for in the same facility.

#### 4.2.3 Mouse model of TSS

Using an approved biosafety protocol and following the Public Health Agency of Canada regulations, recombinant SEB was cloned from *Staphylococcus aureus* COL, expressed in *Escherichia coli* BL21 (DE3) and purified by nickel column chromatography (8). As a negative control, we generated and used an inactive form of SEB that carries an N $\rightarrow$ A point mutation at position 23 (9). This mutant, hereafter referred to as SEB<sub>N23A</sub>, is impaired in binding to mouse TCR V $\beta$ 8.2, which is a known target of intact SEB.

Mouse MHC II molecules exhibit poor affinity for SEB (10). Therefore, to simulate staphylococcal TSS, we injected DR4tg mice intraperitoneally (*i.p.*) with 50  $\mu$ g SEB (8, 9). This model may not mimic all clinical features of TSS (*e.g.*, capillary leakage due to SAgs' toxicity for human endothelial cells), but provides a powerful system in which to
study many inflammatory and immunological aspects of TSS. Control DR4tg animals received PBS or 50  $\mu$ g SEB<sub>N23A</sub>. As an additional control, SEB was administered *i.p.* to WT B6 mice.

#### 4.2.3 Cytofluorimetric analyses

Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Splenic, lymph node and thymic single-cell suspensions were prepared in cold, sterile PBS. Bone marrow cells were flushed, under aseptic conditions, out of femurs and tibias. To obtain non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells, livers were perfused through the central or portal vein with PBS. The tissue was then pressed through a wire mesh, and the resultant homogenate was resuspended in 33.75% Percoll PLUS (GE Healthcare) and spun at room temperature. Erythrocytes among pelleted cells were lysed, and a nylon mesh strainer was used to remove clumps and debris. Cells were incubated on ice with 5 µg/mL anti-mouse CD16/CD32 monoclonal antibody (mAb) (clone 2.4G2) to prevent Fcy receptor-mediated false positive staining with fluorochrome-labeled mAbs that were subsequently added. These included mAbs to cell surface CD11b, CD11c, CD31, CD244, CCR2, CCR5, Gr-1, Ly-6C, Ly-6G, F4/80 and c-kit. mAbs used in this study are listed in Table 4.1. For detection of intracellular Ki-67 after surface staining for indicated markers, cells were fixed and permeabilized using a BD Cytofix/Cytoperm<sup>TM</sup> kit followed by incubation with an anti-Ki-67 mAb. The 'Fluorescence Minus One' (FMO) control was used to precisely set the gate for Ki-67<sup>+</sup> events. A FACSCanto II cytometer and FlowJo software were employed for data collection and analysis, respectively.

Marker	Species Reactivity	Clone	Isotype	Source
CD11b	Mouse	M1/70	Rat IgG2b, ĸ	eBioscience
CD11c	Mouse	N418	Armenian Hamster IgG	eBioscience
CD31	Mouse	390	Rat IgG2a, κ	eBioscience
CD244	Mouse	244F4	Rat IgG2a	eBioscience
CCR2	Mouse	475301	Rat IgG2b	R&D Systems
CCR5	Mouse	HM-CCR5 (7A4)	Armenian Hamster IgG	eBioscience
Ly6G (Gr-1)	Mouse	RB6-8C5	Rat IgG2b, κ	eBioscience
Ly6G	Mouse	1A8	Rat IgG2a, κ	<b>BD</b> Pharmingen
Ly6C	Mouse	HK1.4	Rat IgG2c, ĸ	BioLegend
F4/80	Mouse	BM8	Rat IgG2a, κ	eBioscience
c-Kit	Mouse	2B8	Rat IgG2b, κ	eBioscience
Ki-67	Mouse	SolA15	Rat IgG2a, κ	eBioscience
CD3e	Mouse	145-2C11	Armenian Hamster IgG	eBioscience
CD33	Human	WM-53	Mouse IgG1, K	eBioscience

 Table 4.1: Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies used for MDSC studies

#### 4.2.4 In vitro generation of mouse BMDCs

Bone marrow cells were obtained from femurs and tibias of DR4tg mice, depleted of erythrocytes, filtered and seeded at a density of 1×10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, GlutaMAX<sup>TM</sup>, nonessential amino acids, sodium pyruvate, penicillin and streptomycin, which is referred to as complete medium in this report. Cells were cultured for 6 days in complete medium containing 10 ng/mL recombinant mouse GM-CSF and IL-4 (PeproTech). Every other day, non-adherent cells were discarded and cultures were replenished with fresh medium and cytokines. On day 6, CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells were magnetically purified using an EasySep<sup>TM</sup> Mouse CD11c Positive Selection Kit (STEMCELL Technologies).

#### 4.2.5 In vitro generation of human MDSCs

We used the method of Lechner et al. (11). Briefly, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from heparinized whole blood by density gradient centrifugation in Ficoll-Paque PLUS medium (GE Healthcare) and cultured for 7 days at 5×10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL complete medium supplemented with 10 ng/mL recombinant human IL-6 and GM-CSF (PeproTech). Adherent cells were then gently harvested using Detachin<sup>TM</sup> (Genlantis) and stained with an anti-human CD33 mAb before a FACSAria III cytometer was used to sort CD33<sup>+</sup> cells.

#### 4.2.6 T cell suppression assays

Hepatic CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells from SEB-treated DR4tg mice were sorted. A small aliquot was stained with Wright-Giemsa for morphological assessments. Splenic T cells from WT B6 mice were passed through nylon wool and magnetically purified using CD90.2

MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec). T cells were co-incubated with  $\gamma$ -irradiated BMDCs at a 4:1 (T cell:DC) ratio and stimulated with 100 ng/mL SEB in complete medium for 3 days. CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells were absent or present at indicated ratios. Cells were pulsed with tritiated thymidine ([<sup>3</sup>H]TdR) during the final 18 hours, and [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR uptake was determined by liquid scintillation counting. T cell proliferation was also judged by carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dye dilution within the CD3 $\epsilon^+$  population. In several experiments, N<sup>G</sup>-monomethy-L-arginine (L-NMMA, Calbiochem), N<sup> $\omega$ </sup>-hydoxy-nor-arginine (nor-NOHA, Calbiochem) or catalase (Sigma-Aldrich) were added to the cultures to inhibit nitric oxide synthase (NOS), arginase or reactive oxygen species (ROS), respectively (12).

For human T cell suppression assays, PBMCs were subjected to two successive rounds of purification using nylon wool columns (Polysciences). T cells were seeded at  $8 \times 10^4$  cells/well in a 96-well plate along with  $2 \times 10^4$   $\gamma$ -irradiated, nylon wool-adherent accessory cells, which consist mainly of B cells and monocytes. Autologous CD33<sup>+</sup> MDSCs were added to the cultures before SEB treatment, and [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR uptake was quantified.

#### 4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons were performed using Student's *t*-test, and differences with p<0.05 were deemed significant.

#### 4.3 Results and Discussion

While investigating TSS in the DR4tg mouse model (8, 9), we found a rapid and sizable rise in a high forward- and side-scatter population among non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells (**Fig. 4.1A**), but not within the spleen, thymus or lymph nodes (**Fig. 4.2**). Two hours after SEB injection, there was more than a three-fold increase in this population compared with untreated or PBS-treated DR4tg mice (**Fig. 4.1A**). This phenotype was much less pronounced in SEB-injected WT mice, indicating a requirement for higher-affinity human MHC interactions with SEB, which is in agreement with our previous reports (8, 9, 13).

To definitively demonstrate that T cell activation by SEB is a prerequisite for this phenotype, we used SEB<sub>N23A</sub>, a mutated version of SEB with a partially defective TCR binding capacity (9). As anticipated, injection of DR4tg mice with SEB<sub>N23A</sub> failed to induce a robust enlargement in the high forward- and side-scatter population within the liver (**Fig. 4.1A**). SEB<sub>N23A</sub> retains the ability to bind to DR4, and the modest response it elicits is likely contributed by TCR V $\beta$ s other than V $\beta$ 8.2.

Next, we used a wide panel of mAbs specific for various surface markers, including but not limited to those listed in **Fig. 4.1B**, to characterize the population under our scrutiny. This revealed a CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup> phenotype for the vast majority of the cells, which fits the granulocytic MDSC (G-MDSC) definition (14). The anti-Gr-1 mAb we used (clone RB6-8C5) may bind to both Ly-6G and Ly-6C. Therefore, in separate experiments, we employed a different mAb (clone 1A8) and confirmed that CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells were indeed Ly-6G<sup>+</sup> and Ly-6C<sup>+</sup> (**Fig. 4.3**). Furthermore, sorted cells stained



# Figure 4.1: CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup> cells amass in the liver of DR4tg mice shortly after SEB injection.

WT or DR4tg mice were injected with SEB, SEB<sub>N23A</sub> or PBS, and the frequencies of high forward- and side-scatter cells among non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells was determined 2 hours post-SEB exposure. Representative dot plots are illustrated and mean  $\pm$  SEM values for indicated number of mice per group are shown (**A**). The gated population from SEB-injected DR4tg mice was characterized cytofluorimetrically using mAbs specific for indicated markers (open histograms) and isotype controls (filled histograms) (**B**). The frequencies of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>low/neg</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup> cells among hepatic mononuclear cells of PBS- and SEB-injected DR4tg mice were determined (**C**). \* and \*\*\* denote *p*<0.05 and *p*<0.001, respectively.



Figure 4.2: G-MDSCs accumulate selectively in the liver following systemic exposure to SEB.

Indicated numbers of DR4tg mice were injected with SEB. Two hours later, nonparenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells as well as splenic, thymic and pooled lymph node cells were isolated and analyzed by a flow cytometer. Representative forward- and side-scatter dot plots are shown, and the mean frequency [ $\pm$  standard error of the means (SEM)] of the gated population is stated for each group (**A**). The percentages of CD11b+Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells were determined in the same cohorts and compared with values corresponding to PBS-injected DR4tg mice (**B**). Error bars represent SEM, and \* denotes p<0.05.



Figure 4.3: Systemic exposure to SEB results in intrahepatic accumulation of CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells that concomitantly express Gr-1, Ly-6G and Ly-6C.

A DR4tg mouse was injected *i.p.* with SEB. Two hours later, non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells were isolated and co-stained with fluorochrome-labeled mAbs to CD11b (clone M1/70), Gr-1 (clone RB6-8C5), Ly-6G (clone 1A8) and Ly-6C (clone HK1.4) before they were analyzed by a flow cytometer.

with Wright-Giemsa mostly exhibited a ring-shaped nucleus (**Fig. 4.4**), which is again consistent with the G-MDSC morphology in mice (14). It is noteworthy that a minority fraction of the high forward- and side- scatter cells were CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>low/neg</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup>, stained positive for F4/80, and had a monocytic morphology. However, their frequencies in SEB- and PBS-treated DR4tg mice were similar (**Fig. 4.1C**).

Some of the markers expressed by MDSCs can be found on other cell types (*e.g.*, neutrophils). It was therefore crucial to verify the immunosuppressive nature of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells before we could define them as MDSCs. To this end, we demonstrated that CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells sorted from the livers of SEB-treated DR4tg mice significantly attenuated *ex vivo* T cell proliferation in response to SEB (**Fig. 4.5A**) or anti-CD3*ɛ* mAb (data not shown). We next investigated the mechanism by which MDSCs suppressed T cell proliferation using the pharmacological inhibitors L-NMMA, nor-NOHA or catalase, which inhibit NOS, arginase and ROS, respectively. MDSC-mediated suppression was abrogated in the presence of catalase, but not L-NMMA or nor-NOH, indicating that the suppressive effect of MDSCs was mediated by ROS (**Fig. 4.5B**).

MDSCs are known to amass in certain inflamed or tumor-bearing tissues, albeit at much later time points. The rapidity with which G-MDSCs accumulate in the liver of TSS-afflicted mice suggests their recruitment to the liver as opposed to their *in situ* proliferation. This notion is supported by two lines of evidence. First, the expression of the proliferation marker Ki-67 by CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells was lower in SEB-treated mice in comparison with controls (**Fig. 4.6A**). Second, CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cell accumulation in the liver was accompanied by a simultaneous decrease in the bone marrow (**Fig. 4.6B**), suggesting a bone marrow-to-liver trafficking route. The exact cellular and/or soluble



Figure 4.4: Hepatic CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells from SEB-treated DR4tg mice exhibit a ringshaped nucleus.

DR4tg mice were injected i.p. with SEB. Two hours later, non-parenchymal hepatic mononuclear cells were isolated and stained for CD11b and Gr-1. CD11b+Gr-1high cells were sorted cytofluorimetrically, stained with Wright-Giemsa, and evaluated morphologically under a light microscope.



SEB

#### Figure 4.5: Mouse and human MDSCs suppress SEB-induced T cell proliferation.

CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells were sorted from the livers of DR4tg mice 2 hours after injection with SEB. They were then co-cultured with naïve mouse T cells and *in vitro*-generated DR4tg BMDCs in the presence or absence of SEB for 3 days. T cell proliferation was assayed by [<sup>3</sup>H] TdR incorporation or by CFSE dye dilution. Representative data from two independent experiments are illustrated. Error bars correspond to standard deviation (SD), and \*\* denotes p < 0.01 (A). In separate experiments, L-NMMA (0.5 mM), nor-NOHA (0.5 mM) or catalase (1000 U/mL) were added to the cultures and T cell proliferation was measured by  $[{}^{3}H]$  TdR incorporation. Three independent experiments yielded similar results, which were pooled. Error bars represent SEM, and \* denotes p < 0.05 (B). Human MDSCs were generated in a 7-day culture system in the presence of recombinant human GM-CSF and IL-6 (10 ng/mL each). This method led to a dramatic expansion of CD33<sup>+</sup> cells among PBMCS isolated from all the 3 donors recruited to this study (C). Sorted CD33<sup>+</sup> cells were co-incubated for 3 days with autologous T cells and accessory cells and tested for their ability to suppress SEB-triggered T cell proliferation as described in Methods. Similar results were obtained in 3 independent experiments, each of which utilized PBMCs from one of the 3 donors recruited to this study (**D**). Error bars represent SD, and \*\* and \*\*\* denote p < 0.01, p < 0.001, respectively.





DR4tg mice (n=3/group) were given SEB or PBS *i.p.* Two hours later, the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Ki-67 on hepatic CD11b+Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells was determined and normalized to PBS controls (**A**). The frequencies of CD11b+Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells were determined by flow cytometry in the bone marrow of indicated numbers of DR4tg mice 2 hours after they were injected with SEB, SEB<sub>N23A</sub> or PBS (**B**). Representative dot plots and mean  $\pm$  SEM values are demonstrated. \*\*\* denotes *p*<0.001.

factors that mediate CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup> cells' recruitment to the liver during TSS remain unknown. Invariant natural killer T (*i*NKT) cells, which we demonstrated are directly responsive to SEB (9), comprise up to 40% of lymphocytes in the mouse liver. However, genetic deficiency or Ab-mediated depletion of *i*NKT cells did not affect the G-MDSC buildup in the liver nor did systemic depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> cells (unpublished data). Regardless, once present in the liver, G-MDSCs appear to be retained in this organ as evidenced by their elevated frequencies even at 24 hours post-SEB exposure (data not shown).

The liver is uniquely tolerogenic among immunological sites. This is dictated in part by anti-inflammatory properties of liver-resident cells and by expression of co-inhibitory receptors that dampen T cell responses to self and foreign antigens (15). We have now defined a novel mode of immunosuppression during TSS, which may benefit the host by diminishing hepatic tissue damage. A substantial proportion of SAg-mediated illnesses are non-menstrual. Staphylococcal enterotoxins released in the gastrointestinal tract, due for instance to food poisoning, may cross the perturbed epithelium and access the liver through the portal vein. Therefore, it is fitting that MDSCs can swiftly and selectively home to the liver (**Fig. 4.2A-B**) to help protect this vital organ from SAgs' deleterious effects with inflammatory and metabolic repercussions.

Finally, *ex vivo*-generated human MDSCs were able to inhibit autologous T cell responses to SEB (**Fig. 4.5C-D**), which recapitulates our findings on immunosuppressive function of sorted mouse MDSCs. Whether human liver attracts MDSCs in the early phase of TSS and/or other SAg-mediated illnesses warrants further investigation.

#### 4.4 References

- 1. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 2. Borchardt, S. M., Ritger, K. A., and Dworkin, M. S. 2006. Categorization, prioritization, and surveillance of potential bioterrorism agents. *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* **20**: 213-225, vii-viii.
- 3. Dellabona, P., Peccoud, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. 1990. Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. *Cell* **62**: 1115-1121.
- 4. White, J., Herman, A., Pullen, A. M., Kubo, R., Kappler, J. W., and Marrack, P. 1989. The V beta-specific superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B: stimulation of mature T cells and clonal deletion in neonatal mice. *Cell* **56**: 27-35.
- 5. Lussow, A. R., and MacDonald, H. R. 1994. Differential effects of superantigeninduced "anergy" on priming and effector stages of a T cell-dependent antibody response. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **24**: 445-449.
- 6. Taylor, A. L., and Llewelyn, M. J. 2010. Superantigen-induced proliferation of human CD4+CD25- T cells is followed by a switch to a functional regulatory phenotype. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 6591-6598.
- Ito, K., Bian, H. J., Molina, M., Han, J., Magram, J., Saar, E., Belunis, C., Bolin, D. R., Arceo, R., Campbell, R., Falcioni, F., Vidovic, D., Hammer, J., and Nagy, Z. A. 1996. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2635-2644.
- 8. Chau, T. A., McCully, M. L., Brintnell, W., An, G., Kasper, K. J., Vines, E. D., Kubes, P., Haeryfar, S. M., McCormick, J. K., Cairns, E., Heinrichs, D. E., and Madrenas, J. 2009. Toll-like receptor 2 ligands on the staphylococcal cell wall downregulate superantigen-induced T cell activation and prevent toxic shock syndrome. *Nat. Med.* **15**: 641-648.
- 9. Hayworth, J. L., Mazzuca, D. M., Maleki Vareki, S., Welch, I., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 699-709.
- Mollick, J. A., Chintagumpala, M., Cook, R. G., and Rich, R. R. 1991. Staphylococcal exotoxin activation of T cells. Role of exotoxin-MHC class II binding affinity and class II isotype. *J. Immunol.* 146: 463-468.

- 11. Lechner, M. G., Liebertz, D. J., and Epstein, A. L. 2010. Characterization of cytokine-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells from normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 2273-2284.
- 12. Youn, J. I., Nagaraj, S., Collazo, M., and Gabrilovich, D. I. 2008. Subsets of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Immunol.* **181**: 5791-5802.
- Hayworth, J. L., Kasper, K. J., Leon-Ponte, M., Herfst, C. A., Yue, D., Brintnell, W. C., Mazzuca, D. M., Heinrichs, D. E., Cairns, E., Madrenas, J., Hoskin, D. W., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2009. Attenuation of massive cytokine response to the staphylococcal enterotoxin B superantigen by the innate immunomodulatory protein lactoferrin. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 157: 60-70.
- 14. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., and Sinha, P. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. *J. Immunol.* **182**: 4499-4506.
- 15. Tiegs, G., and Lohse, A. W. 2010. Immune tolerance: what is unique about the liver. *J. Autoimmun.* **34**: 1-6.

#### Chapter 5

### Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrome Immunopathology

This chapter has been previously published:

Szabo P. A., Goswami A., Mazzuca D. M., Kim K., O'Gorman D. B., Hess D. A., Welch I. D., Young H. A., Singh B., McCormick J. K., Haeryfar S. M. M. 2017. Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrome Immunopathology. *J. Immunol.* **198**: 2805-2818. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601366.

Copyright 2017. Reproduced with permission from The American Association of Immunologists Inc.

#### 5.1 Introduction

Toxic shock syndrome (TSS) is a life-threatening illness characterized by high-grade fever, diffuse erythematous rash formation, desquamation, severe hypotension and multiorgan dysfunction (1). It is caused by systemic exposure to bacterial toxins known as superantigens (SAgs), which are secreted by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus pyogenes*. TSS can be of menstrual (2) or non-menstrual (3) origin. The vast majority of menstrual TSS cases, which are linked to high-absorbency tampon usage (4), are caused by *S. aureus* strains expressing the powerful SAg toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1) (5). In contrast, non-menstrual TSS can occur with virtually any *S. aureus* infection and is primarily associated with TSST-1 and staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) (6). The expression of streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin A (SpeA) is also strongly correlated with streptococcal TSS (7).

SAgs are a unique family of exotoxins that activate a large proportion of T cells irrespective of their TCR specificity. Cognate peptide antigens presented in the context of self MHC by APCs typically activate 1 in every 10,000 T cells. In contrast, SAgs simultaneously bind MHC class II molecules on APCs outside their antigen-binding groove (8) and select TCR V $\beta$  domains on T cells (9). By doing so, SAgs circumvent conventional modes of antigen processing and presentation to induce the activation and proliferation of up to 50% of all exposed T cells (10). The overwhelming activation of T cells by SAgs results in excessive production of inflammatory mediators, which is commonly referred to as 'cytokine storm'. SAgs directly stimulate the secretion of IL-2, IFN $\gamma$  and lymphotoxin- $\alpha$  from T cells, as well as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 from APCs (10, 11). Additionally, SAgs initiate secondary inflammatory cytokine and chemokine responses from various non-hematopoietic cell types such as epithelial cells, endothelial cells and fibroblasts (12). The massive and uncontrolled release of these inflammatory mediators has drastic tissue damaging effects through the activation of the coagulatory cascade, vasodilation, edema, and vascular leakage (13-16). SAgs also promote the production of chemokines CXCL8, CCL2, CCL3, and CCL4 (17, 18), resulting in further recruitment of leukocytes to areas of tissue injury. The net effect of the cytokine storm is a systemic inflammatory response syndrome that may culminate in fatal multi-organ failure.

IL-17A is a potent inducer of systemic inflammation, potentiating the production or activation of inflammatory cytokines (*e.g.*, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6), chemokines, matrix metalloproteases and transcription factors in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cell types (19). IL-17A also acts synergistically with other inflammatory cytokines, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IFN $\gamma$ , to stabilize mRNA transcripts or activate promoter regions of other inflammatory mediators (20). Although IL-17A is the archetypal cytokine of the CD4<sup>+</sup> Th17 cell lineage (19), it can also be quickly produced by innate-like T lymphocytes such as  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, invariant natural killer T (*i*NKT) cells and mucosa-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells (21, 22). IL-17A is often associated with early and protective host responses to bacteria, and little is known about its pathogenic potentials during infection. For example, whether exposure to SAgs elicits an early IL-17A response that may contribute to the cytokine storm is essentially unexplored.

Identification of early inflammatory mediators of the cytokine storm and their cellular sources is of utmost importance due to the rapidity with which TSS may progress to lifethreatening disease. The clinical status of a SAg-exposed individual can deteriorate to multi-organ failure as early as 8-12 hours after the onset of the symptoms (23), and estimates of TSS mortality range from 4% to 22% (24-26). Also alarmingly, there are currently no available therapeutics to attenuate the cytokine storm, which drives the immunopathology of TSS. Therefore, understanding the critical components of this process may hold the key to designing effective therapies that reduce TSS-associated morbidity and mortality.

In this investigation, using humanized mice and human PBMCs, we found and characterized a vigorous IL-17A response that was detectable within the first few hours of SAg exposure. The kinetics of this response initially suggested the involvement of innate-like T cells (21), which we we were able to rule out. Instead, we identified effector memory T ( $T_{EM}$ ) cells as the major source of mouse and human IL-17A, which were surprisingly unable to co-produce IFN $\gamma$ . IL-17A receptor blockade diminished the expression of several pro-inflammatory mediators by SAg-stimulated human PBMCs and also prevented the secondary upregulation of the transcription factor C/EBP delta (CEBPD) in human dermal fibroblasts. These findings suggested a pathogenic role for IL-17A in TSS, which we confirmed using a humanized mouse model of the syndrome. Therefore, this work defines a previously unrecognized mechanism of TSS immunopathology that is dependent upon rapid IL-17A production by a distinct subpopulation of T<sub>EM</sub> cells.

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1 Mice

Adult 6-to-12-week-old mice closely matched for age and sex were used in all experiments. Wild-type C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Canada Inc. (St. Constant, Quebec). IL-17A-GFP mice that express enhanced GFP as a marker of IL-17A expression were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine) and bred in a barrier facility at Western University. HLA-DR4tg (DR4tg) mice, which are devoid of endogenous MHC class II and instead express HLA-DRA-IEα and HLA-DRB1\*0401-IEβ on a C57BL/6 background (27), were bred in the same facility.

To develop a SAg-sensitive IL-17A reporter mouse strain, DR4tg and IL-17A-GFP mice were crossed. The resultant "D17 mice" were bred to homozygosity and confirmed to express HLA-DR transgenes and the IL-17A-GFP reporter construct but not IAβ. In brief, genomic DNA was extracted from mouse ear clips using Hot Sodium Hydroxide and Tris (HotSHOT). PCR-amplified products were generated using Platinum Taq DNA polymerase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, Ontario) and primer sets that are listed in **Table 5.1**. Agarose gel electrophoresis was performed to visualize PCR products.

Wild-type C57BL/6, IL-17A-GFP, DR4tg and D17 mice were cared for in the same facility. All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with an approved institutional animal use protocol (AUP# 2010-241) and in compliance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) guidelines.

Target (reference if applicable)	Species	Sequence (5'-3') or Accession #	Source
HLA-DRA-IEα Forward (27)	Human	GGGAAGCAGGGGGACTATGAC	Sigma-Aldrich
HLA-DRA-IEα Reverse (27)	Human	TTAGGGCAATGACTTCGTAGG	Sigma-Aldrich
HLA-DRB1*0401-IEß Forward (27)	Human	TGAAAGCGGTGCGTGCTGTTTAA	Sigma-Aldrich
HLA-DRB1*0401-IEß Reverse (27)	Human	CACCCGCTCCGTCCCGTTGAA	Sigma-Aldrich
HLA-DR Transgene Insertion Site Forward*	Mouse	CCATGGACAAGGCAGGGACAAA	Sigma-Aldrich
HLA-DR Transgene Insertion Site Reverse*	Mouse	CCGTGACCAAAATGCACATTGAA	Sigma-Aldrich
IL-17A-GEP Common Forward (Jackson Primer #15240)	Mouse	AAGCTGGACCACCACATGA	Sigma-Aldrich
IL-17A-GFP Wildtype Reverse (Jackson Primer #15241)	Mouse	TGAATCCACATTCCTTGCTG	Sigma-Aldrich
IL-17A-GFP Mutant Reverse (Jackson Primer #11188)	Mouse	GACATTCAACAGACCTTGCATTC	Sigma-Aldrich
IAβ-neo <sup>r</sup> Forward	Mouse	GGGAGGAGTACGTGCGCTACGACAG	Sigma-Aldrich
IAβ-neo <sup>r</sup> Reverse	Mouse	GAGAACCTGCGTGCAATCCATCTTG	Sigma-Aldrich
IAβ Forward	Mouse	GGCATTTCGTGTACCAGTTCATGG	Sigma-Aldrich
IAβ Reverse	Mouse	GTCTCCGGCCCCTCGTAGTTGTGT	Sigma-Aldrich
CCL11	Human	Hs00237013_m1	Thermo Fisher
CCL2	Human	Hs00234140_m1	Thermo Fisher
CCL20	Human	Hs00355476_m1	Thermo Fisher
CCL5	Human	Hs00982282_m1	Thermo Fisher
CCL7	Human	Hs00171147_m1	Thermo Fisher
CEBPB	Human	Hs00270923_s1	Thermo Fisher
CEBPD	Human	Hs00270931_s1	Thermo Fisher
CSF2	Human	Hs00929873_m1	Thermo Fisher
CSF3	Human	Hs00738432_g1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL1	Human	Hs00605382_gH	Thermo Fisher
CXCL10	Human	Hs01124252_g1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL11	Human	Hs04187682_g1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL12	Human	Hs03676656_mH	Thermo Fisher
CXCL2	Human	Hs00601975_m1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL5	Human	Hs01099660_g1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL6	Human	Hs00605742_g1	Thermo Fisher
CXCL9	Human	Hs00171065_m1	Thermo Fisher
GATA3	Human	Hs00231122_m1	Thermo Fisher
IFNG	Human	Hs00989291_m1	Thermo Fisher
	Human	Hs00961622_m1	Thermo Fisher
IL12A IL12B	Human	Hs01013447_IIII Hs01011518_m1	Thermo Fisher
IL 12D	Human	Hs01011318_III1 Hs00174379_m1	Thermo Fisher
Ш17А	Human	Hs00174383 m1	Thermo Fisher
II 17F	Human	Hs00369400 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL18	Human	Hs01038788 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL19	Human	Hs00604657 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL1B	Human	Hs00174097 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL2	Human	Hs00174114 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL22	Human	Hs01574154 m1	Thermo Fisher
IL23A	Human	Hs00900828_g1	Thermo Fisher
IL4	Human	Hs00174122_m1	Thermo Fisher
IL6	Human	Hs00985639_m1	Thermo Fisher
IL8	Human	Hs00174103_m1	Thermo Fisher
LTA	Human	Hs04188773_g1	Thermo Fisher
MYD88	Human	Hs01573837_g1	Thermo Fisher
NFKB1	Human	Hs00765730_m1	Thermo Fisher
NFKBIZ	Human	Hs00230071_m1	Thermo Fisher
NOS2	Human	Hs01075529_m1	Thermo Fisher
PTGS2	Human	Hs00153133_m1	Thermo Fisher
RORC	Human	Hs01076112_m1	Thermo Fisher
RPL13A	Human	Hs04194366_g1	Thermo Fisher
TBP	Human	Hs00427620_m1	Thermo Fisher
TBX21	Human	Hs00203436_m1	Thermo Fisher
	Human	Hs00998133_m1	Thermo Fisher
	Human	nsu1113024_g1	Thermo Fisher
ZDIDI0	Human	nsuuy3/433_m1	i nermo Fisher

Table 5.1: PCR primers/probes used in IL-17A studies. \*Primer was designed to span

the insertion site of the HLA-DR4 transgenes in the mouse genome, thus enabling discrimination between homozygous and heterozygous transgenic mice.

#### 5.2.2 Generation of bone marrow chimeras

To obtain donor cells, IL-17A-GFP mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation, and bone marrow was flushed out of femurs and tibias with ice-cold PBS. Erythrocytes were lysed by addition of ACK lysis buffer for 2 minutes, and resulting cells were filtered through a 70-µm nylon mesh strainer. Twenty million donor cells were injected *i.v.* into recipient DR4tg mice, which were lethally irradiated at 900 cGy using a <sup>137</sup>Cs  $\gamma$ -irradiator before adoptive transfer. Recipient mice were maintained on drinking water supplemented with 2 mg/mL neomycin sulfate (Teknova Inc., Hollister, California) for 2 weeks after irradiation to prevent infection.

#### 5.2.3 Bacterial toxins

Recombinant staphylococcal and streptococcal SAgs were generated using an approved institutional biosafety protocol that follows established Public Health Agency of Canada regulations as described previously (28). Briefly, SAgs were expressed in BL21 (DE3) *E. coli* and purified by nickel column chromatography. As an additional control, an attenuated mutant of SEB that is impaired in binding to mouse TCR V $\beta$ 8.2 (29) was generated by site-directed mutagenesis (30). The mutant SEB carries an N $\rightarrow$ A point mutation at position 23 and is referred to as SEB<sub>N23A</sub>. LPS was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, Ontario).

#### 5.2.4 TSS mouse model and in vivo IL-17A neutralization

Animals were injected *i.p.* with indicated amounts of SEB or the equivalent volume of PBS as a control. They were bled via the saphenous vein, and serum samples were obtained following centrifugation of blood at  $17,000 \times g$  for 40 minutes and analyzed for

their cytokine content using ELISA kits from eBioscience (San Diego, California). For *in vivo* IL-17A neutralization, DR4tg mice were treated with 200-µg *i.p.* doses of an anti-IL-17A mAb (clone 17F3, BioXCell, West Lebanon, New Hampshire) or a mouse IgG1 isotype control (clone MOPC-21) 3 hours before and 1 hour after they were injected with 100 µg of SEB. Mice were monitored every 3 hours for the initial 12 hours and every 8 hours thereafter for up to 7 days. Weight loss was assessed at indicated time points, and mice were sacrificed when 20% weight loss was reached following institutional protocols and CCAC guidelines. For histological analyses, mice were sacrificed at 48 hours post-SEB stimulation. Liver and small intestine were extracted, fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin, embedded in paraffin, sectioned and stained with H&E. Sections were scored by a board-certified veterinary pathologist who was blinded to the experimental conditions.

#### 5.2.5 Human PBMC isolation and stimulation with SAgs

Peripheral blood was collected in heparinized vacutainers from healthy volunteers after their written consent was secured and following a protocol approved by the Western University Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB #5545). PBMCs were isolated by density centrifugation using 50-mL SepMate tubes from Stemcell Technologies Inc. (Vancouver, British Columbia) and lowendotoxin (<0.12 EU/mL) Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) according to manufacturer's instructions. PBMCs were suspended in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 0.1 mM MEM non-essential amino acids, 2 mM GlutaMAX-I<sup>TM</sup>, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin. PBMCs were stimulated with 100 ng/mL of indicated SAgs for up to 24 hours at 37°C in polystyrene U-bottom plates at a density of  $2 \times 10^6$  per well. To block IL-17 receptor A (IL-17RA) prior to SEB stimulation, PBMCs were incubated with 10 µg/mL of an anti-IL-17RA mAb (clone #133617) or mouse IgG1 isotype control (clone #11711) from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, Minnesota) for 30 minutes.

For cytokine assays, culture supernatants were harvested at indicated time points and analyzed by a bead-based multiplex assay (Eve Technologies, Calgary, Alberta). Heat maps were generated using the matrix2png utility (31). For RNA studies, PBMCs were isolated in RNAlater (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and RNA was extracted using the Purelink RNA Mini Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). To eliminate contaminating genomic DNA, on-column Purelink DNase (Invitrogen Canada, Burlington, Ontario) was used as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA quantity and purity was measured by a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. RNA was converted to cDNA via SuperScript VILO Master Mix (Invitrogen Canada). Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) was performed on a StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Table 5.1) and TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix, all from Thermo Fisher Scientific. qPCR reactions and cycling conditions were set up according to manufacturer's instructions. Fold changes between conditions were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta C_T$  method. For lowexpressing gene targets that consistently amplified with  $C_T$  values >37,  $C_T$  values were set to 37 for analysis.

As reliable comparisons of gene expression by qPCR require normalization to stably expressed reference genes, we first tested several commonly used reference genes for changes in SEB-stimulated PBMCs when compared to unstimulated controls. The mean fold changes of TATA-binding protein (TBP) and ribosomal protein L13a (RPL13A) were no more or less than 20% (data not shown). TBP and/or RPL13A were thus used as reference genes in our qPCR assays.

To analyze RNA stability/degradation, PBMCs were stimulated with SEB for 4 hours followed by treatment with 5  $\mu$ g/mL of the transcriptional inhibitor actinomycin D (act-D). Cells were harvested at indicated time points, RNA was extracted and converted to cDNA, and qPCR for target genes was performed as described above using 18S RNA as the reference gene.

#### 5.2.6 Human PBMC-dermal fibroblast co-culture

Using an approved ethics protocol (HSREB #104888), primary human fibroblasts were derived from surgically resected normal skin samples as previously described (32). Fibroblast cultures were maintained for a maximum of six passages in DMEM medium containing 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 2 mM GlutaMAX-I<sup>TM</sup> and 1X Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Fibroblasts were seeded at a density of 5 ×  $10^{5}$ /well in a tissue culture-treated polystyrene flat-bottom plate. Four million freshly isolated PBMCs were plated into a Nunc<sup>TM</sup> Polycarbonate Membrane Insert (pore size: 0.4 µm), which was placed inside the fibroblast culture well. Co-cultures were then stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB. Eight hours later, the insert was removed and fibroblasts were harvested and examined by qPCR for their CEBPD expression. In several experiments, anti-IL-17RA mAb or isotype control was added to co-cultures at 10 µg/mL 30 minutes before SEB stimulation.

#### 5.2.7 Isolation and cytofluorimetric analyses of mouse cells

PBS- and SAg-primed mice were sacrificed at indicated time points to harvest spleen, pooled lymph nodes (cervical, axillary, brachial, mesenteric, inguinal and popliteal nodes), liver, lungs and small intestine. Spleen and lymph nodes were homogenized using a Wheaton Dounce tissue grinder. To obtain hepatic and lung non-parenchymal mononuclear cells (MNCs), tissue specimens were pressed through a wire mesh, and the extracted cells were washed, resuspended in 33.75% low-endotoxin Percoll Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Mississauga, Ontario) and centrifuged at 700 × g for 12 minutes at room temperature. Pelleted cells were treated with ACK lysis buffer, washed, filtered and resuspended in cold sterile PBS.

Intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) and lamina propria lymphocytes (LPLs) were isolated from the small intestine as described by Sheridan and Lefrançois (33). Briefly, the small intestine was aseptically removed, flushed with HBSS containing 5% FCS and 10 mM HEPES, digested at 37°C with 1 mM dithioerythritol and filtered through a cell strainer (pore size: 70  $\mu$ m) to generate an IEL-containing homogenate. To prepare LPLs, the remaining intestinal pieces were additionally digested, first in 1.3 mM EDTA and then in a solution containing 100 U/mL collagenase, and subsequently filtered. IEL- and LPLcontaining homogenates were washed, resuspended in 44% Percoll Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences), underlaid with 67% Percoll Plus and spun at 600 × *g* for 20 minutes. IELs and LPLs were harvested by a Pasteur pipette from the buffy coat formed at the gradient interface, washed and resuspended in cold PBS. Freshly isolated mouse cells were incubated with 5 μg/mL of an anti-mouse CD16/CD32 mAb (clone 2.4G2) to block Fcγ receptors and stained at 4°C with fluorochromeconjugated mAbs to cell surface molecules listed in **Table 5.2**. Corresponding isotype controls were used in parallel for appropriate gating. A FACSCanto II cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Ontario) was used for data collection. Data were analyzed by FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, Oregon).

## 5.2.8 Surface and intracellular staining of human cells and RNA flow cytometry

Freshly isolated human PBMCs were stimulated with SAgs for 4 hours, unless otherwise stated, in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were thoroughly washed and stained at 4°C with fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs to cell surface molecules (**Table 5.2**). For intracellular detection of cytokines, the Intracellular Fixation and Permeabilization Buffer Set from eBioscience was used. We also employed a Mouse IL-17A Secretion Assay kit from Miltenyi Biotec (Auburn, California) to confirm the secretion of this cytokine. For detection of transcription factors, the FoxP3 Staining Buffer Set (eBioscience) was used. For RNA staining, the Prime FlowRNA Assay (eBioscience) was used with probes designed for the detection of IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$  and RPL13A signals. Cells were treated and stained for surface and intracellular molecules (**Table 5.2**) following the manufacturer's instructions. Isotype and/or fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls were used in parallel for proper gating. Samples were run on a BD FACSCanto II or a BD LSR II (when using violet fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs) and analyzed by FlowJo software (Tree Star).

Target	React.	Host Species	Clone/ Accession #	Isotype	Fluorochrome	Source
Surface Molecules						
TCRβ	Mouse	Arm. Hamster	H57-597	IgG	PE-Cyanine7	eBioscience
CD4	Mouse	Rat	GK1.5	IgG2b, к	Alexa Fluor® 700	eBioscience
CD44	Human/ Mouse	Rat	IM7	IgG2b, κ	PerCP-Cyanine5.5	eBioscience
CD62L	Mouse	Rat	MEL-14	IgG2a, к	APC-eFluor® 780	eBioscience
CCR7	Mouse	Rat	4B12	IgG2a, к	APC	eBioscience
CD127	Mouse	Rat	A7R34	IgG2a, к	PE	eBioscience
<i>i</i> NKT TCR (detected by CD1d loaded tetramer)	Mouse	Mouse	N/A	N/A	APC	NIH Tetramer Core Facility
CD3E	Human	Mouse	OKT3 UCHT1	IgG2a, к IgG1, к	FITC eFluor® 450	eBioscience eBioscience
CD4	Human	Mouse	RPA-T4 SK3	IgG1, к IgG1, к	Alexa Fluor® 700 Brilliant Violet™ 510	eBioscience BD Biosciences
CD8	Human	Mouse	RPA-T8	IgG1, к	Alexa Fluor® 700	eBioscience
CD45RA	Human	Mouse	HI100	IgG2b, κ	PE PE-Cyanine7	eBioscience eBioscience
CD45RO	Human	Mouse	UCHL1	IgG2a, к	APC Brilliant Violet™ 785	eBioscience BD Biosciences
CCR6	Human	Mouse	G034E3	IgG2b, к	PE	BioLegend
CCR7	Human	Rat	3D12	IgG2a, к	PerCP-eFluor® 710 PE-eFluor® 610	eBioscience eBioscience
CD161	Human	Mouse	HP-3G10	IgG1	APC PerCP-Cyanine5.5	eBioscience eBioscience
Va7.2 TCR	Human	Mouse	3C10	IgGl, к	PE PerCP-Cyanine5.5	BioLegend BioLegend
<i>i</i> NKT TCR (detected by CD1d loaded tetramer)	Human	Human	N/A	N/A	APC	NIH Tetramer Core Facility
γδ TCR	Human	Mouse	B1 B1.1	IgGl, к IgGl, к	PE PerCP-eFluor® 710	BD Biosciences eBioscience
Cytokines						
IL-17A	Human	Mouse	eBio64- DEC17	IgGl, κ	PE PE-Cyanine7	eBioscience eBioscience
ΙΓΝγ	Human	Mouse	4S.B3	IgG1, κ	PE PE-Cyanine7	eBioscience eBioscience
Transcription Factors					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
RORyT	Human	Mouse	Q21-559	IgG2a, к	Alexa Fluor® 647	BD Biosciences
FoxP3	Human	Mouse	236A/E7	IgG1, κ	APC	eBioscience
Prime-Flow RNA						
IL-17A	Human		NM_002190		Type 1 Alexa Fluor® 647	Affymetrix
IFNγ	Human		NM_000619		Type 4 Alexa Fluor® 488	Affymetrix
RPL13A	Human		NM_012423		Type 6 Alexa Fluor <sup>®</sup> 750	Affymetrix

Table 5.2: Antibodies/tetramers used in IL-17A studies

#### 5.2.9 Statistical analyses

Analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism 7 software (La Jolla, California). The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed to verify the normal distribution of our data sets. Statistical comparisons were made using parametric Student's *t*-tests, ANOVA with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis, or log-rank test, as appropriate and as indicated in figure legends. Differences with  $p \le 0.05$  were deemed statistically significant.

### 5.3.1 IL-17A is rapidly produced by CD4<sup>+</sup> $T_{EM}$ cells in a humanized mouse model of TSS

SAgs have notoriously poor binding affinity for MHC class II molecules expressed in certain conventional mouse strains such as C57BL/6 mice (34). Thus, we investigated the pathogenesis of TSS in humanized DR4tg mice that allow for high-affinity interactions with SAgs and consequently recapitulate many aspects of **TSS-mediated** immunopathology (28, 29, 35-39). Using this model, we serendipitously found a dramatic serum IL-17A spike at 2 hours post-SEB exposure (Fig. 5.1A). Given that the role of IL-17A in TSS is unknown and that IL-17A induces and synergizes with many inflammatory mediators implicated in the cytokine storm, we sought to fully characterize this phenomenon. IL-17A was present in the serum at 2 hours but not detectable at 12 or 24 hours after *i.p.* injection of SEB (Fig. 5.1A). In contrast, IL-17A was not detectable in SEB-injected wild-type C57BL/6 mice (Fig. 5.1A) neither were several other cytokines tested (e.g., IFN $\gamma$  and IL-4). This highlights the requirement for human MHC class II molecules in the optimal activation of T cells by SAgs. The injection of SEB<sub>N23A</sub>, a mutant version of SEB with impaired binding to V $\beta$ 8.2 TCR (29), into DR4tg mice also resulted in no detectable IL-17A in the serum (Fig. 5.1A), indicating that SEB-induced IL-17A production is highly T cell-dependent.

We next tested a panel of bacterial SAgs other than SEB for their ability to induce IL-17A production in DR4tg mice. These included TSST-1, staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA), SpeA, streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin I (SpeI) and streptococcal mitogenic exotoxin Z (SmeZ). TSST-1 administration did not result in IL-17A appearance in the



# Figure 5.1: Rapid IL-17A production by CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells in a humanized mouse model of TSS.

(A) DR4tg mice were injected *i.p.* with 50  $\mu$ g SEB, SEB<sub>N23A</sub> or PBS, and bled at indicated time points for serum cytokine measurements. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from 2 independent experiments are shown (n = 4). (**B-D**) IL-17A-GFP/DR4tg chimeric mice were injected *i.p.* with PBS or 50  $\mu$ g SEB and sacrificed after 2 hours. (**B**) Serum IL-17A levels in SEB- and PBS-treated IL-17A-GFP/DR4tg bone marrow chimeric mice were determined by ELISA. N.D.= not detectable. Mean values  $\pm$  SEM from 3 independent experiments are shown (n = 4-5 mice per group). (C) The frequencies of IL-17A-GFP<sup>+</sup> cells and the geometric MFI of IL-17 were determined by flow cytometry among nonparenchymal mononuclear cells obtained from indicated organs of SEB- and PBS-treated mice. Mean values  $\pm$  SEM from 3 independent experiments are shown (n = 6-7 per group). \* denotes  $p \le 0.05$  (Student's *t*-test; two-tailed). (**D**) The phenotype of IL-17A-GFP<sup>+</sup> cells among IELs from SEB-treated mice was determined using fluorochromeconjugated antibodies and tetramers for indicated markers (open black histograms) and isotype controls (filled, grey histograms). Representative dot plot and histograms from 3 independent experiments are shown (n = 4-6).

serum neither did SpeI or SmeZ (data not shown). As such, DR4tg mice do not appear to provide a suitable model in which to study the role of IL-17A in the context of TSST-1mediated TSS or SpeI/SmeZ-triggered host responses. In contrast, animals injected with SEA and SpeA had detectable IL-17A levels in their serum (55 pg/mL and 286 pg/mL, respectively). Therefore, the early IL-17A production may not be limited to staphylococcal TSS, and may also play a role in streptococcal infections. Of note, LPS, a potent stimulus that activates immune cells through a different mechanism than SAgs, failed to trigger an IL-17A response in DR4tg mice (data not shown).

To identify the cellular source of IL-17A, we generated IL-17A-GFP/DR4tg bone marrow chimeric mice. This system allows for quantification of IL-17A responses as measured by GFP fluorescence in SAg-sensitive, human MHC II-expressing mice. Three weeks after the adoptive transfer of bone marrow cells, chimeric mice were injected with 50 µg SEB and sacrificed 2 hours later to obtain blood, spleen, lymph nodes (cervical, axillary, brachial, mesenteric, inguinal and popliteal), liver, lungs and small intestine. When compared to PBS controls, which showed no detectable IL-17A in serum, SEB-injected chimeric mice produced substantial amounts of IL-17A after 2 hours (**Fig. 5.1B**). The greatest frequency of IL-17A-expressing cells was found among IELs of the small intestine (**Fig. 5.1C**). Notably, the frequencies of IL-17A-expressing cells did not significantly differ between SEB and PBS treatment groups (**Fig. 5.1C**). However, the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of GFP, an indicator of IL-17A production on a per cell basis, increased upon *in vivo* SEB exposure in IELs and to a lesser degree among lung and splenic non-parenchymal MNCs (**Fig. 5.1C**).

Having determined that IL-17A expression was highly upregulated and most abundant in the IEL compartment after SEB exposure, we next sought to immunophenotype these rapidly IL-17A-producing cells. The majority of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells were defined as CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells due to their TCR $\beta$ <sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup>CD127<sup>+</sup> surface phenotype (**Fig. 5.1D**) (40). Similarly, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells constituted the majority of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells among IELs of PBS-treated mice (data not shown).

We previously reported that *i*NKT cells can be activated by group II bacterial SAgs, including SEB, leading to a swift cytokine response (29). In addition, a subset of *i*NKT cells is capable of producing IL-17A in response to glycolipid antigens (41). Therefore, it was important to rule in or rule out the participation of *i*NKT-17 cells in our model. We found that *in vivo* stimulation with SEB gives rise to IL-17A-expressing cells that do not possess the canonical TCR of *i*NKT cells as judged by their lack of staining with  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide-loaded CD1d tetramer (**Fig. 5.1D**).

As a confirmatory approach, we generated D17 mice by crossing DR4tg mice with IL-17A-GFP reporter animals. We found a pattern similar to that observed in the bone marrow chimeras, namely increased IL-17A MFI among IELs of SEB-primed D17 mice (**Fig. 5.2A-C**). IL-17-producing cells in D17 mice also similarly exhibited a  $T_{EM}$ phenotype. Having an adequate supply of D17 animals enabled us to additionally investigate the lamina propria, a site in which IL-17-secreting T cells are known to be abundant (42). These experiments revealed that systemic exposure to SEB raises both the frequency IL-17<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells in the lamina propria and the intensity of IL-17A production by these cells. In fact, the IL-17A response was stronger in the LPL compartment in comparison with IELs (**Fig. 5.2B-C**).


### Figure 5.2: SEB-primed D17 mice launch a rapid IL-17A response and harbor an enriched population of IL-17A-producing CD4+ T<sub>EM</sub> cells in their small intestine.

D17 mice, generated by crossing DR4tg and IL-17A-GFP reporter mice, were injected *i.p.* with 50 µg SEB or with PBS. (**A**) Two hours later, mice were euthanized and the IL-17A content of serum samples was measured. N.D.: not detectable. Error bars represent SEM (n=3/group). (**B**) The frequencies of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells and the MFI of GFP were determined in non-parenchymal mononuclear cells (MNCs) from indicated tissues and among intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) and lamina propria lymphocytes (LPLs). \* denotes p " 0.05 by two-tailed Student's *t*-test. (**C**) GFP<sup>+</sup> IELs and LPLs from SEB-injected mice were immunophenotyped using fluorochrome-labeled mAbs to indicated markers (open histograms) and isotype controls (filled histograms). Depicted data represent findings from 3 mice used in independent experiments. Together, the above findings show that select SAgs induce rapid IL-17A production by  $CD4^+ T_{EM}$  cells in a clinically relevant mouse model of TSS. The IL-17A response by mouse  $CD4^+ T_{EM}$  cells requires high-affinity interactions between SAgs and human MHC, and is most pronounced among intestinal IELs and LPLs.

#### 5.3.2 SAgs induce a rapid IL-17A response by human PBMCs *in vitro*

After we established that SAgs were able to stimulate early IL-17A production in DR4tg mice, we assessed whether SAgs also elicit IL-17A responses in human PBMCs. First, PBMCs from healthy donors were stimulated with SEB or TSST-1 and analyzed for changes in cytokine mRNA levels by qPCR. Samples from all donors showed massive IL-17A mRNA upregulation after stimulation by SEB and, to a slightly lesser extent, by TSST-1 (**Fig. 5.3A**). IL-17A mRNA was highly upregulated at 2 hours, reached a maximum at 4 hours, and gradually decreased until 24 hours post-stimulation (**Fig. 5.3A**). Interestingly, the magnitude and the kinetics of the IL-17A mRNA response differed considerably when compared with IFNγ (**Fig. 5.3A-B**), a prototypic pro-inflammatory cytokine that is induced by SAgs in humans (43) and that is considered pathogenic in mouse models of TSS (44). IL-17A mRNA upregulation was far greater in magnitude at early time points and began to decline after 4 hours whereas IFNγ mRNA levels steadily increased until 24 hours (**Fig. 5.3A-B**).

To ascertain whether human IL-17A was actively secreted among other rapidly produced inflammatory mediators (43), culture supernatants from SAg-stimulated PBMCs were assayed for cytokines by bead-based multiplexing. Both SEB and TSST-1 provoked rapid IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  responses, which were detectable as early as 2 hours and continued to



Human PBMCs were left untreated or stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB or TSST-1 for indicated durations. (A) IL-17A or (B) IFN $\gamma$  mRNA upregulation in SAg-stimulated PBMCs was determined by qPCR. Data are shown as fold change relative to unstimulated medium control at each time point. (C and D) Cytokine concentrations in the supernatant of SAg-stimulated PBMCs at indicated time points were determined by bead-based cytokine multiplexing. Mean values ± SEM from 4 individual donors are shown. Statistical comparisons were made by two-way ANOVA ( $p \le 0.0001$ ) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis (\* and \*\*\*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.0001$ , respectively). (E) Human PBMCs were stimulated with SEB for 4 hours prior to act-D treatment. IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  mRNA fold changes normalized to time zero (*i.e.*, addition of act-D) were determined by qPCR. Data pooled from 3 individual donors are shown. Statistical comparisons were made by two-way ANOVA (p = 0.0072) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis (\*, \*\* and \*\*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$ ,  $p \le 0.01$  and  $p \le 0.001$ , respectively). accumulate by 24 hours (**Fig. 5.3C**). The inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6 as well as the growth-promoting cytokine IL-2 were also produced within hours of SAg stimulation (**Fig. 5.3D**). While the kinetics of cytokine expression was consistent for both SEB and TSST-1 stimulation, SEB elicited a more robust response for most cytokines tested when compared to TSST-1 (**Fig. 5.3C-D**).

Thus far, our findings revealed an unexpected discordance vis-à-vis the kinetics of IL-17A expression at mRNA and protein levels – that is while IL-17A mRNA was rapidly upregulated and gradually declined after 4 hours, IL-17A protein continued to accumulate in the supernatant up to 24 hours (Fig. 5.3A-C). This discordance was especially apparent when compared to the IFN $\gamma$  expression kinetics that followed a similar pattern for both cytokine mRNA and protein (Fig. 5.3B-C). We hypothesized that disparities in mRNA stability between IL-17A and IFNy may account for the noted differences as more stable mRNA may not require consistent upregulation for translation into increasing amounts of protein. Since the degree of IL-17A mRNA stability in primary human T cells was unknown, we tested our hypothesis by comparing the half-lives of IL-17A and IFNy mRNA in SEB-stimulated PBMC cultures using the transcriptional inhibitor act-D (45). PBMCs were challenged with SEB for 4 hours consistent with the IL-17A mRNA response peak (Fig. 5.3A), treated with act-D, and analyzed for cytokine mRNA expression in the subsequent 8 hours after transcriptional arrest. Intriguingly, while IFN $\gamma$ mRNA was quickly degraded within the first few hours, IL-17A mRNA expression remained remarkably stable after the addition of act-D (Fig. 5.3E).

These results indicate that SAgs potently activate human PBMCs to rapidly upregulate IL-17A mRNA and secrete IL-17A protein within hours. Interestingly, the initial IL-17A

mRNA upregulation is greater in magnitude and yields more stable mRNA in comparison with the canonical inflammatory cytokine IFN $\gamma$  although both cytokines are quickly secreted in culture.

#### 5.3.3 SAg-exposed human CD4 $^+$ T<sub>EM</sub> cells are rapid and potent producers of IL-17A

As this work provides the initial report of IL-17A secretion in human PBMCs within the first few hours of SAg exposure, we next aimed to identify its cellular source. Exposure to either SEB or TSST-1 resulted in substantial intracellular IL-17A production by CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells within 4 hours (**Fig. 5.4A**). SEB was significantly more potent than TSST-1 and caused IL-17A production by 0.182% of all PBMCs (**Fig. 5.4A**). The MFI of IL-17A staining was equivalent though, indicating that SEB- and TSST-1-stimulated cells synthesized similar amounts of IL-17A on a per cell basis (**Fig. 5.4A**). We also observed that IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells among TSST-1-stimulated PBMCs showed reduced CD3 expression suggesting partial TCR downregulation. Lastly, we confirmed that only CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells were actively secreting IL-17A using a cytokine secretion assay in which IL-17A that is about to be secreted binds to the cell surface via a bivalent antibody molecule specific for both CD45 and IL-17A (data not shown).

To immunophenotype IL-17A-producing cells, PBMCs were challenged with SEB for 4 hours and analyzed for a variety of surface markers and transcription factors by flow cytometry. The vast majority of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells expressed high levels of CD4 and CD45RO, and were CCR7<sup>-</sup> (**Fig. 5.4B**), indicating a surface phenotype characteristic of CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells (46). In line with previous studies (47-49), IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells also expressed CCR6 and the transcription factor ROR $\gamma$ T (**Fig. 5.4B**), which are hallmarks of the Th17



Figure 5.4: CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells are the major source of IL-17A in SAg-stimulated human PBMCs.

Human PBMCs were left untreated in medium or stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB or TSST-1 for 4 hours. (A) IL-17A-producing cells were identified by intracellular cytokine staining and further analyzed by flow cytometry. Representative dot plots of SAgstimulated PBMCs are depicted. The percentage of IL-17A-expressing cells and geometric MFI of IL-17A are shown as mean values ± SEM for 6 individual donors. One-way ANOVA (p = 0.0007) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis was used (\* and \*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.01$ , respectively); n.s. = not significant by two-tailed Student's *t*-test. (B) IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells were immunophenotyped based on their expression of indicated cell surface and intracellular markers (open red histograms) relative to isotype control (filled, gray histograms). Illustrated data represent 4 individual donors displaying similar results. (C) Values represent mean percentages  $\pm$  SEM of 4 individual donors. Subtypes  $CD4^+$ were defined as: TEM  $(CD4^+CD3^+CD45RO^+CCR7^-),$  $CD4^+$ Тсм (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup>CD45RO<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>+</sup>), γδ T (γδ TCR<sup>+</sup>), *i*NKT (CD3<sup>+</sup>CD1d tetramer<sup>+</sup>), MAIT  $(CD3^+V\alpha7.2 \text{ TCR}^+CD161^+), CD8^+ \text{ T} (CD3^+ CD4^- CD8^+).$  (**D**) IL-17A protein and mRNA co-expressing cells were identified using the PrimeFlow RNA technology and analyzed by flow cytometry. Dot plots are representative of 4 individual donors.

lineage. Notably, the majority of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells expressed the lectin receptor CD161 (**Fig. 5.4B**). CD161 is highly expressed on innate-like T cells including  $\gamma\delta$  T, MAIT and *i*NKT cells but only moderately expressed on Th17 cells (50). Thus, we investigated  $\gamma\delta$  TCR, V $\alpha$ 7.2 TCR and *i*NKT TCR expression to rule in/out  $\gamma\delta$  T, MAIT and *i*NKT cells, respectively (**Fig. 5.4B**). These innate-like T cell subsets, in addition to a small population of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, constituted only minor fractions of the overall IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cell population (**Fig. 5.4C**). In contrast, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells were the dominant IL-17A-expressing population, which comprised greater than 75% of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells (**Fig. 5.4C**).

Strikingly, our results revealed thus far that only a small fraction of PBMCs produced IL-17A protein in response to SAgs (**Fig. 5.4A**) despite the massive upregulation of IL-17A mRNA observed in bulk PBMCs (**Fig. 5.3A**). We initially postulated that other cells types in addition to CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells contributed to the substantial IL-17A mRNA response, but were not detectable by intracellular IL-17A staining. To address this, we utilized the PrimeFlow RNA assay, a new technology that utilizes fluorescent *in situ* hybridization to enable simultaneous detection of cells expressing IL-17A mRNA and intracellular IL-17A protein by flow cytometry. As expected, SEB stimulation enhanced the expression of IL-17A mRNA (**Fig. 5.4D**). Moreover, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells (CD3<sup>+</sup>CD45RO<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>-</sup>) comprised the majority of IL-17A mRNA<sup>+</sup> cells (**Fig. 5.4D**), consistent with our intracellular IL-17A protein findings (**Fig. 5.4C**). Notably, a small proportion of IL-17A mRNA-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells stained positively for CCR7 (**Fig. 5.4D**), indicating that CD4<sup>+</sup> central memory (T<sub>CM</sub>) cells may be a source of IL-17A protein at later time points. These results indicate that CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells are primarily responsible for rapid IL-17A secretion among SAg-stimulated PBMCs despite their relative rarity.

As multi-cytokine-producing T cells are reportedly induced by SEB stimulation at relatively late time points (51), we explored whether early IL-17A-producers would also co-express IFN $\gamma$ . Surprisingly, only a minute subset of IL-17A/IFN $\gamma$  co-expressors was detectable following SAg stimulation over a 4-hour period, and the overwhelming majority of cytokine-producing cells exclusively expressed either IL-17A or IFN $\gamma$  (**Fig. 5.5A**). A similar trend for IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  expression was also evident at 24 hours post-SAg stimulation (**Fig. 5.5B**). Interestingly, at 4 hours post-SEB, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells constituted a large proportion of IFN $\gamma^+$  cells (**Fig. 5.5C**), similar to IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells observed above. This finding prompted us to examine whether IL-17A-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells had the potential to produce IFN $\gamma$  mRNA, but were not synthesizing appreciable amounts of IFN $\gamma$  mRNA transcripts (**Fig. 5.5D**).

Collectively, the above results indicate that SAg-based stimulation of human PBMCs induces a rapid and potent IL-17A response that is chiefly mediated by  $CD4^+$  T<sub>EM</sub> cells. Although  $CD4^+$  T<sub>EM</sub> cells are responsible for substantial early IFN $\gamma$  production as well, the IL-17A- and IFN $\gamma$ -producing subsets were two independent populations.

# 5.3.4 IL-17RA blockade reduces inflammatory gene expression in SEB-exposed human PBMCs and secondarily activated dermal fibroblasts

Many downstream targets of IL-17A signaling are inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (52), which likely augment or perpetuate the overwhelming inflammatory



## Figure 5.5: SAg-stimulated IL-17A- and IFNγ-producing cells are two distinct populations.

Human PBMCs from healthy volunteers were left untreated or stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB or TSST-1 for 4 hours (**A**) or 24 hours (**B**). IL-17A- and IFN $\gamma$ -producing cells were identified by intracellular cytokine staining and quantified by flow cytometry. Representative dot plots of SAg-stimulated PBMCs and mean percentages ± SEM from 2-4 individual donors are shown. Statistical comparisons were made by one-way ANOVA (p = 0.0255 and p = 0.0224 for SEB and TSST-1 treatment conditions, respectively) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis (\* denotes  $p \le 0.05$ ). (**C**) Gated IFN $\gamma$ -producing cells were immunophenotyped by their expression of surface markers (open black histograms) relative to isotype control (filled, gray histograms). Data are representative of 4 individual donors. (**D**) IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  mRNA co-expressing cells were identified using the PrimeFlow RNA technology and analyzed by flow cytometry. Dot plots are representative of 4 individual donors.

cascade encountered in TSS. Accordingly, stimulation of human PBMCs with SEB for 8 hours resulted in upregulation of many different pro- and anti-inflammatory genes known to be modulated by IL-17A (**Table 5.3**). Also highly upregulated was the related inflammatory cytokine IL-17F, which signals through the same IL-17RA/IL-17RC complex (53). Thus, we sought to evaluate the contribution of IL-17RA signaling to induction of inflammatory genes in the initiation of the cytokine storm.

PBMCs were pre-incubated with a blocking IL-17RA mAb or isotype control, stimulated with SEB for 8 hours and evaluated for changes in gene expression by qPCR. IL-17RA blockade resulted in diminished expression of several key inflammatory cytokines involved in TSS, including TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$  and IL-6 (**Fig. 5.6A**). Additionally, the expression of many chemokines such as CCL5, CCL7, CXCL1 and CXCL6 were highly downregulated. Interestingly, the blockade of IL-17RA signaling also resulted in upregulation of notable anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, TGF $\beta$ 1 and IL-10 (**Fig. 5.6A**). It is noteworthy that in these experiments, we chose to work with a mAb dose (*i.e.*, 10 µg/mL) that was previously reported to efficiently block IL-17RA (54, 55). In a limited number of experiments, we reconfirmed that this dose could significantly inhibit the upregulation of CEBPD, a transcription factor linked to acute inflammatory conditions (56), in SEB-exposed PBMCs. In contrast, a 0.1 µg/mL-dose of anti-IL-17RA was completely ineffective, and a 1 µg/mL-dose inhibited CEBPD upregulation only marginally (data not shown).

In the next series of experiments, we utilized a human PBMC-dermal fibroblast coculture system to mimic the secondary effect of IL-17A signaling in non-hematopoietic cells. To this end, PBMCs and fibroblasts were cultured in physically separate

Fold Change (SEB rela			elative to
Target	rget medium control)		
	Donor 1	Donor 2	Donor 3
IL22	1059.25	355.71	2198.29
IL17F	737.24	137.67	780.40
IFNG	304.81	661.94	445.69
IL17A	253.73	96.47	651.44
CSF3	583.76	20.88	296.10
IL6	111.03	6.77	140.41
IL19	70.28	50.68	115.96
IL13	45.96	24.00	84.64
IL2	32.45	58.60	19.38
IL12B	32.24	2.08	71.23
CCL20	40.69	2.49	45.23
CSF2	17.49	26.89	21.14
IL10	28.65	5.74	29.33
CXCL9	2.59	37.62	4.11
CXCL1	10.29	0.74	31.46
PTGS2	14.72	1.86	12.92
LTA	5.37	13.70	10.01
CXCL11	0.51	14.43	1.33
IL1B	6.39	1.20	5.01
TNFA	2.26	3.47	6.43
CXCL5	3.93	0.19	7.15
CXCL2	4.29	0.56	5.42
TBX21	3.48	3.80	0.95
IL8	3.98	0.82	3.03
IL12A	2.12	3.13	1.63
IL4	3.13	1.22	2.53
IL23A	2.13	2.12	2.20
NFKB1	2.43	1.53	2.02
CXCL6	2.75	0.08	3.14
NFKBIZ	2.11	1.29	1.74
CCL2	1.86	0.39	2.68
RORC	1.87	2.01	1.00
CXCL10	0.33	3.50	0.61
C/EBPB	1.11	0.89	0.90
ZBTB16	0.93	1.05	0.73
TGFB1	0.70	1.06	0.66
GATA3	0.50	0.66	0.82
CCL7	0.55	0.26	1.00
CCL5	0.68	0.60	0.34
MYD88	0.58	0.63	0.32
NOS2	0.58	0.12	0.36
C/EBPD	0.23	0.33	0.32
CXCL12	0.14	0.27	0.15
IL18	0.12	0.16	0.06

Table 5.3: Fold changes in gene expression of SEB-stimulated human PBMCs relative to medium control.



### Figure 5.6: Blockade of IL-17RA signaling attenuates SEB-induced inflammatory gene expression in human PBMCs and in downstream non-hematopoietic cells.

(A) Human PBMCs were pre-incubated with 10 µg/mL of an anti-IL-17RA blocking antibody or isotype control and subsequently stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB for 8 hours. Changes in gene expression were determined by qPCR and represented as log2 (fold-change) of the anti-IL-17RA group normalized to isotype control. Differentially regulated genes were defined as >10% fold-change difference between treatment groups. Fold-changes in gene expression were pooled from 3 individual donors and are represented as mean values. (B) Human dermal fibroblasts were grown in a flat-bottom plate and co-cultured with human PBMCs that were seeded into a cell culture insert with a permeable membrane. Fibroblasts and PBMCs were in two physically separate compartments. Co-cultures were left untreated or stimulated with 100 ng/mL of SEB. Eight hours later, the insert was removed and fibroblasts were harvested and examined by qPCR for their CEBPD expression. Anti-IL-17RA or isotype control (10 µg/mL each) was added 30 minutes before SEB stimulation as indicated. Fold changes in CEBPD gene expression relative to the 'fibroblast-only' condition was calculated for 3 PBMC samples prepared from 3 individual donors. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM, and \* denotes  $p \leq$ 0.05 (Student's *t*-test; two-tailed).

compartments prior to SEB stimulation. We found a ~3-fold increase in the expression level of CEBPD by dermal fibroblasts that were co-cultured with SEB-primed PBMCs (**Fig. 5.6B**). Importantly, this response was abrogated in the presence of 10  $\mu$ g/mL of anti-IL-17RA mAb. Also as expected, SEB did not change the expression of CEBPD in fibroblasts alone, a condition that was used as a control (**Fig. 5.6B**).

Taken together, the above findings strongly suggest that IL-17RA signaling plays an important pro-inflammatory role in TSS by increasing the expression of inflammatory mediators that are expected to contribute to TSS pathogenesis.

#### 5.3.5 IL-17A is pathogenic in an *in vivo* model of TSS

Since the cytokine storm drives many symptoms of TSS, attenuation of rapidly produced cytokines that further perpetuate the inflammatory cascade, such as IL-17A, may be of prime importance to reduce TSS severity. Furthermore, IL-17A functions through induction of inflammatory mediators in both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic compartments (19). Thus, we utilized the DR4tg mouse model, which provides a powerful *in vivo* system in which to delineate the role of early IL-17A responses in TSS. We treated DR4tg mice with an anti-IL-17A mAb 3 hours prior to and 1 hour after the administration of SEB and monitored disease progression. Neutralizing IL-17A at the TSS onset resulted in significantly attenuated weight loss as early as 20 hours after SEB injection (**Fig. 5.7A**). Importantly, by 7 days after SEB injection, 67% of mice that were treated with anti-IL-17A, compared to only 27% of mice receiving isotype control, had survived (**Fig. 5.7B**).







### Figure 5.7: IL-17A neutralization in a humanized mouse model of TSS reduces morbidity, mortality and tissue damage.

DR4tg mice were injected *i.p.* with 200 µg of an anti-IL-17A neutralizing antibody or an isotype control 3 hours before and 1 hour after receiving 100 µg of SEB. (A) Weight loss was monitored every 3 hours for the first 12 hours and every 8 hours thereafter (n = 15per group). Statistical comparisons were made using two-way ANOVA (p = 0.0012) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis (\* and \*\* denote  $p \le 0.05$  and  $p \le 0.01$ , respectively). (B) Survival was monitored up to 7 days after SEB (n = 15 per group). Mice were sacrificed when moribund ( $\geq 20\%$  weight loss). p = 0.0101 (log-rank test). (C and D) At 48 hours after SEB injection, mice were sacrificed for their organs and H&E staining was performed as per standard protocols. Sections were scored by a veterinary pathologist blinded to the experimental conditions. Histopathology scores represent sum of changes in the liver (periportal inflammation + microvesicular steatosis) and small intestine [inflammatory cell infiltration + mucosal score (epithelial cell damage + villi blunting)] observed in each section. Parameters received scores from 0-3, with 0 = normal, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate and 3 = severe. \* denotes  $p \le 0.05$  (Student's *t*-test; two-tailed). Stained sections are representative of sham (n = 2), SEB + isotype control (n = 3) and SEB + anti-IL-17A (n = 4) groups. (E) Two hours after SEB injection, anti-IL-17A- and isotype control-treated mice (n=4/group) were bled and the IL-6 content of serum samples was quantified by ELISA. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values are shown. Two-way ANOVA was used (p =0.05) with Holm-Sidak post-hoc analysis (\*\* denotes  $p \le 0.01$ ).

Since TSS is characterized by multi-organ dysfunction, we investigated whether IL-17A neutralization affects SAg-induced liver and intestinal damage. DR4tg mice receiving SEB and either an anti-IL17A mAb or an isotype control were sacrificed at 48 hours post-SEB, and liver and the small intestine were collected for histopathological analyses. SEB induced moderate periportal inflammation in the livers of both anti-IL-17A- and isotype control-treated mice (**Fig. 5.7C**). However, hepatic steatosis, an early indication of hepatotoxicity (57), was greatly reduced in anti-IL-17A-treated mice compared to those receiving the isotype control (**Fig. 5.7C**). Furthermore, the small intestines of mice receiving anti-IL-17A showed less inflammation, epithelial cell damage and villar blunting compared to the control cohort (**Fig. 5.7C**). As scored by a veterinary pathologist blinded to the cohorts, the overall TSS pathology for mice receiving anti-IL-17A signaling, in anti-IL-17A-treated mice 2 hours after SEB administration (**Fig. 5.7E**).

Collectively, these results provide the first report that IL-17A is pathogenic in TSS and that neutralizing IL-17A ameliorates morbidity, mortality and tissue damage in a humanized mouse model of TSS.

#### 5.4 Discussion

The inflammatory response mediated by IL-17A is the result of the induction and activation of a large network of immune effector molecules including cytokines, chemokines, acute phase reactants, tissue remodeling enzymes, antimicrobial peptides and transcription factors (19). In this way, IL-17A plays a critical role in the immune response against many different pathogens including *S. aureus* (58) and *S. pyogenes* (59). However, unbalanced or dysregulated IL-17A responses may also lead to excessive inflammation and can therefore be detrimental in several diseased states (52). In this study, we report a pathogenic role for IL-17A during infection.

Much of the existing knowledge of TSS pathogenesis has relied on conventional mouse models (12). However, SAgs exhibit poor affinity for certain mouse MHC class II molecules (34), and as a result, many strains of laboratory mice are resistant to TSS. Sensitizing agents such as D-galactosamine (D-galN) (60) or LPS (61) have been employed to amplify the effects of SAgs and induce lethality, but the extent to which these models accurately reflect human TSS is questionable. For example, D-galN pretreatment leads to extreme sensitivity to TNF $\alpha$ -induced apoptosis in hepatocytes (62), which causes rapid mortality solely due to fulminant hepatitis, which does not represent human TSS (63). Here, we investigated SAg-induced cytokine responses utilizing DR4tg mice that transgenically express the human MHC class II molecule HLA-DR4. This allows for high-affinity SAgs-MHC class II interactions resulting in robust activation of T cells and a cytokine storm that, if left untreated, simulates the potentially catastrophic human TSS (35-37).

We found that exposure of DR4tg mice to SEB resulted in swift production of several cytokines in serum, including the inflammatory cytokine IL-17A. Cytokines secreted in the early phase of the cytokine storm are especially important as they trigger endothelial cell damage that compromises vascular homeostasis and precipitates multi-organ dysfunction (64). Furthermore, rapid secretion of IL-17A not only has inflammatory effects on a wide variety of cell types throughout the body, it can directly induce and also synergize with other cytokines that are produced in the same timeframe. Other studies have found mouse IL-17A secretion in response to SAgs (36, 44, 65). IL-17 is also reportedly detectable in SEB-stimulated human PBMC cultures, albeit at relatively late time points (66, 67). Here, we demonstrate that very early IL-17A is of CD4<sup>+</sup>  $T_{EM}$  cell origin in mice and in human PBMC cultures. Furthermore, we show that the rapid induction of IL-17A, in addition to other cytokines, is dependent on T cell stimulation since the injection of DR4tg mice with a TCR-binding mutant form of SEB (SEB<sub>N23A</sub>) resulted in minimal cytokine secretion. We believe the observed presence of IFN $\gamma$ , at moderate levels, after SEB<sub>N23A</sub> exposure is likely the consequence of SEB engaging T cells that bear V $\beta$  domains other than V $\beta$ 8.2 (29). Lastly, we extended our investigation to other SAgs and found that SpeA and SEA could also induce early IL-17A secretion. Therefore, we propose that rapid IL-17A secretion plays a pathogenic role in both staphylococcal and streptococcal TSS.

To identify the location of IL-17A production in DR4tg mice, we generated IL-17A-GFP/DR4tg bone marrow chimeric mice as well as D17 mice in which IL-17A expression can be quantified by GFP fluorescence. Using these models, we found an increase in the frequency of IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells and/or the signal intensity of IL-17A in several

tissues, but chiefly among IELs and LPLs from the small intestine, upon exposure to SEB. Interestingly, although IL-17A was consistently absent from the serum of PBSinjected mice, IL-17A-producing cells were readily detectable in these animals, suggesting that IL-17A is expressed at basal levels in multiple organs. This observation is in agreement with those of previous investigations utilizing alternatively generated IL-17A-GFP mice (68) or IL-17A fate-mapping reporter mice (69) that showed resting levels of IL-17A among cells of the small intestine. We expand on these findings to implicate CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells as the main source of constitutively expressed IL-17A in naive mice. Nevertheless, it stands to reason that additional sources/locations of IL-17A may also exist.

Memory T cells are highly enriched in the intestinal mucosa and their propensity for immediate effector function upon re-activation (70) puts them in a unique position to be rapidly activated by SAgs. It has also been suggested that SAgs produced in the intestinal tract by food-borne pathogens may cross the gut mucosa directly (71), placing memory T cells among the first responders to SAgs. In support of this hypothesis, IL-17A was preferentially induced in the intestinal epithelial layer by CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells when mice were exposed to SEB. Furthermore, a study by Tilahun *et al.* demonstrated that most NF- $\kappa$ B expression in SEB-injected HLA-DR3 mice was induced in the intestines (36).

The IL-17A response to SEB in mice appears to be translatable to humans, as PBMCs from healthy human volunteers stimulated with SAgs *in vitro* also exhibited rapid IL-17A production. IL-17A was secreted within hours of SAg exposure along with other inflammatory cytokines such as IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6. This inflammatory profile was most pronounced within the first few hours of SAg stimulation, with anti-inflammatory

cytokines IL-10 and IL-13 only reaching appreciable levels towards later time points. This pattern of expression provides additional evidence suggesting that potential therapies aimed at curbing the overwhelming cytokine storm in TSS may be most effective early after exposure to SAgs. A study by Krakauer *et al.* supports this line of reasoning, where mice surviving TSS showed reduced inflammatory cytokine and chemokine levels, though not including IL-17A, at 8 hours post-SEB administration (72). Furthermore, in a TSS model utilizing HLA-DR1 mice, lethality was prevented by anti-TNF $\alpha$  treatment, which dampened the early but not later phase of cytokine release (73). Therefore, it is likely that the early phase of the cytokine storm is responsible for TSS lethality and that attenuating this response may be a fruitful strategy to prevent mortality.

Unexpectedly, we observed apparently paradoxical differences between the kinetics of mRNA upregulation and resulting protein expression between IL-17A and IFNγ responses in SAg-stimulated PBMCs. We propose that the variation of kinetics between the two cytokines may be due, at least in part, to differences in mRNA stability. However, the mechanisms of post-transcriptional regulation of IL-17A remain ill-defined. In mice, the RNA-binding protein Hu antigen R positively regulates IL-17A expression and mRNA stability (74). Conversely, another RNA-binding protein, tristetraprolin, binds directly to the 3' untranslated region of IL-17A mRNA to mediate its decay (75). Lastly, the positive correlation between microRNAs and IL-17A expression in many diseases other than TSS also suggest that microRNAs may play a critical role in regulating IL-17A responses (76). Whether RNA-binding proteins or microRNAs post-transcriptionally regulate human IL-17A in TSS remains to be elucidated.

Our findings indicate that CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells predominate in the early production of both IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  in SAg-stimulated human PBMCs. We also observed that IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  responses by CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells were mutually exclusive, with only a small number of cells capable of producing both cytokines simultaneously. Thus, we propose that SAgs stimulate pre-existing and independent lineage-committed CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cell subsets to rapidly produce IL-17A (T<sub>EM</sub>-17 cells) and IFN $\gamma$  (T<sub>EM</sub>- $\gamma$  cells) in the initial phases of the cytokine storm. Our results may extend the traditional paradigm of Th1-, Th2- and Th17-lineages of activated effector CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which proceed to generate the body's long-lived pool of T<sub>EM</sub> cells (77). This notion is supported by recent reports that human Th17 cells are a terminally differentiated T<sub>EM</sub> cell population with a high capacity of self-renewal (78, 79).

The timing and the intensity of SAg stimulation in human PBMCs also apparently affect the phenotype and cytokine profiles of activated cells. We found that at 4 hours post-SEB stimulation, IL-17A-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells exclusively expressed the Th17-lineage transcription factor ROR $\gamma$ T but did not co-produce IFN $\gamma$ . In contrast, a recent study by Björkander *et al.* demonstrated that 24-hour stimulation of human PBMCs with SAgs induces IL-17A in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that express the regulatory T cell transcription factor FoxP3 (80). As FoxP3 has been previously shown to be upregulated in SAg-stimulated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells over days of SAg exposure (81), it remains to be seen whether early IL-17A-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells may acquire FoxP3 expression after longer periods of SAg stimulation. In a separate study, overnight stimulation of human PBMCs with 10 µg/mL of SEB (a 100-fold greater concentration of SAg than the dose used in this study) induced multi-functional CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells that often co-expressed IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  (51). Both at 4 and 24 hours after SAg stimulation, we detected only a minute subpopulation of co-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells. It is possible that the high concentration of SAg used by McArthur *et al.* may have been responsible for the co-producer phenotype. Circulating levels of SAgs in patients' serum samples range from ~40 pg/mL in intensive care units (82) to 50-100 ng/mL in adult burn patients (83), and as high as 1,000 ng/mL in streptococcal TSS patients (84). As such, our findings utilizing a more conservative concentration of SAg may represent a more physiologically relevant outcome for SAg stimulation of human PBMCs.

We found that the blockade of IL-17RA signaling in SEB-stimulated PBMCs attenuated the expression of multiple inflammatory genes including IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , and IFN $\gamma$ , which mediate many toxic effects of TSS (12). Concomitantly, the expression of antiinflammatory cytokine genes (IL-10, TGF $\beta$ 1 and IL-4) was upregulated by IL-17RA blockade. To our surprise, CCL20, a chemokine that binds CCR6 to mobilize lymphocytes and dendritic cells, was also upregulated. Nevertheless, the overall picture emerging from our IL-17RA blockade experiments strongly suggests a pro-inflammatory role for IL-17RA signaling in the context of human PBMC responses to SAgs. Equally important, IL-17RA blockade in dermal fibroblasts prevented their secondary response to SEB-exposed PBMCs. Therefore, this approach may work at multiple levels and may have therapeutic potentials for TSS. When patients with severe plaque psoriasis were treated with brodalumab, a mAb against IL-17RA, reduced expression of inflammatory cytokine transcripts was noted (85). Our results are also supported by the findings of Crowe *et al.* that IL-17RA knockout mice show greatly attenuated cytokine storm when infected with influenza virus (86). In this model, the absence of IL-17RA signaling decreased lung inflammation, weight loss and morbidity.

Remarkably, *in vivo* neutralization of IL-17A in DR4tg mice at the onset of TSS led to a significant reduction in weight loss and a striking increase in survival. We also observed drastic pathological changes in both the liver and the epithelium of the small intestine in DR4tg mice exposed to SEB. These mice developed hepatic microvesicular steatosis, an early toxic change in hepatocytes that signals serious disease. Characterized by the accumulation of small lipid vesicles in hepatocytes, microvesicular steatosis is indicative of impaired mitochondrial  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids and can lead to multi-organ dysfunction (57). Importantly, microvesicular steatosis occurs in both human TSS (87, 88) and sepsis (89). To our knowledge, our work is the first description of its reversal in an animal model of TSS. We also observed considerable epithelial damage and villi blunting in the small intestine of mice injected with SEB. These pathological changes likely impair intestinal function and contribute to the weight loss observed in SAgexposed mice. Importantly, in vivo neutralization of IL-17A in this model markedly attenuated both hepatic steatosis and damage to the intestinal epithelium. As almost all human TSS patients show multi-organ dysfunction (90), our results suggest that IL-17A may be an attractive clinical target to reduce TSS severity.

The key to successful treatment of TSS remains the rapid identification of the source of infection, appropriate and effective use of antibiotics, drainage of wounds (or removal of tampon in menstrual TSS) and supportive care (91). Intravenous immunoglobulin has also been shown to improve clinical outcomes in TSS caused by group A *Streptococcus* (92). However, there is currently no cure for the cytokine storm induced by SAgs. Here,

we define the rapid production of IL-17A by  $CD4^+$   $T_{EM}$  cells as a novel mechanism underlying TSS immunopathology. Our findings suggest that neutralizing IL-17A function may serve to lessen systemic inflammatory cytokine levels and decrease tissue damage in TSS. Thus, a therapeutic approach targeting the early induction of multiple inflammatory mediators that are involved in the cytokine storm, including IL-17A, may be effective in averting TSS mortality.

#### 5.5 References

- 1. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 2. Chesney, P. J., Davis, J. P., Purdy, W. K., Wand, P. J., and Chesney, R. W. 1981. Clinical manifestations of toxic shock syndrome. *JAMA* **246**: 741-748.
- 3. Reingold, A. L., Dan, B. B., Shands, K. N., and Broome, C. V. 1982. Toxic-shock syndrome not associated with menstruation. A review of 54 cases. *Lancet* 1: 1-4.
- Shands, K. N., Schmid, G. P., Dan, B. B., Blum, D., Guidotti, R. J., Hargrett, N. T., Anderson, R. L., Hill, D. L., Broome, C. V., Band, J. D., and Fraser, D. W. 1980. Toxic-shock syndrome in menstruating women: association with tampon use and *Staphylococcus aureus* and clinical features in 52 cases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 303: 1436-1442.
- 5. Schlievert, P. M., Shands, K. N., Dan, B. B., Schmid, G. P., and Nishimura, R. D. 1981. Identification and characterization of an exotoxin from *Staphylococcus aureus* associated with toxic-shock syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* **143**: 509-516.
- 6. Dinges, M. M., Orwin, P. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2000. Exotoxins of *Staphylococcus aureus. Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **13**: 16-34.
- 7. Musser, J. M., Hauser, A. R., Kim, M. H., Schlievert, P. M., Nelson, K., and Selander, R. K. 1991. Streptococcus pyogenes causing toxic-shock-like syndrome and other invasive diseases: clonal diversity and pyrogenic exotoxin expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **88**: 2668-2672.
- 8. Dellabona, P., Peccoud, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. 1990. Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. *Cell* **62**: 1115-1121.
- 9. White, J., Herman, A., Pullen, A. M., Kubo, R., Kappler, J. W., and Marrack, P. 1989. The V beta-specific superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B: stimulation of mature T cells and clonal deletion in neonatal mice. *Cell* **56**: 27-35.
- Spaulding, A. R., Salgado-Pabon, W., Kohler, P. L., Horswill, A. R., Leung, D. Y., and Schlievert, P. M. 2013. Staphylococcal and streptococcal superantigen exotoxins. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 26: 422-447.
- 11. Krakauer, T., and Stiles, B. G. 2013. The staphylococcal enterotoxin (SE) family: SEB and siblings. *Virulence* **4**: 759-773.
- 12. Krakauer, T., Pradhan, K., and Stiles, B. G. 2016. Staphylococcal Superantigens Spark Host-Mediated Danger Signals. *Front. Immunol.* **7**: 23.

- Dubinett, S. M., Huang, M., Lichtenstein, A., McBride, W. H., Wang, J., Markovitz, G., Kelley, D., Grody, W. W., Mintz, L. E., and Dhanani, S. 1994. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha plays a central role in interleukin-2-induced pulmonary vascular leak and lymphocyte accumulation. *Cell. Immunol.* 157: 170-180.
- 14. Mattsson, E., Herwald, H., and Egesten, A. 2003. Superantigens from *Staphylococcus aureus* induce procoagulant activity and monocyte tissue factor expression in whole blood and mononuclear cells via IL-1 beta. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **1**: 2569-2576.
- 15. Scheller, J., Chalaris, A., Schmidt-Arras, D., and Rose-John, S. 2011. The proand anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1813**: 878-888.
- 16. McKay, D. M., and Singh, P. K. 1997. Superantigen activation of immune cells evokes epithelial (T84) transport and barrier abnormalities via IFN-gamma and TNF alpha: inhibition of increased permeability, but not diminished secretory responses by TGF-beta2. *J. Immunol.* **159**: 2382-2390.
- 17. Krakauer, T. 1999. Induction of CC chemokines in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by staphylococcal exotoxins and its prevention by pentoxifylline. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **66**: 158-164.
- Tessier, P. A., Naccache, P. H., Diener, K. R., Gladue, R. P., Neote, K. S., Clark-Lewis, I., and McColl, S. R. 1998. Induction of acute inflammation in vivo by staphylococcal superantigens. II. Critical role for chemokines, ICAM-1, and TNF-alpha. *J. Immunol.* 161: 1204-1211.
- 19. Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Oukka, M., and Kuchroo, V. K. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **27**: 485-517.
- 20. Shen, F., and Gaffen, S. L. 2008. Structure-function relationships in the IL-17 receptor: implications for signal transduction and therapy. *Cytokine* **41**: 92-104.
- 21. Cua, D. J., and Tato, C. M. 2010. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **10**: 479-489.
- 22. Dusseaux, M., Martin, E., Serriari, N., Peguillet, I., Premel, V., Louis, D., Milder, M., Le Bourhis, L., Soudais, C., Treiner, E., and Lantz, O. 2011. Human MAIT cells are xenobiotic-resistant, tissue-targeted, CD161-hi IL-17-secreting T cells. *Blood* **117**: 1250-1259.
- 23. Murray, R. J. 2005. Recognition and management of *Staphylococcus aureus* toxin-mediated disease. *Intern. Med. J.* **35 Suppl 2**: S106-S119.

- 24. Kain, K. C., Schulzer, M., and Chow, A. W. 1993. Clinical spectrum of nonmenstrual toxic shock syndrome (TSS): comparison with menstrual TSS by multivariate discriminant analyses. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **16**: 100-106.
- 25. Hajjeh, R. A., Reingold, A., Weil, A., Shutt, K., Schuchat, A., and Perkins, B. A. 1999. Toxic shock syndrome in the United States: surveillance update, 1979 1996. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **5**: 807-810.
- 26. Descloux, E., Perpoint, T., Ferry, T., Lina, G., Bes, M., Vandenesch, F., Mohammedi, I., and Etienne, J. 2008. One in five mortality in non-menstrual toxic shock syndrome versus no mortality in menstrual cases in a balanced French series of 55 cases. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* **27**: 37-43.
- Ito, K., Bian, H. J., Molina, M., Han, J., Magram, J., Saar, E., Belunis, C., Bolin, D. R., Arceo, R., Campbell, R., Falcioni, F., Vidovic, D., Hammer, J., and Nagy, Z. A. 1996. HLA-DR4-IE chimeric class II transgenic, murine class II-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2635-2644.
- 28. Chau, T. A., McCully, M. L., Brintnell, W., An, G., Kasper, K. J., Vines, E. D., Kubes, P., Haeryfar, S. M., McCormick, J. K., Cairns, E., Heinrichs, D. E., and Madrenas, J. 2009. Toll-like receptor 2 ligands on the staphylococcal cell wall downregulate superantigen-induced T cell activation and prevent toxic shock syndrome. *Nat. Med.* 15: 641-648.
- 29. Hayworth, J. L., Mazzuca, D. M., Maleki Vareki, S., Welch, I., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 699-709.
- Leder, L., Llera, A., Lavoie, P. M., Lebedeva, M. I., Li, H., Sekaly, R. P., Bohach, G. A., Gahr, P. J., Schlievert, P. M., Karjalainen, K., and Mariuzza, R. A. 1998. A mutational analysis of the binding of staphylococcal enterotoxins B and C3 to the T cell receptor beta chain and major histocompatibility complex class II. *J. Exp. Med.* 187: 823-833.
- 31. Pavlidis, P., and Noble, W. S. 2003. Matrix2png: a utility for visualizing matrix data. *Bioinformatics* **19**: 295-296.
- 32. Howard, J. C., Varallo, V. M., Ross, D. C., Roth, J. H., Faber, K. J., Alman, B., and Gan, B. S. 2003. Elevated levels of beta-catenin and fibronectin in three-dimensional collagen cultures of Dupuytren's disease cells are regulated by tension in vitro. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord.* **4**: 16.
- 33. Sheridan, B. S., and Lefrancois, L. 2012. Isolation of mouse lymphocytes from small intestine tissues. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* Chapter 3: Unit3 19.

- 35. DaSilva, L., Welcher, B. C., Ulrich, R. G., Aman, M. J., David, C. S., and Bavari, S. 2002. Humanlike immune response of human leukocyte antigen-DR3 transgenic mice to staphylococcal enterotoxins: a novel model for superantigen vaccines. *J. Infect. Dis.* **185**: 1754-1760.
- 36. Tilahun, A. Y., Marietta, E. V., Wu, T. T., Patel, R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Human leukocyte antigen class II transgenic mouse model unmasks the significant extrahepatic pathology in toxic shock syndrome. *Am. J. Pathol.* **178**: 2760-2773.
- Roy, C. J., Warfield, K. L., Welcher, B. C., Gonzales, R. F., Larsen, T., Hanson, J., David, C. S., Krakauer, T., and Bavari, S. 2005. Human leukocyte antigen-DQ8 transgenic mice: a model to examine the toxicity of aerosolized staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Infect. Immun.* 73: 2452-2460.
- 38. Hayworth, J. L., Kasper, K. J., Leon-Ponte, M., Herfst, C. A., Yue, D., Brintnell, W. C., Mazzuca, D. M., Heinrichs, D. E., Cairns, E., Madrenas, J., Hoskin, D. W., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2009. Attenuation of massive cytokine response to the staphylococcal enterotoxin B superantigen by the innate immunomodulatory protein lactoferrin. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 157: 60-70.
- Szabo, P. A., Goswami, A., Memarnejadian, A., Mallett, C. L., Foster, P. J., McCormick, J. K., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2016. Swift intrahepatic accumulation of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a humanized mouse model of toxic shock syndrome. *J. Infect. Dis.* 213: 1990-1995.
- 40. Mueller, S. N., Gebhardt, T., Carbone, F. R., and Heath, W. R. 2013. Memory T cell subsets, migration patterns, and tissue residence. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **31**: 137-161.
- Michel, M. L., Keller, A. C., Paget, C., Fujio, M., Trottein, F., Savage, P. B., Wong, C. H., Schneider, E., Dy, M., and Leite-de-Moraes, M. C. 2007. Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 995-1001.
- Ivanov, II, McKenzie, B. S., Zhou, L., Tadokoro, C. E., Lepelley, A., Lafaille, J. J., Cua, D. J., and Littman, D. R. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 126: 1121-1133.
- 43. Kum, W. W., Cameron, S. B., Hung, R. W., Kalyan, S., and Chow, A. W. 2001. Temporal sequence and kinetics of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion induced by toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Infect. Immun.* **69**: 7544-7549.

- 44. Tilahun, A. Y., Holz, M., Wu, T. T., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2011. Interferon gamma-dependent intestinal pathology contributes to the lethality in bacterial superantigen-induced toxic shock syndrome. *PLoS One* **6**: e16764.
- 45. Chen, C. Y., Ezzeddine, N., and Shyu, A. B. 2008. Messenger RNA half-life measurements in mammalian cells. *Methods Enzymol.* **448**: 335-357.
- 46. Sallusto, F., Lenig, D., Forster, R., Lipp, M., and Lanzavecchia, A. 1999. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature* **401**: 708-712.
- Annunziato, F., Cosmi, L., Santarlasci, V., Maggi, L., Liotta, F., Mazzinghi, B., Parente, E., Fili, L., Ferri, S., Frosali, F., Giudici, F., Romagnani, P., Parronchi, P., Tonelli, F., Maggi, E., and Romagnani, S. 2007. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 1849-1861.
- 48. Singh, S. P., Zhang, H. H., Foley, J. F., Hedrick, M. N., and Farber, J. M. 2008. Human T cells that are able to produce IL-17 express the chemokine receptor CCR6. *J. Immunol.* **180**: 214-221.
- 49. Liu, H., and Rohowsky-Kochan, C. 2008. Regulation of IL-17 in human CCR6+ effector memory T cells. *J. Immunol.* **180**: 7948-7957.
- 50. Gao, Y., and Williams, A. P. 2015. Role of innate T cells in antibacterial immunity. *Front. Immunol.* **6**: 302.
- 51. McArthur, M. A., and Sztein, M. B. 2013. Unexpected heterogeneity of multifunctional T cells in response to superantigen stimulation in humans. *Clin. Immunol.* **146**: 140-152.
- 52. Onishi, R. M., and Gaffen, S. L. 2010. Interleukin-17 and its target genes: mechanisms of interleukin-17 function in disease. *Immunology* **129**: 311-321.
- 53. Iwakura, Y., Ishigame, H., Saijo, S., and Nakae, S. 2011. Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. *Immunity* **34**: 149-162.
- 54. Zrioual, S., Toh, M. L., Tournadre, A., Zhou, Y., Cazalis, M. A., Pachot, A., Miossec, V., and Miossec, P. 2008. IL-17RA and IL-17RC receptors are essential for IL-17A-induced ELR+ CXC chemokine expression in synoviocytes and are overexpressed in rheumatoid blood. *J. Immunol.* 180: 655-663.
- 55. Shahrara, S., Pickens, S. R., Dorfleutner, A., and Pope, R. M. 2009. IL-17 induces monocyte migration in rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Immunol.* **182**: 3884-3891.
- Ko, C. Y., Chang, W. C., and Wang, J. M. 2015. Biological roles of CCAAT/Enhancer-binding protein delta during inflammation. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 22: 6.

- 57. Fromenty, B., and Pessayre, D. 1995. Inhibition of mitochondrial beta-oxidation as a mechanism of hepatotoxicity. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **67**: 101-154.
- Cho, J. S., Pietras, E. M., Garcia, N. C., Ramos, R. I., Farzam, D. M., Monroe, H. R., Magorien, J. E., Blauvelt, A., Kolls, J. K., Cheung, A. L., Cheng, G., Modlin, R. L., and Miller, L. S. 2010. IL-17 is essential for host defense against cutaneous *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**: 1762-1773.
- 59. Wang, B., Dileepan, T., Briscoe, S., Hyland, K. A., Kang, J., Khoruts, A., and Cleary, P. P. 2010. Induction of TGF-beta1 and TGF-beta1-dependent predominant Th17 differentiation by group A streptococcal infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**: 5937-5942.
- Miethke, T., Wahl, C., Heeg, K., Echtenacher, B., Krammer, P. H., and Wagner, H. 1992. T cell-mediated lethal shock triggered in mice by the superantigen staphylococcal enterotoxin B: critical role of tumor necrosis factor. *J. Exp. Med.* 175: 91-98.
- 61. Stiles, B. G., Bavari, S., Krakauer, T., and Ulrich, R. G. 1993. Toxicity of staphylococcal enterotoxins potentiated by lipopolysaccharide: major histocompatibility complex class II molecule dependency and cytokine release. *Infect. Immun.* **61**: 5333-5338.
- 62. Leist, M., Gantner, F., Bohlinger, I., Tiegs, G., Germann, P. G., and Wendel, A. 1995. Tumor necrosis factor-induced hepatocyte apoptosis precedes liver failure in experimental murine shock models. *Am. J. Pathol.* **146**: 1220-1234.
- 63. Mignon, A., Rouquet, N., Fabre, M., Martin, S., Pages, J. C., Dhainaut, J. F., Kahn, A., Briand, P., and Joulin, V. 1999. LPS challenge in D-galactosaminesensitized mice accounts for caspase-dependent fulminant hepatitis, not for septic shock. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **159**: 1308-1315.
- 64. Wang, H., and Ma, S. 2008. The cytokine storm and factors determining the sequence and severity of organ dysfunction in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Am. J. Emerg. Med.* **26**: 711-715.
- 65. Tilahun, A. Y., Chowdhary, V. R., David, C. S., and Rajagopalan, G. 2014. Systemic inflammatory response elicited by superantigen destabilizes T regulatory cells, rendering them ineffective during toxic shock syndrome. *J. Immunol.* **193**: 2919-2930.
- Islander, U., Andersson, A., Lindberg, E., Adlerberth, I., Wold, A. E., and Rudin, A. 2010. Superantigenic *Staphylococcus aureus* stimulates production of interleukin-17 from memory but not naive T cells. *Infect. Immun.* 78: 381-386.
- 67. Niebuhr, M., Gathmann, M., Scharonow, H., Mamerow, D., Mommert, S., Balaji, H., and Werfel, T. 2011. Staphylococcal alpha-toxin is a strong inducer of interleukin-17 in humans. *Infect. Immun.* **79**: 1615-1622.

- Esplugues, E., Huber, S., Gagliani, N., Hauser, A. E., Town, T., Wan, Y. Y., O'Connor, W., Jr., Rongvaux, A., Van Rooijen, N., Haberman, A. M., Iwakura, Y., Kuchroo, V. K., Kolls, J. K., Bluestone, J. A., Herold, K. C., and Flavell, R. A. 2011. Control of TH17 cells occurs in the small intestine. *Nature* 475: 514-518.
- Hirota, K., Duarte, J. H., Veldhoen, M., Hornsby, E., Li, Y., Cua, D. J., Ahlfors, H., Wilhelm, C., Tolaini, M., Menzel, U., Garefalaki, A., Potocnik, A. J., and Stockinger, B. 2011. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 255-263.
- 70. Sheridan, B. S., and Lefrancois, L. 2011. Regional and mucosal memory T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **12**: 485-491.
- 71. Danielsen, E. M., Hansen, G. H., and Karlsdottir, E. 2013. *Staphylococcus aureus* enterotoxins A- and B: binding to the enterocyte brush border and uptake by perturbation of the apical endocytic membrane traffic. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* **139**: 513-524.
- 72. Krakauer, T., Buckley, M. J., and Fisher, D. 2010. Proinflammatory mediators of toxic shock and their correlation to lethality. *Mediators Inflamm.* **2010**: 517594.
- 73. Faulkner, L., Cooper, A., Fantino, C., Altmann, D. M., and Sriskandan, S. 2005. The mechanism of superantigen-mediated toxic shock: not a simple Th1 cytokine storm. *J. Immunol.* **175**: 6870-6877.
- 74. Chen, J., Cascio, J., Magee, J. D., Techasintana, P., Gubin, M. M., Dahm, G. M., Calaluce, R., Yu, S., and Atasoy, U. 2013. Posttranscriptional gene regulation of IL-17 by the RNA-binding protein HuR is required for initiation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* **191**: 5441-5450.
- Lee, H. H., Yoon, N. A., Vo, M. T., Kim, C. W., Woo, J. M., Cha, H. J., Cho, Y. W., Lee, B. J., Cho, W. J., and Park, J. W. 2012. Tristetraprolin down-regulates IL-17 through mRNA destabilization. *FEBS Lett.* 586: 41-46.
- 76. Khan, D., and Ansar Ahmed, S. 2015. Regulation of IL-17 in autoimmune diseases by transcriptional factors and microRNAs. *Front. Genet.* **6**: 236.
- 77. Pepper, M., and Jenkins, M. K. 2011. Origins of CD4(+) effector and central memory T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **12**: 467-471.
- Muranski, P., Borman, Z. A., Kerkar, S. P., Klebanoff, C. A., Ji, Y., Sanchez-Perez, L., Sukumar, M., Reger, R. N., Yu, Z., Kern, S. J., Roychoudhuri, R., Ferreyra, G. A., Shen, W., Durum, S. K., Feigenbaum, L., Palmer, D. C., Antony, P. A., Chan, C. C., Laurence, A., Danner, R. L., Gattinoni, L., and Restifo, N. P. 2011. Th17 cells are long lived and retain a stem cell-like molecular signature. *Immunity* 35: 972-985.
- 79. Kryczek, I., Zhao, E., Liu, Y., Wang, Y., Vatan, L., Szeliga, W., Moyer, J., Klimczak, A., Lange, A., and Zou, W. 2011. Human TH17 cells are long-lived effector memory cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **3**: 104ra100.
- Bjorkander, S., Hell, L., Johansson, M. A., Forsberg, M. M., Lasaviciute, G., Roos, S., Holmlund, U., and Sverremark-Ekstrom, E. 2016. *Staphylococcus aureus*-derived factors induce IL-10, IFN-gamma and IL-17A-expressing FOXP3+CD161+ T-helper cells in a partly monocyte-dependent manner. *Sci. Rep.* 6: 22083.
- 81. Taylor, A. L., and Llewelyn, M. J. 2010. Superantigen-induced proliferation of human CD4+CD25- T cells is followed by a switch to a functional regulatory phenotype. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 6591-6598.
- 82. Azuma, K., Koike, K., Kobayashi, T., Mochizuki, T., Mashiko, K., and Yamamoto, Y. 2004. Detection of circulating superantigens in an intensive care unit population. *Int. J. Infect. Dis.* **8**: 292-298.
- Prindeze, N. J., Amundsen, B. M., Pavlovich, A. R., Paul, D. W., Carney, B. C., Moffatt, L. T., and Shupp, J. W. 2014. Staphylococcal superantigens and toxins are detectable in the serum of adult burn patients. *Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 79: 303-307.
- 84. Sriskandan, S., Moyes, D., and Cohen, J. 1996. Detection of circulating bacterial superantigen and lymphotoxin-alpha in patients with streptococcal toxic-shock syndrome. *Lancet* **348**: 1315-1316.
- Russell, C. B., Rand, H., Bigler, J., Kerkof, K., Timour, M., Bautista, E., Krueger, J. G., Salinger, D. H., Welcher, A. A., and Martin, D. A. 2014. Gene expression profiles normalized in psoriatic skin by treatment with brodalumab, a human anti-IL-17 receptor monoclonal antibody. *J. Immunol.* 192: 3828-3836.
- Crowe, C. R., Chen, K., Pociask, D. A., Alcorn, J. F., Krivich, C., Enelow, R. I., Ross, T. M., Witztum, J. L., and Kolls, J. K. 2009. Critical role of IL-17RA in immunopathology of influenza infection. *J. Immunol.* 183: 5301-5310.
- 87. Cone, L. A., Woodard, D. R., Schlievert, P. M., and Tomory, G. S. 1987. Clinical and bacteriologic observations of a toxic shock-like syndrome due to *Streptococcus pyogenes. N. Engl. J. Med.* **317**: 146-149.
- 88. Van Lierde, S., van Leeuwen, W. J., Ceuppens, J., Cornette, L., Goubau, P., and Van Eldere, J. 1997. Toxic shock syndrome without rash in a young child: link with syndrome of hemorrhagic shock and encephalopathy? *J. Pediatr.* **131**: 130-134.
- 89. Koskinas, J., Gomatos, I. P., Tiniakos, D. G., Memos, N., Boutsikou, M., Garatzioti, A., Archimandritis, A., and Betrosian, A. 2008. Liver histology in ICU

patients dying from sepsis: a clinico-pathological study. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **14**: 1389-1393.

- 90. DeVries, A. S., Lesher, L., Schlievert, P. M., Rogers, T., Villaume, L. G., Danila, R., and Lynfield, R. 2011. Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome 2000-2006: epidemiology, clinical features, and molecular characteristics. *PLoS One* **6**: e22997.
- 91. Low, D. E. 2013. Toxic shock syndrome: major advances in pathogenesis, but not treatment. *Crit. Care Clin.* **29**: 651-675.
- 92. Linner, A., Darenberg, J., Sjolin, J., Henriques-Normark, B., and Norrby-Teglund, A. 2014. Clinical efficacy of polyspecific intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in patients with streptococcal toxic shock syndrome: a comparative observational study. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* **59**: 851-857.

# Chapter 6

# General Discussion and Conclusions

## 6.1 Discussion

Over the last few decades of intensive research, much has been learned about the biological and molecular determinants of TSS pathogenesis. It is clear that bacterial SAgs cause TSS through the abnormal activation of large numbers of T cells, resulting in a massive release of systemic inflammatory mediators in a matter of hours (1, 2). This 'cytokine storm' defines many, if not most, signs and symptoms of clinical TSS, which can progress to multi-organ failure as early as 8-12 hours after the onset of symptoms (3). Despite our current understanding of the factors that trigger TSS pathology, there currently are no available therapeutic options that decrease the severity of the cytokine storm. Successful clinical management of TSS still relies almost wholly on supportive care (4). Together, these issues highlight the need to identify the key players of the early stages of the cytokine storm, where clinical intervention is most likely to be effective. Towards this goal, this thesis aimed to utilize clinically relevant humanized mouse models and human cells to characterize rapid immune responses in TSS.

## 6.1.1 *i*NKT cells are pathogenic in TSS

In Chapter 3, I defined the role of *i*NKT cells in TSS pathogenesis using a humanized DR4tg mouse model. These mice express the human MHC class II molecule HLA-DR4, which, unlike some mouse MHC class II, allows for potent T cell activation by SAgs similar to human TSS. To generate a mouse strain that is *i*NKT cell-deficient yet retains is ability to potently respond to SAgs, I crossed DR4tg mice with germ-line *i*NKT cell knockout mice (J $\alpha$ 18<sup>-/-</sup>). When challenged with SAg, these novel *i*NKT cell-deficient 'DJ' mice showed significantly attenuated weight loss and mortality compared to the *i*NKT cell-sufficient DR4tg mice (**Fig. 3.1B**), strongly suggesting that *i*NKT cells were

acting in a pathogenic manner. However, a relatively recent report highlights that  $J\alpha 18^{-i-1}$  mice may have additional cellular deficiencies (5). Therefore, I confirmed my findings utilizing an *i*NKT cell-depleting antibody (6) that selectively eliminated *i*NKT cells from the liver and, to a somewhat lesser extent, from the spleen (**Fig. 3.1C-D**). Both experimental approaches demonstrated that *i*NKT cells are pathogenic in TSS.

*i*NKT cells are known for their rapid and copious production of both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines, due to the constitutive expression of cytokine mRNAs (7). To evaluate the contribution of *i*NKT cells to the TSS cytokine storm, I quantified the levels of serum cytokines of DR4tg and DJ mice after exposure to SEB. Strikingly, when compared to DR4tg mice, DJ mice showed reduced quantities of many inflammatory cytokines and chemokines consistent with an attenuated cytokine storm (**Fig. 3.4A**). Importantly, several inflammatory cytokines known to play a direct role in TSS immunopathology were present only at the 2-hour time point after SEB injection and were markedly decreased in DJ mice (**Fig. 3.4B**). These results indicate that *i*NKT cells are major contributors to the early cytokine storm in TSS. The finding that TSS morbidity/mortality was reduced when *i*NKT cells were polarized towards Th2-type, anti-inflammatory cytokine responses by OCH (**Fig. 3.4C and 3.6**) further strengthens this notion.

In light of the results presented in this chapter, further investigations dissecting the mechanistic contribution of *i*NKT cells to TSS immunopathology are clearly warranted. However, this study, like the vast majority of *i*NKT cell research utilizing germ-line knockout mouse models, is hindered by the lack of 'clean' *i*NKT cell-deficient mice. CD1d<sup>-/-</sup> mice lack NKT cells in general (8) and therefore the contribution of either *i*NKT and vNKT cells cannot be disentangled. As noted previously,  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice show reduced TCR  $\alpha$ -chain diversity, which does not seem to impact the frequency of major immune cell subsets (**Fig. 3.2**) yet may have unknown ramifications to immune responses in these mice. Additional studies with  $J\alpha 18^{-/-}$  mice should use newly generated strains that do not possess TCR $\alpha$  repertoire defects, once they become available.

The *i*NKT cell-specific mAb NKT14 shows considerable promise in the depletion of *i*NKT cells in mouse models. Scheuplein et. al. demonstrated the efficient and selective depletion of *i*NKT cells in NKT14-injected mice by flow cytometry (6). However, the authors did not rule out whether the absence of *i*NKT cells is due to TCR downregulation, a common characteristic of activated *i*NKT cells (9). To address this issue, I evaluated gene expression levels of the *i*NKT cell TCR  $\alpha$ -chain (V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18) in NKT14- and isotype control-treated mice. Although V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 expression in mice injected with NKT14 was greatly reduced in the liver (by ~90%), the mRNA levels in the spleen showed only a 50% reduction compared to controls (Fig. 3.1D). This finding suggests that the efficacy of *i*NKT cell depletion by NKT14 is tissue specific and may be incomplete. The presence of *i*NKT cells that have downregulated their TCR is potentially problematic because *i*NKT cells can be activated independently of TCR signals, such as through IL-12 and IL-18 for example (10). Thus, they may still participate in the cytokine storm. Although, DJ mice and NKT14-injected mice showed similar reductions in TSS mortality compared to *i*NKT-sufficient controls (Fig 3.3), my findings highlight the need for a comprehensive evaluation of the NKT14 effectiveness throughout individual mouse tissues.

In Chapter 4, I discovered a dramatic influx of myeloid cells into the liver of DR4tg mice shortly after SEB exposure (**Fig. 4.1A**). These cells resembled G-MDSCs in both cell surface phenotype (CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>high</sup>Ly-6C<sup>+</sup>) and morphology (**Figs. 4.1B, 4.3 and 4.4**). I classified these cells as *bona fide* MDSCs based on their ability to potently suppress SEB-induced T cell proliferation (**Fig. 4.5A**). Using several pharmacological inhibitors, I also showed that MDSC-mediated T cell suppression was mediated by ROS, as opposed to arginase or nitric oxide, confirming the identity of these cells as G-MDSCs (**Fig. 4.5B**). Collectively, my results demonstrated that SAg exposure in DR4tg mice rapidly triggers the accumulation of G-MDSCs in the liver.

During severe inflammation, MDSCs are known to amass in peripheral lymphoid organs, typically after several days (11). Contrastingly, I demonstrated the hepatic accumulation of MDSCs in just 2 hours after TSS onset. The rapidity of this response and a lack of Ki67 upregulation in the liver, in conjunction with decreased MDSC frequency in bone marrow (**Fig. 4.6**), is highly suggestive of direct MDSC recruitment from the bone marrow to the liver. The exact cellular and chemotactic factors that mediate this process are unknown. In mouse models of hepatocellular carcinoma, tumor derived GM-CSF and CXCL1 facilitate the recruitment of MDSCs to the liver (12). In addition, IL-17A derived from  $\gamma\delta$  T cells indirectly triggers MDSC migration to liver via inducing the secretion of CXCL5 by tumor cells (13). Importantly, I found that GM-CSF, CXCL1, IL-17A and CXCL5 were all rapidly produced within 2 hours of SAg exposure in DR4tg mice, as detailed in Chapter 3 (**Fig. 3.4B**). Interestingly, when injected with SEB, DJ mice did not show a reduction in hepatic MDSC accumulation (data not shown), despite the absence of

*i*NKT cells and a marked decrease in many inflammatory mediators in serum (**Fig. 3.4B**). The dramatic reduction of GM-CSF, CXCL1 and IL-17A in DJ relative to DR4tg mice suggests these factors may not play a dominant role in this response. Although CXCL5 levels were also reduced in DJ mice, the difference was minor and deemed not statistically significant, which leaves open the possibility that CXCL5 may promote this process. Nevertheless, further inquiry into the mechanisms behind MDSC recruitment to the liver in TSS is required.

Using a suppression assay, I established that MDSCs were potent suppressors of SAgmediated T cell proliferation in vitro. However, the capacity of MDSCs to mitigate hepatic tissue damage *in vivo* during TSS needs to be explored. To this end, I attempted to deplete MDSCs in DR4tg mice using an anti-Gr-1 mAb and the chemotherapy agent gemcitabine. Anti-Gr-1 antibodies are commonly used to deplete MDSCs in tumor bearing mice, although they are not necessarily selective in doing so (14). Previous studies also show that anti-Gr-1 antibodies have difficulty depleting MDSCs in the liver (15). Accordingly, mice treated with anti-Gr-1 antibody did not reduce MDSC recruitment to the liver in TSS (data not shown). Alternatively, the chemotherapy drug gemcitabine has also been shown to be effective in selectively depleting MDSCs in mouse models of cancer (16, 17). Treatment with gemcitabine prior to SAg exposure failed to prevent MDSCs recruitment to the liver (data not shown). Several other alternatives to gemcitabine can be used to selectively deplete MDSCs, such as 5fluorouracil (18), which may be effective in our mouse model of TSS and warrant further study. Qin et al. recently demonstrated a promising approach where the depletion of intratumoral MDSCs was achieved by a therapeutic 'peptibody' generated by fusing

MDSC-binding peptides with the Fc portion of a mouse IgG2b (19). It remains to be seen whether this method proves to be useful in depleting MDSCs in peripheral tissues or other disease contexts. An efficient and selective method for MDSC depletion *in vivo* would allow for a thorough investigation into the role of recruited MDSCs during TSS.

In this chapter, I showed that *ex-vivo* generated human MDSCs were able to potently inhibit autologous T cell responses to SEB (**Fig. 4.5D**), indicating that human MDSCs possess the same SAg-suppressive capacity as in mice. However, MDSCs generated in this manner resemble M-MDSCs in both surface phenotype and morphology (20), as opposed to the G-MDSCs I detected in mice. Therefore, whether G-MDSCs expand and home to the liver in human TSS remains an unanswered but important question. A recent study in human sepsis found that as early as 12 hours after diagnosis, both M-MDSCs and G-MDSCs were present in high quantities in patients' peripheral blood (21). Like TSS, the septic immune response begins with a cytokine storm (22), and thus the presence of early MDSCs in septic blood suggests that a similar process may occur in TSS patients as well.

# 6.1.3 IL-17A is pathogenic in TSS

In Chapter 5, I characterized the cellular source of rapid IL-17A production in both DR4tg mice and human PBMCs. Using IL-17A-GFP/DR4tg bone marrow chimeric mice, I identified CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells in the intestinal epithelium as a major source of the rapid IL-17A response to SEB (**Fig. 5.1C-D**). This phenotype was confirmed using D17 mice, which were generated by crossing DR4tg and IL-17A-GFP mice to homozygosity (**Fig. 5.2A-C**). Furthermore, PBMCs from healthy human volunteers stimulated with SAgs also exhibited IL-17A production within hours, suggesting that rapid IL-17A responses in

TSS are translatable to humans (**Fig. 5.3C**). Similar to DR4tg mice, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells constituted the vast majority of IL-17A-producing cells among human PBMCs (**Fig. 5.4B-C**). Notably, CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells were also responsible for a large proportion of early IFN $\gamma$  as well (**Fig. 5.5C**). Thus, my findings implicate CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells as major players in the rapid production of inflammatory cytokines during TSS in both mice and humans.

Importantly, I defined the role of rapidly produced IL-17A in response to SAgs as pathogenic in TSS. Since many downstream targets of IL-17A include cytokines known to participate in cytokine storm, I evaluated changes in inflammatory gene expression in SEB-stimulated human PBMCs after IL-17A signaling blockade. Several key inflammatory mediators of TSS including TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$  and IL-6 were downregulated as a result of incubation with anti-IL-17RA antibody (Fig. 5.6A), suggesting that IL-17A contributes to the cytokine storm and is therefore pathogenic in TSS. Accordingly, IL-17A receptor blockade also abrogated the secondary effect of SAg-stimulated PBMCs on human dermal fibroblasts as judged by C/EBP delta (CEBPD) expression (Fig. 5.6B). In the DR4tg mouse model of TSS, in vivo neutralization of IL-17A significantly attenuated SEB-induced morbidity and mortality (Fig. 5.7A-B). Remarkably, mice receiving anti-IL-17A antibody also demonstrated a stark reduction in intestinal and hepatic tissue damage compared to non-neutralized controls (Fig. 5.7C-D). Collectively, my findings reveal the previously unrecognized contribution of IL-17A to the initiation of the cytokine storm and the development of TSS immunopathology.

The gene expression of many different cytokines, chemokines and inflammatory mediators in addition to those implicated in TSS pathogenesis were highly upregulated in human PBMCs 8 hours after SAg exposure. Strikingly, IL-22 was most highly

upregulated amongst all genes examined including IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$  and IL-6 (**Table 5.3**), suggesting it may be produced in abundance after SAg stimulation. Similar to IL-17A, IL-22 is essential in immunity to several Gram-negative extracellular pathogens, yet in excess can be pathogenic in inflammatory disorders such as psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis (23). Importantly, IL-22 acts synergistically with IL-17A to induce inflammation (24, 25) and may therefore be involved in the TSS cytokine storm. Future studies addressing the role of IL-22 and other highly upregulated genes in SAg-stimulated PBMCs may uncover novel mechanisms that drive or inhibit TSS pathogenesis.

In this chapter, I provided the first report that rapid IL-17A responses induced by SEB exposure in mice are translatable to human PMBCs. However, the fundamental question is whether human patients show high levels of IL-17A during the cytokine storm in TSS. Although this question remains unanswered, there is accumulating evidence for the rapid production of IL-17A in the cytokine storm during sepsis. A recent study demonstrated that human neonates with sepsis exhibit IL-17A receptor signaling (26). In fact, IL-17RA emerged as a critical effector pathway upon gene expression analysis of whole blood from septic infants when compared to healthy controls. More conclusive, yet preliminary data was recently presented at the American Thoracic Society 2016 International Conference by Mikacenic et al., who measured IL-17A levels in septic patients within 24 hours of diagnosis (27). A doubling of IL-17A concentration was associated with increased severity score, progression to septic shock and 28-day mortality. These studies demonstrate that IL-17A is rapidly produced during cytokine storm and is pathogenic in sepsis. Whether this is also the case with TSS requires further investigation.

A recurrent theme throughout this thesis is that early immune responses to SAgs are critical for the development of TSS immunopathology. This is because the cytokine storm, which defines many symptoms of TSS, begins within hours of exposure to SAgs. Accordingly, I found that both DR4tg mice and human PBMCs rapidly produce a variety of inflammatory mediators in as little as 2 hours after stimulation with SAgs. The initial wave of the cytokine storm in both mice and humans was dominated by inflammatory cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ , IL-2, IL-6 and IL-17A. Contrastingly, anti-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-10, appeared well after the inflammatory cytokine cascade reached excessive levels. These observations suggest that the early phase of the cytokine storm may be a critical period of systemic inflammation that culminates in tissue damage and eventually multi-organ failure. In support of this hypothesis, neutralizing IL-17A in DR4tg mice at the beginning of TSS onset attenuated hepatic and intestinal tissue damage in addition to mortality. Similarly, in a DR1tg mouse model of TSS, SAg-induced lethality was prevented only by pre-treatment of anti-TNF $\alpha$  antibody, whereas a 4-hour delay in antibody treatment after the onset of TSS was ineffective (28). Therefore, early immune responses to SAgs are likely responsible for initiating the inflammatory cascade that leads to organ damage and lethality in TSS. Interestingly, the rapid recruitment of MDSCs to the liver in DR4tg mice shortly after SEB exposure may represent an attempt by the host to mitigate hepatic pathology. Thus, future studies targeting this early timeframe should be fruitful in identifying novel mechanisms driving and/or attenuating TSS pathogenesis, or aid in the generation of therapies to reduce TSS severity.

Given that SAgs rapidly trigger the hyperactivation of the immune cells to cause disease, identifying the cellular processes that promote or inhibit the initial phases of the cytokine storm is critical to the understanding of TSS pathogenesis. In Chapter 3, I showed that *i*NKT cells were major contributors to the production of inflammatory mediators in TSS using DR4tg mice. In Chapter 4, I discovered a rapid influx of MDSCs into the liver in SAg-exposed DR4tg mice, which represents a novel mode of immunosuppression that may limit tissue damage in TSS. In Chapter 5, I demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>EM</sub> cells in both DR4tg mice and human PBMCs were the main source of early IL-17A cytokine responses. Thus, my findings uncovered the previously unrecognized role of *i*NKT cells, MDSCs and T<sub>EM</sub> cells in the early stages of TSS. Future investigations targeting these cells and/or their downstream effector responses for potential therapeutics may prove useful in preventing TSS mortality.

As the early cytokine storm is paramount to the pathogenesis of TSS, prospective therapies aimed at reducing disease severity are likely to be most effective early after exposure to SAgs. My findings suggest two novel approaches that target the early cytokine storm to reduce TSS severity. First, I demonstrated that skewing *i*NKT cell responses towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype using Th2-polarizing agonist OCH significantly attenuated both morbidity and mortality in a mouse model of TSS. Therefore, glycolipid agonists like OCH may be considered as potential therapeutics in TSS. Previous studies from this lab have similarly shown success with OCH in the prevention/treatment of inflammatory disorders in mouse models such as autoimmune arthritis (29), cardiac allograft rejection (30) and sepsis (31). Importantly, *i*NKT cell agonists exhibit significant promise in pre-clinical and clinical trials of cancer and viral

diseases (32). However, *i*NKT cell populations in humans are less abundant than in mice, at least in circulation, and whether their therapeutic manipulation has the same beneficial effect in this context needs to be confirmed. Another approach to the treatment of TSS would be to directly target inflammatory mediators in the cytokine storm. To this end, I demonstrated that neutralizing early IL-17A reduced the expression of many inflammatory mediators in SEB-stimulated human PBMCs and decreased tissue damage, morbidity and mortality in a mouse model of TSS. Therefore, targeting the multiple early inflammatory mediators of TSS, including IL-17A, may be effective to attenuate the inflammatory cascade and prevent tissue damage. However, a potential limitation to therapies aimed at mitigating rapid mediators of TSS is the need to identify patients early in the cytokine storm. As this thesis identifies novel contributors to TSS pathology, investigating the downstream mechanisms of these pathways is an important avenue for future research.

# 6.3 References

- Spaulding, A. R., Salgado-Pabon, W., Kohler, P. L., Horswill, A. R., Leung, D. Y., and Schlievert, P. M. 2013. Staphylococcal and streptococcal superantigen exotoxins. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 26: 422-447.
- 2. McCormick, J. K., Yarwood, J. M., and Schlievert, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: an update. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **55**: 77-104.
- 3. Murray, R. J. 2005. Recognition and management of *Staphylococcus aureus* toxin-mediated disease. *Intern. Med. J.* **35 Suppl 2**: S106-S119.
- 4. Low, D. E. 2013. Toxic shock syndrome: major advances in pathogenesis, but not treatment. *Crit. Care Clin.* **29**: 651-675.
- 5. Bedel, R., Matsuda, J. L., Brigl, M., White, J., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., and Gapin, L. 2012. Lower TCR repertoire diversity in Traj18-deficient mice. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**: 705-706.
- 6. Scheuplein, F., Lamont, D. J., Poynter, M. E., Boyson, J. E., Serreze, D., Lundblad, L. K., Mashal, R., and Schaub, R. 2015. Mouse invariant monoclonal antibody NKT14: A novel tool to manipulate iNKT cell function in vivo. *PLoS One* **10**: e0140729.
- Stetson, D. B., Mohrs, M., Reinhardt, R. L., Baron, J. L., Wang, Z. E., Gapin, L., Kronenberg, M., and Locksley, R. M. 2003. Constitutive cytokine mRNAs mark natural killer (NK) and NK T cells poised for rapid effector function. *J. Exp. Med.* 198: 1069-1076.
- 8. Smiley, S. T., Kaplan, M. H., and Grusby, M. J. 1997. Immunoglobulin E production in the absence of interleukin-4-secreting CD1-dependent cells. *Science* **275**: 977-979.
- Wilson, M. T., Johansson, C., Olivares-Villagomez, D., Singh, A. K., Stanic, A. K., Wang, C. R., Joyce, S., Wick, M. J., and Van Kaer, L. 2003. The response of natural killer T cells to glycolipid antigens is characterized by surface receptor down-modulation and expansion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 100: 10913-10918.
- 10. Leite-De-Moraes, M. C., Hameg, A., Arnould, A., Machavoine, F., Koezuka, Y., Schneider, E., Herbelin, A., and Dy, M. 1999. A distinct IL-18-induced pathway to fully activate NK T lymphocytes independently from TCR engagement. *J. Immunol.* **163**: 5871-5876.
- 11. Brudecki, L., Ferguson, D. A., McCall, C. E., and El Gazzar, M. 2012. Myeloidderived suppressor cells evolve during sepsis and can enhance or attenuate the systemic inflammatory response. *Infect. Immun.* **80**: 2026-2034.

12.

- 13. Ma, S., Cheng, Q., Cai, Y., Gong, H., Wu, Y., Yu, X., Shi, L., Wu, D., Dong, C., and Liu, H. 2014. IL-17A produced by gammadelta T cells promotes tumor growth in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* **74**: 1969-1982.
- Daley, J. M., Thomay, A. A., Connolly, M. D., Reichner, J. S., and Albina, J. E. 2008. Use of Ly6G-specific monoclonal antibody to deplete neutrophils in mice. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 83: 64-70.
- 15. Ma, C., Kapanadze, T., Gamrekelashvili, J., Manns, M. P., Korangy, F., and Greten, T. F. 2012. Anti-Gr-1 antibody depletion fails to eliminate hepatic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **92**: 1199-1206.
- 16. Suzuki, E., Kapoor, V., Jassar, A. S., Kaiser, L. R., and Albelda, S. M. 2005. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **11**: 6713-6721.
- 17. Le, H. K., Graham, L., Cha, E., Morales, J. K., Manjili, M. H., and Bear, H. D. 2009. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **9**: 900-909.
- 18. Vincent, J., Mignot, G., Chalmin, F., Ladoire, S., Bruchard, M., Chevriaux, A., Martin, F., Apetoh, L., Rebe, C., and Ghiringhelli, F. 2010. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* **70**: 3052-3061.
- 19. Qin, H., Lerman, B., Sakamaki, I., Wei, G., Cha, S. C., Rao, S. S., Qian, J., Hailemichael, Y., Nurieva, R., Dwyer, K. C., Roth, J., Yi, Q., Overwijk, W. W., and Kwak, L. W. 2014. Generation of a new therapeutic peptide that depletes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Nat. Med.* **20**: 676-681.
- 20. Lechner, M. G., Liebertz, D. J., and Epstein, A. L. 2010. Characterization of cytokine-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells from normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J. Immunol.* **185**: 2273-2284.
- Mathias, B., Delmas, A. L., Ozrazgat-Baslanti, T., Vanzant, E. L., Szpila, B. E., Mohr, A. M., Moore, F. A., Brakenridge, S. C., Brumback, B. A., Moldawer, L. L., Efron, P. A., and and the Sepsis, C. I. R. C. I. 2016. Human myeloid-derived suppressor cells are associated with chronic immune suppression after severe sepsis/septic shock. *Ann. Surg.* 265:827-834.

- 22. Boomer, J. S., Green, J. M., and Hotchkiss, R. S. 2014. The changing immune system in sepsis: is individualized immuno-modulatory therapy the answer? *Virulence* **5**: 45-56.
- 23. Rutz, S., Eidenschenk, C., and Ouyang, W. 2013. IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine. *Immunol. Rev.* 252: 116-132.
- 24. Guilloteau, K., Paris, I., Pedretti, N., Boniface, K., Juchaux, F., Huguier, V., Guillet, G., Bernard, F. X., Lecron, J. C., and Morel, F. 2010. Skin inflammation induced by the synergistic action of IL-17A, IL-22, Oncostatin M, IL-1 alpha, and TNF-alpha recapitulates some features of psoriasis. *J. Immunol.* **184**: 5263-5270.
- 25. Sonnenberg, G. F., Nair, M. G., Kirn, T. J., Zaph, C., Fouser, L. A., and Artis, D. 2010. Pathological versus protective functions of IL-22 in airway inflammation are regulated by IL-17A. *J. Exp. Med.* **207**: 1293-1305.
- Wynn, J. L., Wilson, C. S., Hawiger, J., Scumpia, P. O., Marshall, A. F., Liu, J. H., Zharkikh, I., Wong, H. R., Lahni, P., Benjamin, J. T., Plosa, E. J., Weitkamp, J. H., Sherwood, E. R., Moldawer, L. L., Ungaro, R., Baker, H. V., Lopez, M. C., McElroy, S. J., Colliou, N., Mohamadzadeh, M., and Moore, D. J. 2016. Targeting IL-17A attenuates neonatal sepsis mortality induced by IL-18. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113: E2627-2635.
- 27. Mikacenic, C., Harju-Baker, S., Dymterko, V., and Wurfel, M. M. 2016. Circulating levels of interleukin-17A are associated with mortality and organ dysfunction in sepsis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **193**: A2716.
- 28. Faulkner, L., Cooper, A., Fantino, C., Altmann, D. M., and Sriskandan, S. 2005. The mechanism of superantigen-mediated toxic shock: not a simple Th1 cytokine storm. *J. Immunol.* **175**: 6870-6877.
- 29. Walker, K. M., Rytelewski, M., Mazzuca, D. M., Meilleur, S. A., Mannik, L. A., Yue, D., Brintnell, W. C., Welch, I., Cairns, E., and Haeryfar, S. M. 2012. Preventing and curing citrulline-induced autoimmune arthritis in a humanized mouse model using a Th2-polarizing iNKT cell agonist. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**: 630-639.
- Haeryfar, S. M., Lan, Z., Leon-Ponte, M., Duffy, K. R., Ge, W., Liu, W., Mele, T., Garcia, B., and Wang, H. 2008. Prolongation of cardiac allograft survival by rapamycin and the invariant natural killer T cell glycolipid agonist OCH. *Transplantation* 86: 460-468.
- Anantha, R. V., Mazzuca, D. M., Xu, S. X., Porcelli, S. A., Fraser, D. D., Martin, C. M., Welch, I., Mele, T., Haeryfar, S. M., and McCormick, J. K. 2014. T helper type 2-polarized invariant natural killer T cells reduce disease severity in acute intra-abdominal sepsis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 178: 292-309.

32. Carreno, L. J., Saavedra-Avila, N. A., and Porcelli, S. A. 2016. Synthetic glycolipid activators of natural killer T cells as immunotherapeutic agents. *Clin. Transl. Immunology.* **5**: e69.

# Appendices

# Appendix A: Copyright approval

#### FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007–2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on Frontiers websites (including Loop), such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of the person or entity who or which owned it prior to submission to Frontiers. If not owned by Frontiers it is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors.

The copyright in the text of individual articles (including research articles, opinion articles, book reviews, conference proceedings and abstracts) is the property of their respective authors, subject to a general license granted to Frontiers and a Creative Commons CC-BY licence granted to all others, as specified below. The compilation of all content on this site, as well as the design and look and feel of this website are the exclusive property of Frontiers.

All contributions to Frontiers (including Loop) may be copied and re-posted or re-published in accordance with the Creative Commons licence referred to below.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without Frontiers' explicit and specific permission.

The combination of all content on Frontiers websites, and the look and feel of the Frontiers websites, is the property of Frontiers Media SA.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices.

As an author or contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Frontiers Terms and Conditions and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with such materials. The licence granted to third parties is a Creative Common Attribution ("CC BY") licence. The current version is (CC-BY, version 4.0 (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), and the licence will automatically be updated as and when updated by the Creative Commons organisation.

Note that for articles published prior to July 2012, the licence granted may be different and you should check the pdf version of any article to establish what licence was granted. If an article carries only a non-commercial licence and you wish to obtain a commercial licence, please contact Frontiers at editorial.office@frontiersin.org.

All software used on this site, and the copyright in the code constituting such software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers and its use is restricted in accordance with the Frontiers Terms and Conditions. All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Frontiers Terms and Conditions.

#### OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Mar 24, 2017

This Agreement between Peter A Szabo ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4075450093986
License date	
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Journal of Infectious Diseases
Licensed content title	Invariant Natural Killer T Cells Are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4– Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted to Reduce Morbidity
Licensed content author	Szabo, Peter A.; Rudak, Patrick T.
Licensed content date	2016-12-29
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	
Title of your work	Rapid regulatory and effector immune responses in toxic shock syndrome
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	Dec 2016
Permissions cost	0.00 CAD
Value added tax	0.00 CAD
Total	0.00 CAD
Requestor Location	Peter A Szabo
	Canada Attn: Peter A Szabo
Publisher Tax ID	GB125506730
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Peter A Szabo
	Canada
	Attn: Peter A Szabo

Total

0.00 CAD

Terms and Conditions

#### RightsLink Printable License

#### OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Sep 15, 2016

This Agreement between Peter A Szabo ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3950230582742		
License date	Sep 15, 2016		
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press		
Licensed content publication	Journal of Infectious Diseases		
Licensed content title	Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome:		
Licensed content author	Peter A. Szabo, Ankur Goswami, Arash Memarnejadian, Christian L. Mallett, Paula J. Foster, John K. McCormick, S. M. Mansour Haeryfar		
Licensed content date	06/15/2016		
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation		
Institution name			
Title of your work	Rapid regulatory and effector immune responses in toxic shock syndrome		
Publisher of your work	n/a		
Expected publication date	Dec 2016		
Permissions cost	0.00 CAD		
Value added tax	0.00 CAD		
Total	0.00 CAD		
Requestor Location	Peter A Szabo		
	Atta: Potor A Szabo		
Publisher Tay ID	GB125506730		
Billing Type			
Billing Address	Peter & Szabo		
Dining Address			
	Attn: Peter A Szabo		
Total	0.00 CAD		
Terms and Conditions			

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

#### 9/15/2016



*Editor-in-Chief* Pamela J. Fink, Ph.D. March 28, 2017

Executive Director and Executive Editor M. Michele Hogan, Ph.D.

**Publication Director** Kaylene J. Kenyon, Ph.D.

Chair, Publications Committee Bethany B. Moore, Ph.D. Peter Szabo University of Western Ontario Schulich Medicine & Dentistry Department of Microbiology and Immunology

Canada

#### Dear Dr. Szabo,

The American Association of Immunologists, Inc., grants permission to reproduce Figures 1-6 from the article, "Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrome Immunopathology," published in *The Journal of Immunology*, vol. 198, pp. 2805-2818, 2017, in your *PhD Thesis*, contingent on the following conditions:

- 1. That you give proper credit to the authors and to *The Journal of Immunology*, including in your citation the volume, date, and page numbers.
- 2. That you include the statement:

#### Copyright 2017. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.

3. That permission is granted for one-time use only for print and electronic format. Permission must be requested separately for future editions, revisions, derivative works, and promotional pieces. Reproduction of any content, other than Figures and Figure Legends, from *The Journal of Immunology* is permitted in English only.

Thank you for your interest in The Journal of Immunology.

Sincerely,

Kaylene J. Kenyon, Ph.D. Publication Director *The Journal of Immunology* 

# Appendix B: Human Ethics Approval

**Research Ethics** 

Western Research HSREB Annual Continuing Ethics Approval Notice

Date: October 03, 2016 Principal Investigator: Dr. Mansour Haeryfar Department & Institution: Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry\Microbiology & Immunology,Western University

Review Type: Expedited HSREB File Number: 5545 Study Title: Regulation of Immune Responses by Natural Killer T (NKT) and Natural Killer (NK) cells - 15439E Sponsor: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

HSREB Renewal Due Date & HSREB Expiry Date: Renewal Due -2017/10/31 Expiry Date -2017/10/30

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed the Continuing Ethics Review (CER) Form and is re-issuing approval for the above noted study.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use Guideline for Good Clinical Practice (ICH E6 R1), the Ontario Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA, 1990), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, Health Canada Medical Device Regulations and Part C, Division 5, of the Food and Drug Regulations of Health Canada.

Members of the HSREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Ethics Officer, on behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Ethics Officer: Erika Basile \_\_\_Katelyn Harris\_\_\_Nicole Kaniki\_\_\_Grace Kelly \_\_\_Vikki Tran \_\_\_ Karen Gopaul \_\_

# Appendix C: Animal Ethics Approval

2010-241::5:

AUP Number: 2010-241 AUP Title: Cell-mediated Immune Responses Yearly Renewal Date: 11/01/2015

The YEARLY RENEWAL to Animal Use Protocol (AUP) 2010-241 has been approved, and will be approved for one year following the above review date.

- 1. This AUP number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.
- 2. Animals for other projects may not be ordered under this AUP number.
- 3. Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office. Health certificates will be required.

#### **REQUIREMENTS/COMMENTS**

Please ensure that individual(s) performing procedures on live animals, as described in this protocol, are familiar with the contents of this document.

The holder of this Animal Use Protocol is responsible to ensure that all associated safety components (biosafety, radiation safety, general laboratory safety) comply with institutional safety standards and have received all necessary approvals. Please consult directly with your institutional safety officers.

Submitted by: Kinchlea, Will D on behalf of the Animal Use Subcommittee



# PETER ANTHONY SZABO

Department of Microbiology & Immunology, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, Western University, London, Ontario, Canada.

### **EDUCATION**

PhD in Microbiology & Immunology, Western University, London, Canada 2011-2017 Supervisor: S.M. Mansour Haeryfar

Thesis: Rapid Regulatory and Effector Immune Responses in Toxic Shock Syndrome

Honours B.Sc. in Life Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada 2006-2011

### PUBLICATIONS

- \* denotes co-primary authorship
- Szabo PA, Goswami A, Mazzuca DM, Kim K, O'Gorman DB, Hess DA, Welch ID, Young HA, Singh B, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Rapid and Rigorous IL-17A Production by a Distinct Subpopulation of Effector Memory T Lymphocytes Constitutes a Novel Mechanism of Toxic Shock Syndrome Immunopathology. *J Immunol* (2017). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601366
- Szabo PA, Rudak PT, Choi J, Xu SX, Schaub R, Singh B, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Invariant NKT Cells are Pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-Transgenic Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome and Can Be Targeted To Reduce Morbidity. *J Infect Dis* (2016). doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw646
- Szabo PA\*, Goswami A\*, Memarnejadian A, Mallett CL, Foster PJ, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Swift Intrahepatic Accumulation of Granulocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in a Humanized Mouse Model of Toxic Shock Syndrome. J Infect Dis (2016). doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw050
- Szabo PA\*, Anantha RV\*, Shaler CR, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. CD1d- and MR1-restricted T Cells in Sepsis. *Front Immunol* (2015). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.0040
- Xu SX, Gilmore KJ, Szabo PA, Zeppa JJ, Baroja ML, Haeryfar SMM, McCormick JK. Superantigens Subvert the Neutrophil Response To Promote Abscess Formation and Enhance *Staphylococcus aureus* Survival In Vivo. *Infect Immun* (2014). doi:10.1128/IAI.02110-14
- Woods MW, Tong JG, Tom SK, Szabo PA, Cavanagh PC, Dikeakos JD, Haeryfar SMM, Barr SD. Interferon-induced HERC5 is evolving under positive selection and inhibits HIV-1 particle production by a novel mechanism targeting Rev/RREdependent RNA nuclear export. *Retrovirology* (2014). doi:10.1186/1742-4690-11-27
- Rytelewski M\*, Meilleur CE\*, Atef Yekta M, Szabo PA, Garg N, Schell TD, Jevnikar AM, Sharif S, Singh B, Haeryfar SMM. Suppression of Immunodominant Antitumor and Antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Responses by Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase. *PLoS ONE* (2014) doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090439

8. Shaler CS, Choi J, Rudak PT, Memarnejadian A, Szabo PA, Tun-Abraham ME, Rossjohn J, Corbett AJ, McClusky J, McCormick JK, Lantz O, Hernandez-Alejandro R, Haeryfar SMM. MAIT Cells Launch a Rapid, Robust and Distinct Hyperinflammatory Response to Bacterial Superantigens and Quickly Acquire an Anergic Phenotype that Impedes Their Cognate Antimicrobial Function: Defining a Novel Mechanism of Superantigen-induced Immunopathology and Immunosuppression. *PLoS Bio –in revision* 

### SCHOLARSHIPS AND AWARDS

Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) National Student Research Poster Competition Honourable Mention (Top 10% of Poster Presenters)	June 2016
CIHR Travel Award (\$1000) to attend the National Student Research Poster Competition and Canadian Student Health Research Forum	June 2016
Invitation to CIHR National Student Research Poster Competition (Top 5% of PhD students in Canada)	June 2016
Canadian Society for Immunology (CSI) 2016 Honourable Mention, One-Minute One-Slide Presentation	April 2016
F.W. Luney Travel Award (\$1000)	April 2016
London Health Research Day First Place Feature Platform Presentation (\$700)	March 2016
Ontario Graduate Scholarship (\$15000)	May 2015
CSI 2015 Travel Award (\$500)	May 2015
American Association of Immunologists (AAI) 2015 Travel Award (\$500)	May 2015
F.W. Luney Travel Award (\$1000)	May 2015
F.W. Luney Travel Award (\$1000)	March 2014
PhD Candidacy Exam: Pass with Distinction	March 2013
Centre for Human Immunology Travel Award (\$500)	June 2012
Federation of Clinical Immunology Societies (FOCIS) 2012 Travel Award (\$500)	June 2012
F.W. Luney Travel Award (\$1000)	May 2012
Western Graduate Research Scholarship (~\$6000/year)	Sept 2011-16
McMaster University Senate Scholarship (\$800)	May 2010
McMaster University Dean's Honour List	Sept 2008-11
McMaster University Honour Award (\$500)	Sept 2006

### **ORAL PRESENTATIONS**

1. **Szabo PA**, Goswami A, Welch, I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger a rapid IL-17A response in memory T cells that is pathogenic in toxic shock syndrome. London Health Research Day. London, ON, Canada. March 2016.

-Selected as one of 32 platform podium presentations out of 424 accepted abstracts

-Awarded First Place Feature Platform Presentation Award

- Szabo PA, Goswami A, Welch, I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. IL-17A is pathogenic in toxic shock syndrome. Lawson Health Research Institute Seminar Series. London, ON, Canada. January 2016.
- Szabo PA, Goswami A, Welch, I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. IL-17A is rapidly triggered by staphylococcal superantigens and is pathogenic in toxic shock syndrome. Infection and Immunity Research Forum. London, ON, Canada. December 2015.

-Selected as one of 10 podium presentations out of 77 accepted abstracts

 Szabo PA, Goswami A, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger rapid human IL-17A production by a novel population of memory T cells. Canadian Society for Immunology. Winnipeg, MA, Canada. June 2015.

### -Selected as one of 8 presentations in the Immune Mediated Diseases workshop

 Szabo PA, Goswami A, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger rapid human IL-17A production by a novel population of memory T cells. American Association of Immunologists. New Orleans, LA, USA. May 2015.

-Selected as one of 8 presentations in the Cell Subsets, Cytokines and Inflammation block symposium.

 Szabo PA, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. *i*NKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. Canadian Society for Immunology. Quebec City, QC, Canada. March 2014. –Selected as one of 8 presentations in the Immune Mediated Diseases workshop

### **PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS**

- 1. **Szabo PA**, Goswami A, Welch, I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Rapid IL-17A production by memory T cells is critical for toxic shock syndrome pathogenesis. Canadian Student Health Research Forum: CIHR Nation Student Research Poster Competition. Winnipeg, MA, Canada. June 2016.
- Cottrell J, Szabo PA, Zebian N, Lester J, Siroen D, Haeryfar SMM, Adams P, Cruezenet C. Variability in Dendritic Cell Immunological Responses to the Secreted *Helicobacter pylori* Protein HcpE. Canadian National Medical Student Research Symposium. Winnipeg, MA, Canada. June 2016.
- 3. **Szabo PA**, Goswami A, Welch, I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Rapid IL-17A production by memory T cells is critical for toxic shock syndrome pathogenesis. Canadian Society for Immunology. Ottawa, ON, Canada. April 2016.

- Cottrell J, Szabo PA, Zebian N, Lester J, Siroen D, Haeryfar SMM., Adams P, Cruezenet C. Variability in Dendritic Cell Immunological Responses to the Secreted *Helicobacter pylori* Protein HcpE. London Health Research Day. London, ON, Canada. March 2016.
- Szabo PA, Goswami A, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger rapid human IL-17A production by a novel population of memory T cells. Canadian Society for Immunology. Winnipeg, MA, Canada. June 2015.
- Szabo PA, Goswami A, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger rapid human IL-17A production by a novel population of memory T cells. Joint Microbiology/Immunology & Infectious Disease Retreat. Grand Bend, ON, Canada. May 2015.
- Szabo PA, Goswami A, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Staphylococcal superantigens trigger rapid human IL-17A production by a novel population of memory T cells. American Association of Immunologists. New Orleans, LA, USA. May 2015.
- 8. Cottrell J, Lester J, Zebian N, **Szabo PA**, Siroen D, Haeryfar SMM, Adams P, Cruezenet C. Effect of HcpE on maturation of dendritic cells and their cytokine production. London Health Research Day. London, ON, Canada. March 2015.
- Cottrell J, Lester J, Zebian N, Szabo PA, Siroen D, Haeryfar SMM, Adams P, Cruezenet C. Effect of immuno-modulatory proteins from *Helicobacter pylori* on dendritic cells. Immunity and Infection Research Forum. London, ON, Canada. November 2014.
- Woods M, Tong J, Tom S, Szabo PA, Cavanagh P, Dikeakos J, Haeryfar SMM, Barr S. Interferon-induced HERC5 protein inhibits HIV-1 replication by two novel mechanisms and is evolving under positive selection. The 20th International AIDS Conference. Melbourne, Australia. July 2014.
- 11. **Szabo PA**, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. *i*NKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. Canadian Society of Immunology. Quebec City, QC. March 2014.
- 12. Goswami A, **Szabo PA**, Haeryfar SMM. Intrahepatic accumulation of immunosuppressive myeloid cells in response to superantigen administration. Canadian Society of Immunology. Quebec City, QC. March 2014.
- 13. **Szabo PA**, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. *i*NKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. London Health Research Day. London, ON. March 2014.
- 14. Goswami A, **Szabo PA**, Haeryfar SMM. Intrahepatic accumulation of immunosuppressive myeloid cells in response to superantigen administration. London Health Research Day. London, ON. March 2014.
- 15. Goswami A, **Szabo PA**, Haeryfar SMM. Intrahepatic accumulation of immunosuppressive myeloid cells in response to superantigen administration. Infection and Immunity Research Forum. London, ON. November 2013.

- 16. Goswami A, Szabo PA, Haeryfar SMM. A staphylococcal superantigen mediates CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup> Ly6G<sup>+/-</sup> myeloid cell accumulation in the liver. Ontario Quebec Undergraduate Immunology Conference. Toronto, ON. May 2013.
- 17. **Szabo PA**, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Exploring the role of iNKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. Infection and Immunity Research Forum. London, ON. November 2012.
- 18. Goswami A, **Szabo PA**, Haeryfar SMM. Hepatocytes bearing suppressor cell profiles accumulate following superantigen exposure. Infection and Immunity Research Forum. London, ON. November 2012.
- 19. **Szabo PA**, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Exploring the role of iNKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. Canadian Society of Immunology, St. John's, NL. June 2012.
- Szabo PA, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. Identification of iNKT17 cells in toxic shock syndrome. Federation of Clinical Immunology Society Conference Trainee Satellite Symposium, Vancouver, BC. June 2012.

### **TEACHING AND MENTORING**

- Future Professor Workshop Series (15 hours instruction), Teaching Support Centre, Western University, Jan 2017
- Guest Lecturer (1 hr), MICROIMM 3820A: Microbiology and Immunology for Nursing Students, Western University, Oct 2016.
- Teaching Mentorship Program Graduate, Teaching Support Centre, Western University, May 2016
- Advanced Teaching Program Certificate (17.5 hours instruction), Teaching Support Centre, Western University, May 2016.
- Guest Lecturer (1 hr), MICROIMM 3820A: Microbiology and Immunology for Nursing Students, Western University, Sept 2015.
- Teaching Assistant, MICROIMM 3820A: Microbiology and Immunology for Nursing Students, Western University, Sept-Dec 2015.
- Teaching Assistant, Medicine 5116 Infection & Immunity, Schulich School of Medicine, Oct-Dec 2012-2014.
- 4<sup>th</sup> Year Microbiology and Immunology Undergraduate Thesis Mentor to Ankur Goswami, Haeryfar Laboratory, Sept 2012-Apr 2013.

### **ADMINISTRATION**

Microbiology & Immunology Graduate Student Representative on the Appointments Committee, Western University, Sept 2013-2016.